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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was incorporated on 13 March 2003 in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under The Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is the holding
company of all the cement and concrete operations of the China Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way
of introduction. In 2006, the Company was privatized as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth Concept Investments
Limited (subsequently renamed as China Resources Cement Investment Group Limited and currently known as
CRH (Cement) Limited) by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the listing of the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange was withdrawn on 26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 6 October 2009 by way of a global offering.
Upon the completion of the global offering, the total number of issued shares of the Company was 6,519,255,462
shares. On 7 October 2013, the Company issued 13,682,355 shares of the Company under the scrip dividend
option in respect of the interim dividend declared and payable for 2013. Immediately after the issuance of these
shares and as at the date of this report, the total number of issued shares of the Company was 6,532,937,817
shares, of which China Resources Group is holding approximately 73.35% of the issued shares of the Company.
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FERHITES CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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HITEERAR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER
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HITEEREFEWKE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER

2B E LAU Chung Kwok Robert

EHITES NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

xR DU Wenmin

ZRNE, WEI Bin

EELE HUANG Daoguo

PR & CHEN Ying
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R IP Shu Kwan Stephen

FEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham

HRoKE XU Yongmo

TEE ZENG Xuemin
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ZENG Xuemin
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SHEK Lai Him Abraham (Chairman)
IP Shu Kwan Stephen

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

ZHOU Longshan

LAU Chung Kwok Robert

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

IP Shu Kwan Stephen (Chairman)
SHEK Lai Him Abraham

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

ZHOU Longshan

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
IP Shu Kwan Stephen (Chairman)

SHEK Lai Him Abraham

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

ZHOU Longshan
LAU Chung Kwok Robert

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

ZHOU Longshan (Chairman)
PAN Yonghong
LAU Chung Kwok Robert

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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AMREE

PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

ERABREEERME

BT 8265
%1 K [54606-08%

£ 1 (852) 3118 6800
EE 1 (852) 3118 6830
T HS : crcement@crc.com.hk

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China

Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Development Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank

DBS Bank Ltd.

Deutsche Bank AG

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Ltd.

Mizuho Bank, Ltd

Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
United Overseas Bank Limited

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited

26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

(Until 30 March 2014)
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
(From 31 March 2014)

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 4606-08, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone (852) 3118 6800
Fax : (852) 3118 6830
E-mail : crcement@crc.com.hk
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www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement/index.htm
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www.crcement.com
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STOCK CODES ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
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1313 (shares)
4569 (credit enhanced senior bonds due 2017)

COMPANY'’S OFFICIAL WEBSITE FOR
CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement/index.htm

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.crcement.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Wonderful Sky Financial Group Limited
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In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

“associated corporation”

“Board”

“China Resources Group”

“Chinese Mainland”

“CG Code”

“Company”

“CR Holdings”

“CRC”

“CRC Investments”

“Director(s)

6 FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

has the same meaning as provided in the
SFO

board of Directors

CR Holdings and its subsidiaries

PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macau
Special Administrative Region of PRC

Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules which
became effective from 1 April 2012

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, the Company’s
intermediate holding company

China Resources Co., Limited, a company
established in PRC with limited liability,
an intermediate holding company of CR
Holdings

China Resources Cement Investments
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company established in PRC with limited
liability

director(s) of the Company
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BEEERE “FAI”
FEEEE “Fujian”
BRLEAE “GDP”
AR REKB AR “Group”
PEIERSE “Guangdong”
FRERAREAR “Guangxi”
FEIEME “Guizhou”
PEGRE “Hainan”

REIEERRITTHR “Hong Kong”

PEARE 8RR

B prag s LR A

ETRBIMERTATEA L “Model Code”
METABERETESFR
S BIZAEST )

SLENORRFIIEOERAMT  “NSP”

“Inner Mongolia

“Listing Rules”

fixed asset investments

Fujian Province, China

gross domestic products

the Company and its subsidiaries
Guangdong Province, China

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
China

Guizhou Province, China
Hainan Province, China

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of PRC

the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region
of PRC

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in

Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

New Suspension Preheater technology in
the manufacture of cement
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DEFINITIONS

[ g FREARLRME “PRC” or “China” The People’s Republic of China

gl B ARAEBERZZTNF  “Scheme” the share award scheme of the Company
JLA = B IR (7 528D adopted by the Directors on 2 September
FHE WEEREN =T — 2009 and amended by the Directors as
TFE+—ATEHRBESRA a cash award scheme on 17 November
—I835 & SEEhET & 2010

AR EEE) 38 #HEZZT—=%/"A=+1+  “Scrip Dividend Scheme” the scheme of which the interim dividend
A 175 E A 899 B B A for the six months ended 30 June 2013
RERE TR MR were payable to shareholders in cash, with
AL R YEN B U AR an option to receive new and fully paid
FIBRUARBIR S 2518 Shares in lieu of cash

[BHMEEE 8 BEEPIFENEFSEE “SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter

1] B 15451 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

(PR ] g HEPRESE “Shaanxi” Shaanxi Province, China

M7 ¥ FELAE “Shanxi” Shanxi Province, China

(A% 15 ¥ ARRRAHEREE “Share(s)” share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share
0.108 TR (D capital of the Company

[ R | B PRER EMN EEk “Southern China” encompasses Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian
istEs] and Hainan

[ P g BABEXSMAABMRAR  “Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited
[/ ¥ HEEEE “Yunnan” Yunnan Province, China
7] B B BEETER “HK$” Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong
AR ¥ ARET RBUEEE®E  “RMB” Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of

8 FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China
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xn XBEEEER

Hus$n

“O/ ”
(o)

“keal”

u ”

kg

United States Dollars, the lawful currency
of the United States of America

per cent
kilocalorie
kilogram
kilometer
kilowatt-hour

cubic meter
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited is one of the leading cement
and concrete producers in Southern China and is one of the large-scale
cement producers supported by Chinese government authorities. We are
currently the largest NSP clinker and cement producer by production
capacity and the largest concrete producer by sales volume in Southern
China.

Our operations range from the excavation of limestone to the production,
sale and distribution of cement, clinker and concrete. Our products
are primarily used in the construction of infrastructure projects such as
hydroelectric power stations, dams, ports, bridges, airports and roads, as
well as suburban development and high-rise buildings. Our products are
mainly sold in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Shanxi and Yunnan
through our well-established waterway, railway and road logistics networks.

As at 31 December 2013, we had eighty five cement grinding lines and
thirty nine clinker production lines in operation, with annual production
capacity of 75.5 million tons of cement and 51.0 million tons of clinker
respectively. We also operated sixty one concrete batching plants with
annual production capacity of 36.1 million m? of concrete. The location of
our production facilities and their respective production capacities are as
follows:

X 2ot BE T
Cement Clinker Concrete

#12/%BI{THE Province/SAR EEGHE BEW 4SEZK%E BHEME BHUZEE BEUAK

No. of lines million tons No. of lines million tons  No. of plants million m?
BR Guangdong 20 189 7 94 23 14.1
=] Guangxi 35 311 17 25.0 17 10.1
Gy = Fujian 14 109 6 6.8 10 5.7
1] Hainan 5 46 3 33 4 2.4
i Shanxi 6 6.0 3 42 1 06
£FH Yunnan 5 40 3 23 1 06
AT Zhejiang - - - - 2 1.1
B Hong Kong - - - - 3 15
85T Total 85 755 39 51.0 61 36.1

10

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



SRR
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

AN BTN =R E LR B HB0%E X
m (REFARERREE \FNORNER M
(G ELEEPRHEER N — R L AL
K ~ Pkt SRR L ROARSF EEBE D Bl /RB10E HE -

370BME KRE0E L ITK) « B EAEARE KA
KRR AN B IR A FA06% ks (A A BB EE
B A RN S RRALE — NI E
IR R NG BUEE AR R BEAR - TR R BRH Y
MBEFERED B B1,7108 18 21,0808 M) < IRHEH
ZHEEERBRARERANERNBR AR
Pt ss AR RGO AR B ERL D
71731, 1508 ME7K e K2 650E WA ZAHY o

BPPERERCEHL AL BHEIBHIKE
HERC— BB EERIETENRLR
AR M HRERERE BRNAERREER
RRELHNRE - ER SRR R BRER
BAEEME RDIBRRIEAEMDE - RFIK
B M S PV AR EE R R L N B R EE PR
H A IR BE L T -

In addition, we had 50% direct equity interests in three joint ventures
which control eight cement grinding lines, two NSP clinker production
lines and one concrete batching plant operating in Guangdong, with total
annual production capacity of 8.1 million tons of cement, 3.7 million tons
of clinker and 0.5 million m® of concrete, respectively. We also owned
40.6% equity interest in Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co. Ltd. which
operated through its subsidiaries twenty six cement grinding lines and nine
NSP clinker production lines with total annual production capacity of 17.1
million tons of cement and 10.8 million tons of clinker in Inner Mongolia
and Shaanxi. The total annual cement and clinker production capacities
attributable to the Company according to equity interests in these joint
ventures and Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co. Ltd. were 11.5 million
tons of cement and 6.5 million tons of clinker respectively.

We place strong emphasis on corporate social responsibility and are one of
the few cement producers in China to have all our clinker production lines
equipped with the advanced NSP technology and residual heat recovery
generators that reused the heat generated during the clinker production
process, which enable us to reduce energy consumption, achieve higher
production efficiency, minimize pollution and improve product quality.
Our clinker production plants are strategically located near our limestone
quarries, which supply the limestone required for our clinker production.

11
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BT B ELR AR A EG LSRR TIE  Our principal cement grinding lines, clinker production lines and concrete
PEIEI A LA TN b B - batching plants are situated at the following locations:

1 2 FM K VB B BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The production plants with cement grinding lines and clinker production lines in operation

A Midu
/& Shangsi

HE Wuxuan

#B8 % Heqing

B2 Nanning
&% Guigang
F 7 Pingnan
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N Huizhou

&Il Fuchuan
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BE& Longyan

& Changzhi

X E Yongding
AR Liulin

O00H668600

b5 Tianyang

E 5 Binyang

B )11 Luchuan

&I Changjiang

[%%& Yangchun

BEA A Longyan Yanshi

00600

& Zhangping

60
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The production plants with cement grinding lines and clinker production lines under construction

&Y Jinsha o % IE Anshun

B&)T Lianjiang

@ 478 Hepu

BT EKIER AR

The cement grinding lines in operation

F 4L Wuzhishan
LB Shantou

[ 3478 Fangchenggang E
B 52 Dongguan B

38571 Lianjiang

B ST Zhanjiang
H £ M Quanzhou

B ERE T B

The concrete batching plants in operation

444

BENRAREERTNREFELTREANEESNEESN

The production plants with clinker production lines in operation owned by associates and joint ventures

A 55w
7&K Qingshuihe A TR Haileer
P 4838 Aronggi

&M Guangzhou

A A F Qipanjing
A 7F 52 /A Yakeshi
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DATE

2 January 2013

25 February 2013

EVENT

Entered into an agreement with six
independent third parties for acquiring
100% equity interests in Hainan
Wuzhishan Dajiangnan Cement Limited at
the total consideration of RMB54.9 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$69.2
million). Hainan Wuzhishan Dajiangnan
Cement Limited operates a cement
grinding line with annual production
capacity of 600,000 tons in Maoyang
Town, Wuzhishan City, Hainan

Entered into a framework agreement
with an independent party, Zhihai Group
Company Limited, for the proposed
establishment of a joint venture company.
The Company will hold the majority
interests in the joint venture company. The
joint venture company intends to acquire
certain concrete and cement assets/
businesses located in Southern China and
Shanxi that are currently owned by Zhihai
Group Company Limited. The Company
and Zhihai Group Company Limited will
gradually negotiate for determining the
consideration of the assets/businesses and
the proportion of the equity interests each
party holds in the joint venture company
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DATE

30 September 2013

EVENT

Entered into a capital contribution
agreement with Fujian Energy Group
Company Limited to establish a strategic
cooperative platform to jointly develop
and expand the cement and concrete
business in Fujian. Fujian Energy Group
Company Limited indirectly owns the
entire interest of Fujian Building Material
(Holdings) Company Limited which holds
various assets and business entities
in Fujian. Fujian Building Material
(Holdings) Company Limited will undergo
a restructuring such that its sole asset
will be the 28.78% equity interest in
Fujian Cement Joint Stock Company
Limited, which is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. CRC Investments shall
contribute capital to Fujian Building
Material (Holdings) Company Limited in
the form of equity shares of 9 companies
operating concrete business in Fujian and
cash such that Fujian Building Material
(Holdings) Company Limited will be
owned as to 51% and 49% by Fujian
Energy Group Company Limited and CRC
Investments respectively. The amount of
cash to be contributed shall be determined
with reference to the valuation reports
on the 28.78% equity interest in Fujian
Cement Joint Stock Company Limited
and the 9 concrete companies. On the
same day, CRC Investments also entered
into a framework agreement with Fujian
Energy Group Company Limited, for the
proposed establishment of a joint venture
company to develop a cement grinding
plant in Huian County, Quanzhou City,
Fujian with annual production capacity
of 4 million tons. The total investment of
the joint venture company is expected
to reach RMB600 million (approximately
HK$756 million). CRC Investments and
Fujian Energy Group Company Limited will
each own 50% interest of the joint venture
company

AR 2013 Annual Report 1 5
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SINCE 2013

H HA =4 DATE EVENT
—E—=F AL ERAMA—IEE 29 October 2013 Commencement of operation of a
+HAZ+hHBE  EASO0ME (£ E & A1408 4500 tons per day (annual production
WR) BORTBVRD B A E AR capacity of 1.4 million tons) NSP clinker
MG B4R (B FERE production line and two cement grinding
49200818 ) 5 2= lines (total annual production capacity

of approximately 2.0 million tons) in
Changzhi City, Shanxi

]_ 6 KV A FRA ¥ China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
—E—= —E—_—HF —F—
2013 2012 2011
BEE(BEETT) Turnover (HK$ million) 29,340.6 25,3453 23,240.0
AatFBBRIEFTER EBITDA (HK$ million)

BHEAT (BEBT) 6,698.1 52355 6,633.7
FEEN(BEET) Profit for the year (HK$ million) 3,278.7 2,345.2 43446
RARER AEGEF Profit attributable to owners of

(B&ET) the Company (HK$ million) 3,3384 2,324.4 4,179.0
FREREFN (BT Basic earnings per share (HK$) 0.512 0.357 0.641

R=B-=% R-T-—_-F RT——F

+=A=+—-B +=-A=+t—-H +=-A=t+—8H

As at As at As at

31/12/2013 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

BELZE (BE8T) Total assets (HK$ million) 54,179.7 52,159.1 50,579.7
RRRHEE AEIGER Equity attributable to owners of

(B&#T) the Company (HK$ million) 24,820.9 21,375.7 19,2987
FEERER (BEET) Non-controlling interests (HK$ million) 540.9 582.5 602.5
ERER (BEET) (1) Net borrowings (HK$ million) (nofe 1) 17,618.1 18,6419 17,625.5
BEE (5#2) Gearing ratio (note 2) 82.4% 103.9% 110.8%
FEEX(#3) Net gearing ratio (note 3) 71.0% 87.2% 91.3%
SgREEFE-KRE (BT) Net assets per share — book (HK$)

(#4) (note 4) 3.80 3.28 2.96

it notes:

1. BRFEENERRERIRS MR TEBIA LD G 1. Net borrowings equal to total indebtedness less cash and bank balances and
RITIFR pledged bank deposits.

2. BERNAEERERUADNEHE AEGRET 2 Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total indebtedness by equity attributable to
Ho owners of the Company.

3. FEERTDAERFER AR RS AEGESRT 3. Net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net borrowings by equity attributable to
He owners of the Company.

4. SREEFE-FREUAARRRRE AREERSEBRA 4 Net assets per share — book is calculated by dividing equity attributable to owners of

FRODBITRNHBEAE -

the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of the year.

AR 2013 Annual Report 1 7
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We will continue to perform market consolidation in
our operating regions, promote energy conservation
and emission reduction, develop circular economy,
and contribute to sustainable and healthy
development of the cement industry in China. 99
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FINAL RESULTS

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2013
amounted to HK$29,340.6 million, representing an increase of 15.8%
over that of the last year. The consolidated profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 amounted to
HK$3,338.4 million, representing an increase of 43.6% from that of the
last year. Basic earnings per share for the year was HK$0.512.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.07 per
Share for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: HK$0.07 per Share).
Subject to approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
27 May 2014 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 15 May 2014. Such final dividend will not
be subject to any withholding tax in Hong Kong.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.035 per Share in cash
with scrip option for 2013 (2012: Nil) and the total distribution for the year
ended 31 December 2013 will be HK$0.105 per Share (2012: HK$0.07
per Share).

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In 2013, China maintained stable economic growth. Export demand from
overseas market was weak in the first half of 2013, with negative growth in
China’s total value of imports and exports in June, causing a slowdown in
economic growth. In the second half of the year, the Chinese government
implemented prudent monetary policies and proactive fiscal policies to
stimulate domestic consumption. According to the National Bureau of
Statistics, China’s GDP reached RMB56.9 ftrillion in 2013 with a growth
rate of 7.7%, achieving the government’s target set in the beginning of the
year. FAl remained the key driver of economic growth. During the year,
FAI, consumption and net export contributed to the GDP growth by 4.2,
3.9 and -0.3 percentage points respectively.

In 2013, China’s FAI increased by 19.3%, amounting to RMB44.7 trillion,
and the investment in infrastructure (excluding production and supply
of electricity, heat, gas and water) was RMB7.2 trillion, representing an
increase of 21.2%. As of 31 December 2013, M2 money supply reached
RMB110.7 trillion, representing an increase of 13.6% compared to
2012. The Consumer Price Index rose by 2.6%, which was lower than
the government’s control target of 3.5%. That helped to alleviate the
government’s pressure on an interest rate hike.

According to the data released by the relevant provincial Bureau of
Statistics, in 2013, the GDP of Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan,
Shanxi and Yunnan, the areas at which we operate, were RMB6.2 trillion,
RMB1.4 trillion, RMB2.2 trillion, RMBO.3 trillion, RMB1.3 trillion and
RMB1.2 trillion, representing increases of 8.5%, 10.2%, 11.0%, 9.9%,
8.9% and 12.1% respectively. The FAl in Guangdong, Fujian, Hainan
and Shanxi reached RMB2.3 trillion, RMB1.6 trillion, RMBO.3 trillion and
RMBI1.1 ftrillion, representing increases of 18.3%, 22.2%, 27.0% and
22.1% respectively. The FAI (excluding rural households) in Guangxi and
Yunnan were RMB1.1 trillion and RMB1.0 trillion, representing increases
of 21.8% and 27.4% respectively.

In 2013, China’s FAI in railways reached RMB663.8 billion, with a growth
rate of 5.2%. During the year, a total of 5,586 km of new railway lines has
been put into operations (including 1,672 km of high-speed railways).
As of the end of 2013, the operating length of national railway lines has
exceeded 100,000 km, of which more than 10,000 km were high-speed
railways.
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In March 2013, the Ministry of Railways of China underwent a reform and
after which, the China Railway Corporation has been responsible for the
operation and management, as well as the investment and construction
planning, of the national railways; while the Ministry of Transport of China
has taken over the development planning, policy making, technical
standard establishment, as well as supervision and administration of the
national railway network. In addition, as announced by the State Council
of China in the “Opinion on Reforming the Railway Investment and
Financing System to Accelerate and Promote Railway Construction” in
August, it was proposed that ownership and operational rights of certain
railways shall be liberalized. The Opinion emphasized the introduction
of capital in various ways, so as to relieve the funding need of railway
constructions and maintain the healthy and stable development of the
railway industry, bringing in sustainable and continual demand for cement.

According to the “Twelfth Five-Year” plan, the operating length of national
railways in China will reach 120,000 km by the end of 2015. In 2014,
China’s targeted FAI in railways will amount to RMB630 billion. Forty four
new construction projects will commence and over 6,600 km of new
railway lines is expected to be in operation this year.

According to the statistics of the Ministry of Transport of China, the FAI
in highways and waterways rose by 5.6%, reaching RMB1.5 trillion in
2013. During the year, there has been an increase in the total length of
respectively 8,260 km and 339 km of highways newly built and rebuilt in
China. According to “National Highway Network Planning (2013-2030)”,
it is targeted that urban cities with population of more than 200,000 will
be connected by national highways. The operating length of national
highways is targeted to be 118,000 km, with a possible extension of
18,000 km, making a total planned length of national highway network of
136,000 km. The investment in the construction of highway and waterway
infrastructure will contribute to the sustainable demand for cement.

In 2013, China continued to implement control policies on real estate,
including the introduction of house purchase restriction, property
developer pricing restriction, differential housing credit policies and real
estate tax policies as well as other measures to control property prices
from excessive increase. However, investment in the real estate continued
to grow steadily under the rigid market demand. According to the data of
the National Bureau of Statistics, China’s real estate investment reached
RMB8.6 trillion in 2013, representing an increase of 19.8%; the total area
of commodity housing sold was 1,310 million square meters, representing
an increase of 17.3% and as compared to the same period last year,
an increase in growth rate of 15.5 percentage points; the total area of
land purchases in real estate industry was 390 million square meters,

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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representing an increase of 8.8% and an increase in growth rate of 28.3
percentage points; the total area of newly commenced real estate projects
was 2,010 million square meters, representing an increase of 13.5%;
the total area of completed real estate projects was 1,010 million square
meters, representing an increase of 2.0%. The increase in property prices
continues to slow down. In December 2013, prices of new residential
housing in 70 major cities increased by 9.9% over last year, and since
September 2012, the monthly increase has been narrowed to 0.4%.

In 2013, the construction of 6.7 million units of urban social housing has
been commenced and 5.4 million units have been completed, which
exceeded the annual target with a total investment of RMBI1.1 ftrillion.
According to the “Government Work Report” delivered in the second
session of the Twelfth National People’s Congress of PRC, it is targeted that
the construction of over 7 million units of social housing shall commence
and 4.8 million units shall be completed in 2014. We expect the real
estate industry will continue to grow healthily and steadily, and provide
strong support for sustainability in cement consumption.

According to the data released by the National Audit Office of China,
as of the end of June 2013, direct debt (including contingent liabilities)
carried by the Chinese governments at various levels stood at around
RMB30.3 trillion, among which, local government debt accounted for
RMB17.9 trillion. At the same time, the National Audit Office proposed
four suggestions: 1) to establish a standard mechanism for government
financing; 2) to make the level of government liability an important basis
for officials’ appraisals; 3) to further specify the relationship between
the government and the market and promote the reform of investment,
financing and taxation systems; 4) to set up credit risk alert system and
contingency plan to properly handle existing debt and strictly control the
increase of new debts. These measures can strengthen the management
and risk control on government debts, preserve capital channels for social
development, and continue to facilitate the long term demand for cement.
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Urbanization will become the key driver for China’s medium to long term
growth, which supports the sustainable development of cement industry.
According to the data released by the National Bureau of Statistics,
China’s urbanization rate of 2013 was 53.7%, representing an increase
of 1.1 percentage points over 2012. The Central Urbanization Work
Conference held in December 2013 proposed the urbanization of tier-
2 and tier-3 cities which will provide strong support for the medium to
long term growth of China. The urbanization rate of China is expected
to rise with an annual growth rate of 1%. By 2030, the urbanization rate
will rise to 70% with tremendous room for higher growth in the future.
The urbanization process will create sustainable cement demand from
rural development, urban infrastructure construction and real estate
development.

THE INDUSTRY

In 2013, demand for cement in China continued to grow. According to the
National Bureau of Statistics, the total cement production increased by
9.6%, reaching 2,410 million tons. Among them, the cement production
of Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Shanxi and Yunnan were 133.9
million tons, 107.1 million tons, 78.9 million tons, 19.9 million tons, 49.8
million tons and 90.1 million tons, representing increases of 17.1%, 9.5%,
9.2%, 19.5%, 1.4% and 13.6% respectively.

In 2013, China maintained strict control on capacity expansion, and
continued the task of eliminating obsolete capacity, both of which played
an important role in the improvement of demand and supply dynamics
of the cement industry. According to Digital Cement, in 2013, there were
81 new clinker production lines, which increased clinker production
capacity by approximately 100.0 million tons in China and represented
a decrease of 36.2%, compared to last year. Among them, there were
6 production lines which commenced operation in Southern China,
increasing clinker production capacity by 7.6 million tons and representing
a decrease of 64.9%; 9 production lines which commenced operation in
Shanxi, increasing clinker production capacity by 10.9 million tons and
representing an increase of 19.9%; 3 production lines which commenced
operation in Yunnan, increasing clinker production capacity by 2.8
million tons and representing a decrease of 73.1%. In 2013, the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology of China issued three lists of
companies with obsolete capacities, and explicitly required the production
plants with 94.2 million tons of obsolete capacities in total set out in the
lists to be demolished by the end of year (including 15.0 million tons in
Guangdong, 4.5 million tons in Guangxi, 7.6 million tons in Fujian, 3.5
million tons in Shanxi and 1.0 million tons in Yunnan).

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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To further promote the policy of suppressing overcapacity of the cement
industry, the National Development and Reform Commission and the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology jointly published the
“Notice on curbing the blind expansion of serious overcapacity industries”
(No. 892) in May 2013, which stated that the overcapacity issue and new
capacity control of certain industries, including the cement industry, will
be the emphasis of work plan for the year so as to strictly control the new
production capacities for those industries. In addition, the State Council
of China announced the “Guidance on resolving the conflict concerning
severe overcapacity” in October 2013, which proposed measures
including further elimination of a total of 100 million tons of cement
capacity (clinker and cement grinding capacity) by the end of 2015,
promotion of industry consolidation and restructuring, removal of grade
32.5 composite cement, and the development of top grade cement and
special cement. The Ministry of Environmental Protection of China and the
General Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine
of China jointly published a new “Air pollutant emission standard on
cement industry” in December 2013, which announced tighter emission
limits on nitrogen oxides (NOx) and particulate matter (PM). In January
2014, the National Development and Reform Commission published
the “Notice on improving and regulating the approval of investment
projects and strengthening supervision of collaborative agreements”,
to preserve the project approval rights on industries with overcapacity
issue, including the cement industry, and suppress capacity expansion.
Under the encouragement and promotion of the Chinese government,
industry consolidation and restructuring will be accelerated. Energy
conservation, emission reduction and sustainable growth will be the major
tasks for future development. Meanwhile, the effective implementation
of elimination of obsolete capacity and stringent approval of capacity
expansion will continue to improve the supply and demand dynamics,
which is conducive to healthy long-term development for the industry.
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With its continuing efforts in environmental
protection and sustainable development,
China Resources Cement (Fengkai) Limited
was honoured with the Hong Kong Green
Awards 2013 (Service Provider) Silver
Award by the Green Council of Hong Kong.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to the protection of environment and sustainable
development of the cement industry, striving to minimize the waste
produced during the cement manufacturing process, as well as assisting
in the treatment of residential and industrial wastes in the city. The Group
is in a leading position in China’'s cement industry in various aspects
including energy saving, emission reduction and circular economy. In
addition, we will gradually complete the technological upgrade of our
clinker production lines for denitrogenation and dust collection system, as
a contribution to energy saving and environmental protection in China.

During the course of our promotion for green development, we always
value our interaction with international cement peers on energy saving,
emission reduction and social responsibility. In May 2013, we hosted a
meeting in Guigang, Guangxi for the Safety Work Group of China, which
is under the Cement Sustainability Initiative, for experience sharing. In
July and November 2013, the Group participated in the CEO conference
held by the Cement Sustainability Initiative in Heidelberg of Germany and
Istanbul of Turkey, where we discussed with other cement companies
worldwide regarding the future development of the organization and to
pursue the sustainable development of the cement industry.

FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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INTEGRITY ENHANCEMENT

The Group always recognizes the importance of integrity and honesty. In
2013, to strengthen the integrity risk prevention in business operation, we
implemented the “China Resources Cement Business Integrity Guidance”
with the Operation Department of the Group as the pilot department.
We sorted out critical process, risk points and developed prevention and
control measures, and integrated the integrity risk control and business
process. These prevention measures are to strengthen the supervision
and management of integrity within the Group. At the same time, the
Group implemented the “Sunshine Declaration”, which requires strict
self-discipline of personnel responsible for raw materials procurement,
equipment bidding, sales and marketing and logistics management so
that our suppliers and business partners shall not develop business
relationship with the Group through improper means. We continue to strive
for integrity enhancement and have established favorable organizational
atmosphere within the Group.

STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

In 2013, the Group adopted a “full-scaled production and sale” marketing
strategy which has lifted our utilization rate, expanded our market share
and further strengthened the leading position in the region. In the
Fujian market, we entered into a capital injection agreement with Fujian
Energy Group Company Limited, with a view to further consolidating
and expanding our cement business in the region through equity
investment. In addition to the China Resources Hezhou Circular Economy
Demonstration Zone, the Group has entered Guizhou in 2013 to develop
a circular economy project in cooperation with the coal and thermal power
businesses of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited. It is
expected that the Group’s clinker and cement production lines in this
region will commence operation in the third quarter this year.
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As at 31 December 2013, the annual production capacities of cement,
clinker and concrete in operation held by our subsidiaries amounted
to 75.5 million tons, 51.0 million tons and 36.1 million m3 respectively.
Provided that we do not have any further acquisition, we expect our
annual production capacities for cement, clinker and concrete held by
subsidiaries will amount to 79.5 million tons, 53.8 million tons and 43.9
million m3 respectively by the end of 2014; 86.5 million tons, 60.2 million
tons and 51.1 million m? respectively by the end of 2015; 94.5 million
tons, 67.8 million tons and 58.3 million m? respectively by the end of
2016.

In addition, as at 31 December 2013, the joint ventures that operate in
Guangzhou and the associated companies that operate in Inner Mongolia,
in which we have equity interests, had total annual cement and clinker
production capacities of 25.2 million tons and 14.5 million tons, of which
the annual cement and clinker production capacities attributable to the
Group in proportion to our equity interests amounted to 11.5 million tons
and 6.5 million tons respectively.

In November 2013, the Third Plenary Session of the 18th Central
Committee of the Communist Party of China proposed a comprehensive
reform in economic, political, cultural and social aspects, as well as
other areas. The reform includes the improvement of an open economic
system and a modernized market system, restructuring of government
organization, taxation system, urban and rural development mechanism.
In December 2013, the Central Economic Work Conference also pointed
out that the government will insist on its keynote policy as “Progress
while maintaining stability, reform with innovation”, which is to maintain a
reasonable growth for China's GDP by promoting industrial restructuring,
resolving overcapacity issue and controlling credit risk.

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In 2014, the Chinese government will continue its reforms to improve
the quality and efficiency of economic growth, support healthy, stable
and sustainable economic development and improve the supply and
demand dynamics of the cement industry. Moreover, the government
will proactively promote energy conservation and production standard to
improve the environment for the development of the cement industry. In
the future, we will continue to adhere to the “3+2” development strategy,
through control, conversion and distribution of resources, making us the
lowest total cost producer with leading market position in the region. We
will continue to perform market consolidation in our operating regions,
promote energy conservation and emission reduction, develop circular
economy, and contribute to sustainable and healthy development of the
cement industry in China.

APPRECIATION

| would like to thank the Directors, the management team and all
employees for their sustained diligence and dedication to the Group which
contributed to the significant improvement of the Group’s business. On
behalf of the Board, | would also like to express our heartfelt thanks to our
business partners and stakeholders for their continuing trust and support
to the Group.

ZHOU Longshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2014
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During the year, we continued to adopt the “full-
scaled production and sale” strategy, achieving
higher utilization rates of our production
capacities and lower costs of production.99
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ACQUISITION

On 2 January 2013, the Company approved the acquisition from six
independent third parties of 100% equity interests in Hainan Wuzhishan
Dajiangnan Cement Limited at the total consideration of RMB54.9 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$69.2 million). Hainan Wuzhishan
Dajiangnan Cement Limited operates a cement grinding line with annual
production capacity of 600,000 tons in Maoyang Town, Wuzhishan City,
Hainan. The acquisition was completed on 29 September 2013.

NEW PROJECTS WITH THIRD PARTY

On 25 February 2013, the Company entered into a framework agreement
with an independent party, Zhihai Group Company Limited, for the
proposed establishment of a joint venture company. The Company
will hold the majority interests in the joint venture company. The joint
venture company intends to acquire certain concrete and cement assets/
businesses located in Southern China and Shanxi that are currently owned
by Zhihai Group Company Limited. The Company and Zhihai Group
Company Limited will gradually negotiate for determining the consideration
of the assets/businesses and the proportion of the equity interests each
party holds in the joint venture company. As at the date of this report, the
final agreement on the proposed joint venture company has not yet been
reached.

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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On 30 September 2013, CRC Investments entered into a capital
contribution agreement with Fujian Energy Group Company Limited to
establish a strategic cooperative platform to jointly develop and expand the
cement and concrete business in Fujian. Fujian Energy Group Company
Limited indirectly owns the entire interest of Fujian Building Material
(Holdings) Company Limited which holds various assets and business
entities in Fujian. Fujian Building Material (Holdings) Company Limited will
undergo a restructuring such that its sole asset will be the 28.78% equity
interest in Fujian Cement Joint Stock Company Limited, which is listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange. CRC Investments shall contribute capital
to Fujian Building Material (Holdings) Company Limited in the form of
equity shares of 9 companies operating concrete business in Fujian and
cash such that Fujian Building Material (Holdings) Company Limited will
be owned as to 51% and 49% by Fujian Energy Group Company Limited
and CRC Investments respectively. The amount of cash to be contributed
shall be determined with reference to the valuation reports on the 28.78%
equity interest in Fujian Cement Joint Stock Company Limited and the 9
concrete companies. As at the date of this report, the valuation reports
have not yet been completed and the amount of cash for the purpose of
the capital contribution is yet to be determined. On the same day, CRC
Investments has also entered into a framework agreement with Fujian
Energy Group Company Limited, for the establishment of a joint venture
company to develop a cement grinding plant in Huian County, Quanzhou
City, Fujian with annual production capacity of 4 million tons. The total
investment of the joint venture company is expected to reach RMB600
million (approximately HK$756 million). CRC Investments and Fujian
Energy Group Company Limited will each own 50% interest of the joint
venture company. Details of the joint venture have not yet been agreed by
both parties.
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NEW PRODUCTION PLANTS AND CESSATION
OF OPERATION

During the year, the Group completed the construction of a 4500 tons per
day clinker production line and two cement grinding lines at Changzhi,
Shanxi, which increased the Group’s total annual clinker and cement
production capacities by 1.4 million tons and 2.0 million tons respectively;
and five concrete batching plants, which increased our total annual
concrete production capacity by 2.9 million m3. As the two 1200 tons
per day clinker production lines in Shanxi will unlikely be able to comply
with the new environmental emission standards economically, the Group
decided to cease operation of these two clinker production lines and the
related annual cement production capacity of 1.0 million tons during the
year.

CAPACITY UTILIZATION

We continued to adopt the “full-scaled production and sale” strategy,
achieving higher utilization rates of our production capacities and lower
costs of production. The utilization rates of our cement, clinker and
concrete production lines for 2013 were 94.0%, 118.9% and 43.2%
respectively as compared with 83.9%, 110.9% and 41.8% for 2012.
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In October 2013, China Resources
Cement (Changzhi) Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, commenced
operation in Changzhi City, Shanxi. The
commencement of the new production
lines enables the Group to further
enhance its strategic layout in Shanxi.

FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



REPORT FROM CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

RIBEE
—T = AREFIEEHRS EBNRE

KBS BRURHIRBR AN AR EE - R FI5E
B LRERE  BARIERHE K OREME
EMRETS RS SPERNEFERE-

ZE-=F AEEMNERBEEE R08
Wi tb = — —FHI870B ML £4.6% - H e 47
57%~17% ~ 18% K8% 5 Bk B R EldL 7 « AR &
EAEEMFERME  WEREMER (ZT—=
1 47%16% 33% 4% )

AEEMRBIRRBRE 26 E D RHEE
ISR BRI E IR - IRTHAR AR SR TP RRAB AT RE ©

MREL

- F AEBEENRIGE  UE Pk
ZLTMREBRFRE EERRBHRN RGN
RESNER -BMRIYRERERETHIE -
RE— IR EREGE TR AEEREA
EERKR=AMRERIPIREEFTLRRAEE
2 PRI IREE R RIEEE -

BHE_ZT—=F1+"_A=1t—0B r£E&BHA
1 P TRIE E SHTE A B SiE ) REoENE - I8
B EE2, 500N : LY NEERFEA0% M
HWEEEEMERREEARIEEMESM 10
BUEE ) - FiERAL FEA0E8 M < & R IR M
TRE RENENRE  MRFAPETE BRI
REWES LS M—T—=F+—_F=1+—81"
AEECHABETERE (T2R/ERK=AHH
&) - F B3R Ak 71 3E3,0008 A - 2 FRAMI1E [7KiE
| YIER B E AR

PROCUREMENT MANAGEMENT

In 2013, the Group has adopted a short-cycle and multi-channel sourcing
strategy to control procurement costs and risk management effectively.
We have continued improving our procurement channels, enlarging
tender pools and centralizing procurement, transportation and inventory
management for coal and other materials.

The total volume of coal procured in 2013 was 9.1 million tons,
representing an increase of 4.6% compared to 8.7 million tons in 2012,
of which, approximately 57%, 17%, 18% and 8% were sourced from
northern China, neighbouring areas of our plants, Vietnam and other
countries respectively (2012: 47%, 16%, 33% and 4%).

The Group will further expand procurement channels, stabilize the supply
of imported coal, strengthen the management of suppliers and enhance
the function of the headquarters on centralization of procurement.

LOGISTICS MANAGEMENT

In 2013, the Group continued the use of multiple logistic channels,
including waterway freight, road freight and transshipment, to ensure
supply and achieve the aim of lowest system cost in the region. We have
established a logistics information database and assessment system. In
order to enhance distribution by road freight, the Group has introduced
global positioning system in July 2013 for scheduling management in the
Pearl River Delta region of Guangdong to improve logistical efficiency and
service quality.

As of 31 December 2013, through tendering, the Group has secured
650,000 tons of shipping capacity at the Xijiang River region, reaching
annual shipping capacity of 25 million tons. In addition, Guangxi Rungui
Water Transportation Limited, of which 49% of the equity interest is
held by the Group, currently owns 80 vessels with shipping capacity of
100,000 tons and annual shipping capacity of 4.5 million tons. These
provide us with long-term and stable shipping capacity, enhancing our
cost control over transportation along Xijiang River. In addition, as of
31 December 2013, the Company has been operating a total of 43 silo
terminals (mainly in the Pearl River Delta region of Guangdong) with an
annual capacity of 30.0 million tons, enchancing our competitiveness in
terms of logistics and transportation through the “waterway freight and
transshipment” model.
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ENERGY SAVING AND EMISSION REDUCTION

The Group is committed to energy conservation, emission reduction
and environmental protection. In order to comply with the new emission
standards for nitrogen oxides and duct emission reduction for the cement
industry in China as introduced by the Chinese government, the Group
has accelerated the process of technological upgrades on denitrogenation
of production lines. As of 31 December 2013, such upgrades have been
completed for 37 clinker production lines. Upgrades of the remaining 2
production lines will be completed in the first half of 2014 as scheduled.
The Group has also completed technological upgrades on dust collection
systems for 5 clinker production lines, while upgrades for 8 other
production lines are in progress.

SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

In 2013, the Group has been promoting production safety standardization.
Until now, 14 cement production plants have been awarded the title of
First-Class Enterprise in Production Safety Standardization by the State
Administration of Work Safety in China. In addition, with its continuing
efforts in environmental protection and sustainable development, China
Resources Cement (Fengkai) Limited has stood out in the areas of energy
conservation, water conservation, waste reduction, air pollution control,
carbon emission control, green procurement and promotion and training
in environmental protection, and was honoured with the Hong Kong Green
Awards 2013 (Service Provider) Silver Award by the Green Council of
Hong Kong.

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2013
amounted to HK$29,340.6 million, representing an increase of 15.8%
over HK$25,345.3 million for the last year. An analysis of segmental
turnover by product is as follows:
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29,340,619 25,345,328

In 2013, our external sale volume of cement, clinker and concrete
increased by 11.2 million tons, decreased by 1.0 million tons and
increased by 1.8 million m3, representing increase of 20.1%, decrease
of 11.0% and increase of 13.4% respectively over 2012. During the
year, approximately 67.0% of the cement products we sold were 42.5 or
higher grades (67.3% in 2012) and approximately 45.2% were sold in
bags (44.6% in 2012). Internal sales volume of cement for our concrete
production was 3.3 million tons (2.7 million tons in 2012), representing
4.7% of the total volume of cement sold (4.7% in 2012). The intra-
group transaction amount of HK$1,021.3 million was eliminated from the
consolidated turnover (HK$878.3 million in 2012).
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Our cement sales by geographical area in 2013 were as follows:

T
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2013 2012
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Sales Average Sales Average
volume  selling price Turnover volume  selling price Turnover
-1 Province '000 tons HK$ HK$'000 '000 tons HK$ HK$'000
ER Guangdong 23238 3442 7998564 17,956 3472 6,234,654
-3 Guangxi 23,507 3073 7223116 20,724 3079 6,381,876
== Fujian 9,436 3094 2919213 7,343 309.1 2,269,738
it Hainan 4014 3452 1,385,493 3971 3525 1,399,913
HipE Shanxi 3,803 266.9 1,015,181 3,162 2926 925,172
e Yunnan 3,145 3275 1,030,100 2,745 3332 914,647
@t Total 67,143 213 21,571,667 55,901 3243 18,126,000
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Segmental turnover by product in 2013
BEBIT HKS$ million

The average selling prices of cement, clinker and concrete in 2013 were
HK$321.3 per ton, HK$247.7 per ton and HK$384.3 per m? respectively,
representing decreases of 0.9% and 3.7% and an increase of 3.6%
respectively over 2012. As expected, selling prices of cement products
dropped as the Chinese new year holiday began. However, since April,
economic activities have become more active resulting in strong demand
for cement products. As the cement market in Southern China entered
into the traditional peak season from September, the robust demand
drove up cement selling prices. The average selling price of concrete in
2013 was relatively stable until the fourth quarter when it increased by
approximately 7.6%.
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Cement sales volume by geographical area in 2013
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Major production costs

The average price of coal we purchased in 2013 was around HK$691 per
ton, representing a decrease of 13.1% from the average price of HK$795
per ton in 2012, while the average thermal value of coal increased by
4.3% to 5,138 kcal per kg. During the year, our unit coal consumption
decreased from the average of 161.0 kg per ton of clinker produced in
2012 to 152.8 kg, representing a decrease of 5.1%. Our standard coal
consumption improved from 109.3 kg per ton of clinker in 2012 to 107.8
kg for the year. As the result of the lower coal price and improved coal
consumption, our average coal cost of production decreased by 17.6%
from HK$128.1 per ton of clinker produced in 2012 to HK$105.6 for the
year. Coal cost represented approximately 38.2% of the cost of sales of
cement for the year (43.2% in 2012) and approximately 31.9% of the
Group’s total cost of sales for the year (37.0% in 2012).

Our average electricity cost decreased by 4.2% from HK$42.9 per
ton of cement in 2012 to HK$41.1 for the year due to the reduced
electricity consumption and higher utilization of the residual heat recovery
generators. We managed to improve our electricity consumption to 77.6
kwh per ton of cement for the year (84.1 kwh in 2012), representing
a cost saving of approximately HK$328.3 million (HK$116.9 million in
2012). Our residual heat recovery generators generated 1,767.2 million
kwh of electricity in the year, representing an increase of 16.5% over
1,517.3 million kwh in 2012. The electricity generated in 2013 accounted
for approximately 29.5% of our required electricity consumption (27.9%
in 2012) and we achieved a cost saving of approximately HK$1,124.4
million for the year (HK$945.0 million in 2012). Electricity cost
represented approximately 18.3% of the cost of sales of cement for the
year (17.6% in 2012) and approximately 15.3% of the Group’s total cost
of sales for the year (15.0% in 2012).

—E-CROEB-ZHFKREERNHERLLEE
Cost structure of cement product in 2012 and 2013
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Gross profit and gross margin

The consolidated gross profit for 2013 was HK$8,359.8 million,
representing an increase of 37.1% from HK$6,099.5 million for 2012 and
the consolidated gross margin was 28.5%, representing an increase of
4.4 percentage points from 24.1% for 2012. The increase in consolidated
gross profit for 2013 was mainly attributable to the increase in sales
volume and improved gross margins due to production cost reduction.
The gross margins of cement, clinker and concrete for 2013 were
31.0%, 13.7% and 23.9%, as compared with 25.0%, 11.5% and 26.2%
respectively for 2012.

Other income

Other income for 2013 was HK$811.9 million, representing an increase
of 96.3% from HK$413.6 million for 2012. Due to the appreciation of
RMB against other currencies, the Group generated an exchange gain
of HK$416.3 million from the net borrowings denominated in non-RMB
currencies in 2013. An exchange loss was derived in 2012 when RMB
depreciated against other currencies and such loss was charged to
general and administrative expenses. During the year, the Group received
government incentive of HK$210.3 million as compared with HK$236.5
million for the last year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2013 were HK$1,633.2 million,
which was 33.5% more than HK$1,223.1 million for 2012. As a
percentage to consolidated turnover, selling and distribution expenses
increased from 4.8% in 2012 to 5.6% in 2013. The increase was due to
higher transportation costs because of increased volume of cement and
clinker being delivered from Guangxi to Guangdong and higher logistic
costs of the concrete operation as the Group relied more on the lease
instead of purchase of concrete mixer trucks.
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General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2013 were HK$2,727.5 million,
representing an increase of 50.9% over HK$1,807.8 million for 2012.
As a percentage to consolidated turnover, general and administrative
expenses increased to 9.3% for 2013 from 7.1% for 2012. During the
year, the Group decided to shut down operations of two inefficient 1200
tons per day clinker production lines and together with certain projects
that were given up, the total impairment loss on fixed assets of HK$353.3
million was charged to general and administrative expenses. The increase
in general and administrative expenses was also due to our expanded
operations, and increase in staff costs and other costs. In 2013, general
staff costs increased by HK$312.8 million as a result of a general average
pay rise of 7.5% and extra bonus payments as incentive to employees for
the outstanding performance of the Group in 2013.

Share of results of associates

The share of results of associates attributable to the Group for the year
amounted to HK$98.4 million (HK$136.6 million in 2012). The associates
operated mainly in Inner Mongolia where competition was more intense,
resulting in lower selling prices and operating margins.

Share of results of joint ventures

The share of results of joint ventures attributable to the Group for 2013
amounted to HK$99.6 million, representing an increase of 21.8% from
HK$81.8 million for 2012. The joint ventures incurred additional major
repair costs of approximately HK$25.4 million during the year. Apart
from this, their performance was in line with the Group’s operation in the
vicinity.

Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for 2013 was 24.0%, representing an
increase of 5.6 percentage points from 18.4% of 2012. Excluding the
results of joint ventures and associates, the effective tax rate of the Group
for 2013 would be 25.2%, representing an increase of 5.3% from 19.9%
of 2012. This was because tax holidays previously enjoyed by certain
subsidiaries ceased in the year of 2013 and the Group has accounted
income tax at the rate of 25% on the profit generated by subsidiaries
operating in the Chinese Mainland.
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Net margin

Net margin of the Group for 2013 was 11.2%, which was 1.9 percentage
points higher than that of 9.3% for 2012. After full allocation of other
income and corporate expenses but excluding share of results of
associates and joint ventures, net profit per ton of cement products and
per m? of concrete were about HK$37.9 (HK$28.4 in 2012) and HK$7.8
(HK$16.0 in 2012) respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:

R+=—BA=+—H
—E—=F —E——F
3F I
As at 31 December
2013 2012
'000 ‘000
BT HK$ 417,600 754,530
AR RMB 1,864,378 2,204,326
ETT Us$ 4,645 12,092

R-ZE—=F+_A=+—H A£EENETE
FXFBE £120,000,0003 7T + 11,300,000,000/% 7T
T2 AR #515,169,000,0007T + £ A7300,000,000/8 7T
T A R #10,915,000,0007T & 4 Eh A3 37 475 7] 4 12
Ao T AN £ E 898577 B F 485 517,341,200,000
BLEESE(WN=E—=—F+=A=1+—8:
17,777,200000/8 7T ) * BIEZ A T EEFHENE
e

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s banking facilities amounted to
US$120.0 million, HK$11,300.0 million and RMB15,169.0 million, of
which HK$300.0 million and RMB10,915.0 million were unutilized and
remained available for drawdown and the total bank loans of the Group
amounting to HK$17,341.2 million equivalent (HK$17,777.2 million as at
31 December 2012) comprised loans in the following currencies:

R+=A=+—8
=== —EF——4F
5 ¥
As at 31 December
2013 2012
'000 ‘000
BIT HK$ 11,000,000 9,820,000
AR RMB 4,254,000 5,507,500
e Us$ 120,000 150,000
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These bank loans were unsecured as at 31 December 2013 (total amount
of HK$339.1 million equivalent of the bank loans denominated in RMB
was secured by non-current fixed assets of the Group and the remaining
balances of HK$17,438.1 million was unsecured as at 31 December
2012).

As at 31 December 2013, bank loans which carried interests at fixed and
variable rates amounted to HK$2,416.6 million and HK$14,924.6 million
respectively (HK$986.6 million and HK$16,790.6 million respectively as at
31 December 2012).

During 2013, the Group obtained certain loans from CR Holdings, CRC
and their respective subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2013, all these loans
have been fully repaid (HK$1,330.9 million outstanding which comprised
loans in the following currency as at 31 December 2012):

B -
R+=BA=+—8
—E-—=fF —T——F
+ +
As at 31 December
2013 2012
'000 ‘000
BT HK$ - 80,000
AR RMB - 1,014,200
MEFAEER HIRITMEMNETERER  The above loans were unsecured, interest bearing at prevailing market
hﬂ% A HARE S B A RfEE - rates and repayable within six months from the date of drawdown.
RIZE——F+ARE AREEETR T~ On 5 October 2012, the Company issued 2.125% credit enhanced

F 1 A | Hi#) £ 5 /3400,000,000F 7T #)2.125% 15
FIERESLES REBRE R —REEME %
FHEHFAEEREZEEFNAS IAEX MR
A 2RIRITAR AR LA TR B ERER
B SRR R FEBEHFN AR E B RDARER R

senior bonds in the amount of US$400.0 million due October 2017 for
refinancing and general corporate purposes. The bonds are unsecured
and payments of principal and interest in respect of the bonds are
supported by an irrevocable standby letter of credit issued by DBS Bank
Ltd.. The bonds remain in good credit standing at the date of this report.
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Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking facility of
HK$14,739.2 million equivalent which will expire from February 2014
to October 2016, CR Holdings is required to hold not less than 51% of
the voting share capital in the Company. Under the terms of 2.125%
credit enhanced senior bonds, CR Holdings is required to hold not less
than 35% of the issued share capital in the Company. Under the terms
of certain agreements for total banking facility of HK$14,439.2 million
equivalent, the net gearing ratio of the Company (as may be adjusted
to exclude certain non-tangible assets) shall not exceed 180%. The net
gearing ratio of the Company as at 31 December 2013, calculated by
dividing net borrowings by equity attributable to owners of the Company,
was 71.0% (87.2% as at 31 December 2012).

The Group's business transactions were mainly carried out in HK$ and
RMB. The Group's exposure to currency risk was attributable to the bank
balances and bank loans which were denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the entity to which these bank balances
and bank loans were related. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure. However,
the management monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant currency exposure should the need
arise. As at 31 December 2013, the Group was not engaged in any
hedging contract (US$100.0 million for the purpose of the settlement of a
US$ bank loan as at 31 December 2012).

The Group has net current liabilities of HK$4,300.1 million as at 31
December 2013. Taking into account of the cash and bank balances, the
unutilized banking facilities, the expected future internally generated funds
and the new banking facilities to be obtained, the Company is confident
that the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations when they fall
due in the foreseeable future. The Company will obtain more bank loan
facilities with longer maturity dates in order to strengthen the liquidity
position.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2013, these was no pledge of assets by the Group
(certain assets of the Group with an aggregate carrying value of HK$311.7
million were pledged with banks for banking facilities used by its
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2012).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has issued guarantees to banks
in respect of banking facilities in the amount of RMB715.7 million and
HK$50.0 million granted to an associate and a joint venture respectively, of
which RMB545.6 million and HK$29.3 million had been utilized.

FUTURE PLAN AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

New construction projects

During the year, the Company approved and commenced the following
construction:

(1) a clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.6 million
tons and two cement grinding lines with total annual capacity
of 2.0 million tons in Jinsha County, Guizhou with total cost of
construction amounting to approximately RMB1,051.8 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,337.8 million);

2) a clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.2 million tons
and two cement grinding lines with total annual capacity of 2.0
million tons in Midu County, Yunnan with total cost of construction
amounting to approximately RMB871.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,107.8 million);

(3) a clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.6 million tons
and two cement grinding lines with total annual capacity of 2.0
million tons in Hepu County, Guangxi with total cost of construction
amounting to approximately RMB1,031.1 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,311.5 million);
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4) a clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.9 million tons
and three cement griding lines with total annual capacity of 3.0
million tons in Lianjiang County, Guangdong with total cost of
construction amounting to approximately RMB1,336.1 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,699.4 million; and

(5) thirteen concrete batching plants with total annual capacity
of 7.8 million m3, with the cost of construction amounting to
approximately HK$542.3 million.

Modification to construction plan

As previously reported, China Resources Cement (Xinzhou) Limited, our
non-wholly owned subsidiary, was looking for other limestone reserves
for the purpose of construction of a 4500 tons per day NSP clinker
production line and two cement grinding lines with total annual production
capacity of 2.0 million tons in Xinzhou City, Shanxi. A piece of limestone
reserve has been located recently and the Company will resume the
construction of these intended production lines once the quarry can be
confirmed and the revised construction plan is approved by the relevant
government authorities.

We have previously reported in our Annual Report 2011 that we would
commence the construction of a clinker production line with annual
capacity of 1.6 million tons and two cement grinding lines with total
annual capacity of 2.0 million tons in Fangshan County, Luliang City,
Shanxi. In June 2012, the local government issued a notice requesting
all construction work be temporarily suspended on the grounds that
the construction site has been included in the new town planning zone.
Therefore, our production lines may have to be relocated to another piece
of land. We are in negotiation with the local government regarding the
possible relocation and will report to shareholders when appropriate.
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BEARXH

Capital expenditure

RIZ—=F+-A=+—H KEBEEEED Asat 31 December 2013, the Group has outstanding capital expenditure
B M AR S RHE AR A10,956,200,0008 7T » A for projects under construction in the amount of HK$10,956.2 million of
#95,535,400,000/8 SLTEHA A —Z — U4 L H > which approximately HK$5,535.4 million are expected to be expended in

sSHEE BT

2014. Details of these projects are as below:

R-E--F +=A

EHEEN +=A=t+-H REEE EESE]
BRY A BENFE BARE EAYH
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEBTL

Outstanding
capital
Total capital Expended Expended expenditure
expenditure as at during as at
EH Projects for the project 31/12/2012 the year 31/12/2013
HK$ million HKS million HK$ million HK$ million
ERHKER Completed projects

ERURNERHAGNEER
(KERAHEBERD R
/36,000,000 }%6,200,0000# )

BRUnERE)|FNEER
(KRR BERD R
/1,900,000 }%1,600,0000# )

ERURNER LRGN EER
(KRR EBERD R
/1,900,000 }%1,600,0000# )

BRUNERASSENEER
(KRR BEED R
/41,900,000 1,600,000 )

BRURNERRESNEER
(KERAHEBERD R
/%1,900,0001 %1,600,0000)

Construction of production lines in Fengkai
County, Guangdong, with a total capacity of
6.0 million tons of cement and 6.2 million
tons of clinker 6,761.1 6,146.8 4004 2139

Construction of production lines in Fuchuan
County, Guangxi, with a total capacity of 1.9
million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 1,206.0 1,137.7 649 34

Construction of production lines in Shangsi
County, Guangxi, with a total capacity of 1.9
million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 1,579.7 1,400.5 1416 376

Construction of production lines in Tianyang
County, Guangxi, with a total capacity of 1.9
million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 1,116.1 9383 1418 36.0

Construction of production lines in Wuxuan
County, Guangxi, with a total capacity of 1.9
million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 1,069.6 8739 984 973
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R=B-=F
R=B-ZF +=ZA=t-H
EBEEN +=A=1-H REEE EESE0]
BRYHAE EA%E EFHE EAYH
BEBTL BEBTL BEAT BEST
Outstanding
capital
Total capital Expended Expended expenditure
expenditure as at during as at
| Projects for the project 31/12/2012 the year 31/12/2013
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
HERUAERIETHEESR  Construction of production lines in Shantou
(KRR 82 51,800,000 City, Guangdong, with a total capacity of
W) 1.8 million tons of cement 2634 2511 123 -
HEMAERE)EMEESR  Construction of production lines in Luchuan
KERZR B BEES R County, Guangxi, with a total capacity of 1.9
/1,900,00088 % 1,600,00088 ) million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 11625 9934 923 768
EHERUABEATHNOLER  Construction of production lines in Yongding
(KERARBBERD County, Fujian, with a total capacity of 1.9
/1,900,00088 % 1,600,00088 ) million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 1,407.8 1,1855 44.0 1783
HERUNBREESGHEESR  Construction of production fines in Yangchun
(KERARBBERD County, Guangdong, with a total capacity of
/1,000,008 800,000 ) 1.0 million tons of cement and 800,000 tons
of clinker 3581 320.7 133 24.1
ERUNEREETALES  Construction of production lines in Longyan
OKERZR B BEES T City, Fujian, with a total capacity of 1.9
/21,900,0001% % 1,600,001 ) million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 14878 10959 1173 274.6
EHEUANLFEPRENEER  Construction of production lines in Liulin
(KERABRBEED County, Shanxi, with a total capacity of 4.0
4,000,0001 £22,700,0001 ) million tons of cement and 2.7 million tons of
clinker 2,689.7 24748 1421 728
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R=B-=F
R=B-=F +=ZA=1-H
BHEAMN +-A=t-H REFE R
EXY AR BHE EFHE BEAYH
BEBTL BEBT BEST BEBT
Outstanding
capital
Total capital Expended Expended expenditure
expenditure as at during as at
EE Projects for the project 31/12/2012 the year 31/12/2013
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HKS million
HRUNERFEHNE-FE  Construction of the second set of production
EES OKERARNBE lines in Shangsi County, Guangxi, with a total
7 742,000,000 capacity of 2.0 million tons of cement and
1,600,000 ) 1.6 million tons of clinker 6983 593.7 382 66.4
ERNUARATHEESR  Construction of production lines in Changzhi
KERZH B BEES R City, Shani, with a total capacity of 2.0
/£52,000,0008 2 1,400,0001 ) million tons of cement and 1.4 million tons of
clinker 15577 841.7 3283 387.7
BRI RATAAEESR  Acquisition of production lines in Changzhi City,
OKERZH B BEES R Shanxi, with a total capacity of 600,000 tons
/6000000 %372,0008 ) of cement and 372,000 tons of clinker 1775 1116 61.2 47
EEUANEREEMEAEN  Construction of production lines in Yanshi
EES OKRRARRBESE  Town, Longyan City, Fujian, with a total
4 5l 52,000,000 & capacity of 2.0 million tons of cement and
1,400,000 ) 1.4 million tons of clinker 13390 9279 1389 272.2
WA LT ILEMAEESR  Acquisition of production lines in Fangshan
KERARRBEE D County, Shanxi, with a total capactty of
700,000 %372,0000 ) 700,000 tons of cement and 372,000 tons
of clinker 2326 1976 350 -
HERUNBRETENEESR  Construction of production lines in Luoding
OKERZR B BEES T County, Guangdong, with a total capacity of
/2,000,0000 £ 1,400,000 ) 2.0 million tons of cement and 1.4 million
tons of clinker 12459 853.6 204.2 1881
IhE Subtotal 243528 20.344.7 20742 19339
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R=B-=F
R=B-ZF +=A=+-H
BHMEAMN +-A=t-H REFE e R R A
BEAY KB [RERER: ERNRE Bx% i
BEBT BEBTL BEAT BEBT
Outstanding
capital
Total capital Expended Expended expenditure
expenditure as at during as at
HH Projects for the project 31/12/2012 the year 31/12/2013
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
EEER Projects under construction
HRURERIFEMEESR  Construction of production lines in Fengkai
(FURH#048 82 43,100,000 County, Guangdong, with a total capacity of
) 3.1 million tons of clinker 2,948.6 6145 192.2 2,1419
ERNEMNZIETMEES  Construction of production lines in Anshun
OKERZB O BEES R City, Guizhou, with a total capacity of 2.0
/£2,000,0008 K% 1,400,0008 ) million tons of cement and 1.4 million tons of
clinker 14437 - 26.5 14172
ERAREMNEDENEESR  Construction of production fines in Jinsha
(KRRAMBBEE D County, Guizhou, with a total capacity of 2.0
/52,000,000 K 1,600,0008 ) million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 13378 - 693.6 644.2
SERUNEEHESOEESR  Construction of production lines in Midu
(KERAREOBER DB County, Yunnan, with a total capacity of 2.0
/52,000,000 % 1,200,0000% ) million tons of cement and 1.2 million tons of
clinker 1,107.8 - 1949 9129
HRURBEAAEEMEESR  Construction of production lines in Hepu
OKERZR B BEES T County, Guangxi, with a total capacity of 2.0
/2,000,0001 £21,600,0001 ) million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 13115 - 1346 11769
B NERELENEES  Construction of production lines in Lianjiang
(KERARBBERD County, Guangdong, with a total capacity of
/23,000,00088 % 1,900,000K8 ) 3.0 million tons of cement and 1.9 million
tons of clinker 16994 - 94.3 1605.1
HERI3W AT B Construction of 13 concrete batching plants
(REIMEES with a total capacity of 7.8 million m?® of
£7,800,00037 5 ) concrete 5423 366 474 4583
R EE REE Technological upgrade projects and other
HinBEl & purchases of fixed assets 665.8 - - 665.8
NGt Subtotal 11,056.9 651.1 13835 9,022.3
st Total 35409.7 20998 3457.7 10,956.2

46

FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



REPORT FROM CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

B LB RSN NEER T =F+ - A=1—
ENZS PN R DR S U ]
REE BRI RAGE AR TE R R NEREE
HE S BT

=
—BEH

R-E—=F+_FA=+—8 KEEFHLEH
380%2WES (R=ZE—=—F+=-A=1—
H:23296%) - HHP173% (R=E—=F+=A
=+—H:186%)EEBTIE 5237165 (B
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Apart from the foregoing, the Group had no other significant planned
capital expenditure or commitment as at 31 December 2013. The above
planned and intended capital expenditures and commitments will be
financed by bank loans and internally generated funds.

EMPLOYEES

General Information

As at 31 December 2013, our Group employed a total of 23,889 full time
employees (23,296 as at 31 December 2012) of whom 173 (186 as at
31 December 2012) were based in Hong Kong and the remaining 23,716
(23,110 as at 31 December 2012) were based in the Chinese Mainland. A
breakdown of our employees by function is set out as follows:

R=ZT-—= RZZE—_%F

+t=H=t+-R +=A=t+-8

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2013 2012

EIB G Management 358 315
7% SR AT IR Finance and administration 3,045 2,951
HEE Nl Production and technical 17,682 17,348
oa & 12 Quality control 2,125 2,051
SHE MTIGHE Sales and marketing 679 631
BET Total 23,889 23,296
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Among our 358 senior and middle managerial staff, 90% are male (90%
as at 31 December 2012) and 10% are female (10% as at 31 December
2012), 66% possess university degrees (64% as at 31 December 2012),
27% have received post-secondary education (29% as at 31 December
2012) and their average age is about 44 (42 as at 31 December 2012).
We offer our employees remuneration packages mainly on the basis
of individual performance and experience and also having regard to
industrial practice, which include basic wages, production allowance,
performance related bonuses and other staff benefits. The Company has
established a long term award scheme whereby eligible employees of the
Group may be granted cash benefits calculated and paid according to
Shares acquired by the trustee under the Scheme. Details of the Scheme
are stated in the section on Long Term Award Scheme in the Report of the
Directors.

Personnel Training

In 2013, the Group have strengthened personnel training of middle
management and enforced the TWI (Training Within Industry) program
for supervisors of production plants in order to improve their leadership
skills, promote lean management and standardize production process.
We also value the promotion of “5C” management concepts (Capital
Structure, Cash Generation, Cash Management, Capital Raising and
Capital Allocation) in the training of our finance personnel, so as to
improve their professional skills and to establish a solid foundation for
corporate development in future. During the year, we have organized 28
classes of professional training on various aspects including safety and
environmental protection, quality management, equipment management,
procurement, logistic management and marketing. There were 16
members of the management sharing their views on corporate culture and
future development of the cement industry with the employees. A total of
916 employees and 100 instructors (of whom 61 were managers in key
positions) benefited in the training and the level of the Group’s professional
skills has been enhanced through the process of teaching and learning.

FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Care for Employees

The Group always emphasizes the care for employees. Every year, the
Group coordinates voluntary donations by employees and the Group
will donate the same amount to the “CR Cement Thanks Giving Fund”
to care for and help the employees in need. During the year, a total of
RMB1.2 million has been donated to the fund by our employees and the
Group, and 20 employees received assistance in a total amount of over
RMB500,000 from the fund. In addition, we have actively strengthened
the communication between the Group and the employees by organizing
regular meeting days with the General Managers of cement production
plants for opinion sharing and listening to employees’ requests. During
the year, approximately 2,500 employees met with the General Managers
in 165 meeting days. In 2013, the Group’s management and the
employee representatives of production plants organized 13 seminars with
approximately 200 employees participated. Relevant action plans were
made after the seminars and regular follow-up actions have been taken to
monitor the results.

PAN Yonghong
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 7 March 2014
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Mr. ZHOU Longshan, aged 53, has been an executive Director since
March 2003, was the Chief Executive Officer of our Company from August
2008 to October 2011 and has been appointed the Chairman of the
Board since October 2011. Mr. ZHOU obtained a bachelor's degree in
economics from the Jilin Finance and Trade Institute, China in 1983. He
joined China Resources Group in 1984 and has 30 years’ experience in
international trade and corporate management. He is the Vice Chairman
of the China Building Materials Federation, the Vice Chairman of the China
Cement Association, the Vice President of the 7th Session Council of the
China Concrete and Cement Products Association and the President of
China Cement Net Council.

Mr. PAN Yonghong, aged 44, has been appointed an executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since October 2011.
Mr. PAN joined our Group in August 2003 and had been the Company's
Regional General Manager of Fujian, Guangxi and Guangdong during the
period from February 2008 to March 2012. Mr. PAN obtained a master's
degree in economics from the Jinan University, China in 1998. He has
20 years’ experience in financial and corporate management. He is the
Chairman of the 6th Session Council of the Guangdong Province Cement
Industry Association and the Vice President of the 3rd Session Council of
the Guangdong Building Materials Industry Association.

Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, aged 57, joined our Company in May
2003 as the Chief Financial Officer and has been an executive Director
since April 2008. Mr. LAU obtained a bachelor's degree in social
sciences from the University of Hong Kong in 1979 and has over 30
years' experience in reorganization, assurance and advisory services with
international accounting firms and in serving as financial controllers and
chief financial officers of listed companies. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada (formerly the “Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants”).

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Mr. DU Wenmin, aged 50, was appointed a non-executive Director in
August 2008. He joined China Resources Group in 1985 and is currently
the Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer of CR Holdings
and the General Manager of its Human Resources Department. He has
been a non-executive director of four listed companies on the main board
of the Stock Exchange, namely, China Resources Enterprise, Limited,
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources
Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited since September
2007, July 2010, August 2007 and March 2008, respectively. He is also
a non-executive director of China Resources Microelectronics Limited,
which was a listed company on the main board of the Stock Exchange
and the listing of its shares was withdrawn from 2 November 2011, since
March 2008. He is also a director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical
& Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange) and China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. DU obtained
a master's degree in business administration from the University of San
Francisco, USA in 1993.

Mr. WEI Bin, aged 44, was appointed a non-executive Director in
August 2008. He joined China Resources Group in 2001 and is the
Chief Accountant, Chief Financial Officer of CR Holdings and the General
Manager of its Finance Department. He has been a non-executive director
of four listed companies on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
namely, China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited, China Resources Land Limited and China
Resources Gas Group Limited since November 2010, July 2010, October
2010 and November 2008 respectively. He is also a non-executive
director of China Resources Microelectronics Limited, which was a listed
company on the main board of the Stock Exchange and the listing of its
shares was withdrawn from 2 November 2011, since August 2010. He
is also a director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. and Shan Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd. which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He holds a bachelor's degree in auditing from
Zhongnan University of Economics in China and a master's degree in
finance from Jinan University in China. He is a Senior Accountant and a
Senior Auditor in PRC. He is also a non-practicing member of The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. HUANG Daoguo, aged 59, was appointed a non-executive Director
in May 2012. He joined China Resources Group in 2011 and is currently
the Chief Audit Officer of CR Holdings and the Audit Director of its
Internal Audit Department. He has been a non-executive director of China
Resources Enterprise, Limited (a listed company on the main board of
the Stock Exchange) since May 2012 and has been a non-executive
director of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China
Resources Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited (all
three companies are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange)
since June 2012. Mr. HUANG graduated from the Renmin University
of China in 1987 and specialized in finance. He obtained a master’s
degree of regional economics from the Central China Normal University,
China in 1996. He is a Certified Public Accountant and a Senior Auditor
in PRC. Mr. HUANG joined the National Audit Office of PRC (“CNAQ”)
in 2000 and was the Commissioner of the Wuhan Resident Office and
Guangzhou Resident Office of CNAO, and the Director of the Department
of Agriculture, Resources and Environmental Protection Audit of CNAO.

Mr. CHEN Ying, aged 43, was appointed a non-executive Director in
May 2012. He joined China Resources Group in 1993 and is currently
the Chief Strategy Officer of CR Holdings and the General Manager of
its Strategy Management Department. He has been a non-executive
director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited (a listed company on
the main board of the Stock Exchange) since May 2012 and has been
a non-executive director of China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited, China Resources Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group
Limited (all three companies are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange) since June 2012. He is also a director of China Resources
Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., China Vanke Co., Ltd. (both
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and China Resources Double-
Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange). Mr. CHEN obtained a bachelor's degree of architectural
management from the Tsinghua University, China, in 1993 and a master’s
degree of business administration from the University of Oxford, the
United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr. CHEN was also the director and President
of China Resources Land (Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to October
2011 and a director of China Resources Land Limited from March 2003 to
February 2006, both are fellow subsidiaries of the Company and the latter
is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, aged 62, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. Mr. IP graduated from the
University of Hong Kong with a degree in social sciences in 1973. Mr. IP
joined the Hong Kong Government in November 1973 and was promoted
to the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He worked in the Hong
Kong Government as a Principal Official from July 1997 to June 2007.
Senior positions held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner of
Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of Secretary
for Economic Development and Labour in July 2002. His portfolio in
respect of economic development covered air and sea transport, logistics
development, tourism, energy, postal services, meteorological services,
competition and consumer protection. He was also responsible for
labor policies including matters relating to employment services, labour
relations and employees rights. In his capacity as Secretary for Economic
Development and Labour, Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport
Authority Board, the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the
Hong Kong International Theme Parks Company Board as well as the
Chairman of the Logistics Development Council, Port Development Board,
Maritime Industry Council and Aviation Development Advisory Committee.
Mr. IP retired from the Hong Kong Government in July 2007. Mr. IP
received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from the Hong Kong Government
in 2001, and is an unofficial Justice of the Peace. Mr. IP has been
appointed an independent non-executive director of four publicly listed
companies, namely Synergis Holdings Limited since September 2008, Lai
Sun Development Company Limited since December 2009, Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited since May 2011 and Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited since October 2011, all are companies listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. IP was also an independent
non-executive director of Viva China Holdings Limited from June 2010 to
March 2013, a company listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange;
an independent non-executive director of Goldpoly New Energy Holdings
Limited from October 2010 to March 2013, a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange; an independent non-executive director
of PICC Property and Casualty Company Limited from January 2011 to
October 2011, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
and an non-executive director of Milan Station Holdings Limited from April
2011 to March 2013, a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. IP was also a director of Yangtze China Investment Limited
from February 2008 to December 2012, which was listed in the UK and
the listing of its shares was withdrawn from 31 December 2012.
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Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, aged 68, has been an independent non-
executive Director since January 2011. Mr. SHEK was appointed as a
Justice of the Peace in 1995, awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star in 2007
and awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star in 2013. Mr. SHEK is a member of
the Legislative Council for Hong Kong representing the real estate and
construction functional constituency since 2000.

Mr. SHEK acts as an independent non-executive director of several
companies which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
including Midas International Holdings Limited since August 2001,
Paliburg Holdings Limited since July 2002, Lifestyle International
Holdings Limited since March 2004, Chuang’s Consortium International
Limited since May 2004, NWS Holdings Limited since September 2004,
Regal Portfolio Management Limited (the manager of Regal Real Estate
Investment Trust) since February 2006, Eagle Asset Management (CP)
Limited (the manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust) since
March 2006, ITC Corporation Limited since June 2006, Country Garden
Holdings Company Limited since December 2006, Hop Hing Group
Holdings Limited since September 2007, MTR Corporation Limited since
December 2007, SJM Holdings Limited since October 2007, Hsin Chong
Construction Group Ltd. since January 2008, Chuang’s China Investments
Limited since April 2008, Dorsett Hospitality International Limited since
September 2010, ITC Properties Group Limited since September 2010,
Lai Fung Holdings Limited since December 2012 and Cosmopolitan
International Holdings Limited since December 2013. Mr. SHEK was also
an independent non-executive director of Titan Petrochemicals Group
Limited from February 2006 to February 2014, a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. SHEK is also a committee member
of the 5th Shenzhen Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of PRC, a director of the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited, a member of the Committee on Strategic Development of the
Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong Kong, the Vice-Chairman
of the Independent Police Complaints Council in Hong Kong, a Court
member of the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and
Court and Council Member of the University of Hong Kong. Mr. SHEK
graduated from the University of Sydney, Australia with a Bachelor of Arts
Degree and a Diploma in Education.
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Mr. XU Yongmo, aged 57, has been an independent non-executive
Director since July 2010. Mr. XU has been appointed an independent
director of BBMG Corporation, a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, since August 2008, an independent director of Huaxin
Cement Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, from
April 2009 to April 2012 and has been the Chairman of Huaxin Cement
Co., Ltd. since April 2012. He was also an independent non-executive
director of Sinoma Science & Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from December 2004 to July 2011. Mr.
XU is currently the Vice President of China Building Materials Federation,
the President of China Concrete and Cement Products Association, the
President of China Construction Units Association, the Vice President of
China Cement Association, and the President of The Chinese Ceramic
Society. Mr. XU graduated from London South Bank University in
1997 with a doctoral degree in philosophy majoring in civil engineering
materials.

Madam ZENG Xuemin, aged 69, has been an independent non-executive
Director since August 2008. Madam ZENG has been appointed an
independent director of two publicly listed companies, namely, Dalian
East New Energy Development Co., Ltd., a company listed on the GEM
board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since November 2009, and
Xinjiang Tianshan Cement Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, since December 2011. She is also an independent non-
executive director of Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co., Ltd., which is an
associated company of the Company. Madam ZENG is a senior engineer
at professor level accredited by the State Economic and Trade Commission
and a registered consulting engineer (investment) accredited by the
National Development and Reform Commission. She studied at the Beijing
Architecture and Industrial Institute from 1963 to 1968 and started her
career and served at Benxi Gongyuan Cement Factory as a technician and
director of the laboratory between 1969 and 1983. From 1984 to March
2001, she worked at the Production Division and the Planning Division
of the State Building Materials Bureau and served as the deputy director
and the director of the various departments and divisions. She has been
serving as the Vice President of the China Cement Association from April
2001 to date. Madam ZENG is specialized in managing matters in respect
of the development and planning for, and the scientific advancement,
policies and laws and regulations, construction investment in connection
with as well as setting up the relevant standards and quotas applicable
to, the building materials industry. She took the lead in formulating the
relevant building materials industry development plans for the Seventh
Five-Year Plan, Eighth Five-Year Plan, Ninth Five-Year Plan and Tenth
Five-Year Plan and in setting up a wide spectrum of construction
standards and quotas for the building materials industry, including the
Standards of Design for a Cement Factory. In the area of engineering and
construction management, she was awarded with a number of the Grade
1 and Grade 2 prizes at the provincial level.
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Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, aged 45, has been an independent
non-executive Director since August 2008. He is the sole proprietor of
Nelson and Company, Certified Public Accountants which has been
in operation since February 2005. He has extensive experience in
professional accountancy in Hong Kong, in particular in advising and
speaking on issues relating to International and Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards in Hong Kong and other Asian cities. He obtained a
bachelor’s degree in business administration from the Hong Kong Baptist
University in 1992, a master degree of business administration from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1998 and a master
of science degree in finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in
2001. Mr. LAM was appointed the non-official non-executive director of
the Urban Renewal Authority of Hong Kong in May 2013, a member of
the Financial Reporting Review Panel of Hong Kong in July 2013 and a
member of the Air Transport Licensing Authority of Hong Kong in August
2013. Mr. LAM is a practicing fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of several professional
bodies in Australia, the USA and the United Kingdom, including CPA
Australia, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. He is also a
CFA charter holder and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. Mr. LAM became a Council Member of the Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors in December 2006 and was its President from
December 2011 to December 2013. In December 2011, Mr. LAM has
also been elected as member of the Council of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountant. Mr. LAM has also been appointed an
independent non-executive director of Hydoo International Holding
Limited since March 2013, a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHANG Liang, aged 51, has been appointed the Chief Marketing
Officer of the Company since January 2014. He joined China Resources
Group in 1994 and was responsible for the overall marketing and
promotional activities. He was the Deputy General Manager and a
Regional General Manager of China Resources Snow Breweries Limited
from February 2002 to December 2012. Mr. ZHANG joined the Company
in January 2013 and was the Deputy General Manager and the Marketing
Controller. Mr. ZHANG obtained a bachelor's degree in Engineering from
the Dalian Institute of Light Industry (now Dalian Polytechnic University),
China in 1984. He has over 25 years of experience in corporate
management and marketing.

Madam WEI Chunlan, aged 40, has been appointed the Chief Human
Resources Officer of the Company since January 2014. She joined
the Company in August 2004 and was the General Manager of the
Finance Department, the Regional General Manager (Hainan) and the
Procurement Controller and served other positions of the Company.
Madam WEI obtained a master's degree in Economics from the Jinan
University, China in 2005. She is an Accountant and also a non-practicing
member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants with over
15 years of experience in financial management.

Mr. JI Youhong, aged 49, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Guangxi) of the Company since April 2012. He joined the Group
in October 2003 and was the Marketing Controller from November 2008
to December 2012. Mr. JI graduated from the Nanjing Industrial College
(now Southeast University), China in 1988 with a master's degree in
Inorganic and Non-metallic Materials. He has over 25 years of experience
in construction material engineering and marketing.

Mr. LIU Jianwei, aged 51, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Guangdong) of the Company since January 2014. He joined
China Resources Group in 2002 and was responsible for its human
resources management. He was the Deputy General Manager and the
Human Resources Controller of the Company from April 2012 to January
2014. Mr. LIU obtained a master's degree in Management Science and
Engineering from the China University of Mining and Technology in 1998.
He has over 25 years of experience in corporate management and human
resources.
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Mr. TANG Jun, aged 59, has been appointed as the Chief Administrative
Officer since January 2014 and is responsible for the daily administrative
work of the Company. He joined the Company in November 2007 and
was the Controller of the CEQ'’s Office from February 2008 to December
2013. Mr. TANG obtained a bachelor's degree in Chinese Language and
Literature from the Sichuan University, China in 1982. Mr. TANG was
formerly employed at the Ministry of Commerce, China, where he served
as a director.

Mr. WANG Junxiang, aged 46, has been appointed the General Manager
of Redland Concrete Limited, the wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
since January 2014. He joined the Company in July 2003 and had served
various managerial positions within the Company including the Financial
Controller and the Regional General Manager (Guangdong). Mr. WANG
obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration from the University
of South Australia in 2004 and has over 18 years of experience in financial
management, raw materials procurement and business operation.

Mr. ZHANG Yingzhong, aged 47, has been appointed the Chief Safety
and Environmental Protection Officer of the Company since January
2014 and is responsible for the safety management, energy saving
and environmental protection of the Company. He joined the Group in
September 2007 and was the Chief Operations Controller of the Group
from February 2010 to January 2014. Mr. ZHANG completed a certificate
course in Ceramic Technology at the Wuhan University of Technology,
China in 1993. He has over 25 years of experience in the cement industry.

Mr. LIU Guixin, aged 49, has been appointed the Chief Operating Officer
of the Company since January 2014 and is responsible for overseeing the
operations of the Company. He joined the Group in January 2002 and
had served various managerial positions including the Regional General
Manager (Guangxi) and the Regional General Manager (Shanxi). Mr.
LIU obtained a bachelor's degree in Mechanical Engineering (Building
Materials) from the Wuhan University of Technology, China in 1987 and
has over 25 years of experience in building material and mechanical
engineering management.

Mr. HUANG Ting, aged 44, has been appointed the Financial Controller
of the Company since April 2012. He joined the Group in 2003 and
had served various managerial positions within the Group. Mr. HUANG
obtained a bachelor's degree in Economics from the Xiamen University,
China in 1992 and has over 15 years of experience in financial
management.
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Mr. DONG Qunke, aged 51, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Yunnan) of the Company since March 2011. He joined the
China Resources Group in August 1985 and was the General Manager
of CRC Petrol Filling Station Company Limited and the Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited.
Mr. DONG obtained a bachelor's degree in Engineering (Petrochemical
Processing) from the Liaoning Shihua University, China in 1985 and has
over 20 years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. QIU Suhao, aged 53, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Hainan) of the Company since January 2014. He joined
the Company in September 2009 and had served various managerial
positions within the Group. Mr. QIU graduated from the Wuhan University
of Technology, China in 1983 with a bachelor's degree in Electrical
Automation. He has over 30 years of experience in building materials and
project management.

Mr. HE Youdong, aged 51, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Fujian) since February 2013. He joined the Group in July
2010 and was the Deputy General Manager of Fujian. Mr. HE obtained
a bachelor's degree in Mining Engineering from the Fuzhou University,
China in 1984. He has over 30 years of experience in the cement industry.

Mr. LIU Xiaogang, aged 55, joined the Company in May 2013 and has
been appointed the Regional General Manager (Shanxi) of the Company
since January 2014. He joined the China Resources Group in July
2003 and was the Deputy General Manager of China Resources Coal
Holdings Company Limited and the member of the Expert Committee of
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited. Mr. LIU obtained a
bachelor's degree in Physics from the Fuyang Teachers College, China in
1983 and a bachelor's degree in Business Management from the Party
School of the Central Committee of C. P. C., China in 1992. He has over
10 years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. ZENG Fanrong, aged 50, has been appointed the Vice President
since January 2014. He joined the Group in January 2005 and had
served various managerial positions within the Company including the
Regional General Manager (Hainan) and the Merger and Acquisition
Controller. Mr. ZENG obtained a degree in Electrical Automation
Engineering from the Sichuan Institute of Building Materials, China in
1984. He has over 25 years of experience in the cement industry.
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Mr. ZHENG Qinghong, aged 48, has been appointed the Chief Logistics
Officer of the Company since January 2014 and is responsible for
production logistics and supply chain management. He joined the Group
in April 2000 and had served various managerial positions including the
Regional General Manager (Fujian). Mr. ZHENG obtained a master's
degree in Building Materials in 1993 from the Wuhan University of
Technology, China. He has over 10 years of experience in the cement
industry.

Mr. LI Baojun, aged 45, has joined the Company since January 2014
and has been appointed the Chief Strategy Officer and is responsible
for the overall strategic activities. He joined China Resources Group in
September 2002 and was the Assistant General Manager of the Strategic
Development Department of China Resources Group. Mr. LI obtained a
bachelor's degree in Power and Automation Engineering from the Tianjin
University, China in 1990, a master's degree in Industrial Engineering
from the Hebei University of Technology, China and a master’s degree in
Business Administration from the China Europe International Business
School, China. He has over 10 years of experience in business analysis
and strategic development.

Madam ZHAO Siyuan, aged 57, joined the Company in 2011 and has
been appointed the General Manager of China Resources Technology
Research and Development Company Limited since November 2011.
She was the Assistant to CEO of the Company from April 2012 to
January 2014. Madam ZHAO obtained a bachelor’s degree in Cementing
Materials from the South China University of Technology, China in 1982.
She has over 30 years of experience in the cement industry. She is now
the Vice President of the Guangdong Cement Association, the Executive
Member of the Council of Guangdong Provincial Association of Women
Entrepreneurs and the Vice President of the Guangzhou City Association
of Women Entrepreneurs. She has over 30 years of experience in
corporate management.

Mr. LI Chuanji, aged 44, has been appointed the Deputy Regional
General Manager (Fujian) of the Company since February 2013. He joined
the Company in August 2003 and was the Logistic Controller, the Deputy
Controller of the Marketing Department and served other positions of the
Company. Mr. LI obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting in 1992 from
the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, China and a master’s
degree in Business Administration in 2013 from the Hong Kong Baptist
University. He is an Accountant and also a member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has over 10 years of experience in financial
management.
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Mr. CAl Xiang, aged 47, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Guizhou) of the Company since May 2012. He joined the
Company in January 2003 and was the General Manager of cement
production plant and the Deputy Regional General Manager (Guangdong)
and served other positions of the Company. Mr. CAl obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration in 2008 from the Wuhan University
of Technology, China and has over 25 years of experience in the cement
industry.

Mr. LI Wei, aged 46, has been appointed the Chief Procurement Officer
since January 2014 and is responsible for the overall procurement
management of the Company. Mr. LI joined the Company in September
2001 and was the Deputy Director of the Marketing Department and
the Deputy General Manager (Hainan) and served other positions of the
Company. Mr. LI obtained a bachelor's degree in Economic Management
from the Shandong Cadres Correspondence University, China in 1999 and
a master’s degree in Business Administration from the Queen’s University
of Brighton, USA in 2009. He has nearly 10 years of experience in the
cement and concrete industry.

Mr. WANG Yue, aged 37, has been appointed the Chief Audit Officer of
the Company since January 2014. He joined the Company in October
2012 as the General Manager of the Internal Audit Department,
responsible for the internal audit and risk management functions of the
Company. Mr. WANG obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from
the Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics (now Zhonghan
University of Economics and Law), China in 1998. He has 15 years of
experience in auditing and risk control.

Mr. ZHANG Yunsong, aged 43, joined the Company in January 2014
and has been appointed the Chief Information Officer, responsible for
the information technology management of the Company. He joined the
China Resources Group in May 2012 and was the Deputy Controller
of the Applied Advisory Unit and the Enterprise Resource Planning
Consulting Controller of the Information Technology Department. Mr.
ZHANG obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Applied Mathematics from the
Beijing Union University, China in 1993. He has 10 years of experience in
Information Technology.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the production and sale of cement, concrete
and related products and services. Details of the principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 45 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 107.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.07 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: HK$0.07 per share).
Subject to approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
27 May 2014 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 15 May 2014. Such final dividend will not
be subject to any withholding tax in Hong Kong.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.035 per share in cash
with scrip option for 2013 (2012: Nil) and total distribution for the year
ended 31 December 2013 will be HK$0.105 per share (2012: HK$0.07
per share).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
5 May 2014 to Friday, 9 May 2014, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote
at the annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 9 May 2014, all
share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2 May 2014 with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 26th Floor,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong (which will
be relocated to Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong with effect from 31 March 2014).

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company after the close of
business of the Company at 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 15 May 2014 and
the register of members of the Company will be closed on Thursday, 15
May 2014, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates shall
be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 14 May 2014 with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 26th Floor,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong (which will
be relocated to Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong with effect from 31 March 2014).

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the movements in fixed assets and investment property of the
Group during the year are set out in Notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorized share capital of the Company
during the year. On 7 October 2013, a total of 13,682,355 Shares at
an issue price of HK$4.934 was issued pursuant to the Scrip Dividend
Scheme. Details of the authorized and issued share capital of the
Company for the year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in form of cement
finished goods in the total amount of approximately HK$4,186,000
(2012:HK$7,030,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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TAXATION RELIEF

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there is currently no
taxes levied on individuals or corporations by reason of holding of the
Company’s shares based upon profits, income, gains or appreciations and
there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 110.

As at 31 December 2013, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$6,213.6
million (2012: HK$6,897.7 million).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

ZHOU Longshan

PAN Yonghong

YU Zhongliang

LAU Chung Kwok Robert

(resigned with effect from 1 January 2014)

Non-executive Directors

DU Wenmin
WEI Bin
HUANG Daoguo
CHEN Ying

Independent non-executive Directors

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
XU Yongmo

ZENG Xuemin

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson
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In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. PAN Yonghong, Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert
and Madam ZENG Xuemin shall retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

All Directors are entitled to fees approved by the Board by reference to
the prevailing market conditions. The executive Directors are entitled to
salaries, allowances, discretionary bonuses and awards under the Scheme
determined by the Board having regard to the Group's performance
and the prevailing market condition and approved by the Remuneration
Committee. Details of Directors’ remuneration are stated in Note 9 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
companies, any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

65

AR 2013 Annual Report



R
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EERFETHRAERESZH
e
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HeOE TR

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2013, the Directors, chief executive of the Company
or their associates held certain interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
as follows:

(a) Z&2AF (@  The Company
R R A ER
IR B 1 B A B
AR ABE BT
BR 2 9 e 51
EE=nA 54 RO E (&)
(%)
Aggregate
long position
in Shares and
underlying Shares
to issued share
Number of capital of the
Name of Directors Capacity Shares held Company (note)
(%)
AW I 1,000,000 0.02
ZHOU Longshan Interest of spouse
RIKAL EmBAA 1,000,000 0.02
PAN Yonghong Beneficial owner
PRIE EmEEA 230,000 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner

# REARAR-Z—=f£+-A=+—8
56,532,937 817f8 B I TR DT E

note: Based on 6,532,937,817 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2013.
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(b) EHAIXAEMRAT (XATHWAEBEE ()  China Resources Enterprise, Limited, an associated corporation
=) of the Company

HXR EmiEA A 100,000 0.01
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner
it REFEBAZEERAFN_-E—=F1+= note: Based on 2,403,503,120 shares of China Resources Enterprise, Limited in
B =+—H%52403503,1200% 2 #7178 D7 issue as at 31 December 2013.
o
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(c) EHEHERERLQAT(KRDXTMME ()  China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, an
BEE) associated corporation of the Company

BRI BB A 48,864 0.01
ZHOU Longshan Beneficial owner
Bo B s 12,216 0.01

Interest of spouse

AIKAL EnlEAA 100,000 0.01
PAN Yonghong Beneficial owner
REAR BEmEBA 18,816 0.01
YU Zhongliang Beneficial owner
2B EnEAA 31,032 0.01

LAU Chung Kwok Robert Beneficial owner

TR EmEB A 480,240 0.01
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner
it RIBFERENIERERAGIN_Z—=4F note: ~ Based on 4,791,456,737 shares of China Resources Power Holdings
+=A=+—H%E4791,456,7370 2 31 7/% Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2013.
DErE -
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(d EHBHERLT (XNATMWMHEBEE () China Resources Land Limited, an associated corporation of the
=) Company

HXR EmiEA A 640,000 0.01
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner
PR E EmiER A 500,000 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner
it RIBFFRBEMARARR-T—=F+= note: ~ Based on 5,830,628,790 shares of China Resources Land Limited in issue
A =+—H#5830,628,7900% B %17 (D7 as at 31 December 2013.
o
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(e) EBHRIERERAT (XRQTHME
BoxE)

BEEgR g

Name of Directors Capacity

(e) China Resources Gas Group Limited, an associated corporation
of the Company

R R AHE
BRI B A
HEBERRIER
BRATEET

B% 7 1Y EE 45
(at)

(%)

Aggregate

long position

in shares and
underlying
shares to issued
share capital of
China Resources
Gas Group
Limited

(note)

(%)

FrRDBE

Number of
shares held

AL
Z/HOU Longshan

MR
DU Wenmin

it RIBFFERRTIERBRAGNR_E—=F
+= A=1+—H#92,224,012,87 1 21T
DatE -

B ESCRRIRERSN - I =Ft-A=1+—8"
MEFAA TAEFRARRNERTRAR
SR FE AR A T BRIERES L EED

EXEFRFA AR S E FRA AR RS EME
aw?il (EERBHLAEERDIEXVER) AR E

&7 MG IRBIEXVERRT N 8 AR E AR E
“’/‘E#@'J/A%ﬂ/\zﬁ B MR SRS ARRIE
& 75 S A B 5] SR 302{5R PT AR E 7R ALk N % 11
Prge & rC Rt - AR D REZ M M
KRB -R_TE—=F+_-_A=1+—H REEMFE
ENTETHBAER (’\i%%ﬁi%ﬂ’]@ﬂ%&ﬂ@ﬁi%/\
AT 2 R TS R ERERBAR
HAEEEE (E& REF SRR #3 ﬁ&ﬁﬁ
Pt - SRATIRAEATZHHER

\—7
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EmBEA

Beneficial owner

BEmfEAA

Beneficial owner

6,000 0.01

54,000 0.01

note: Based on 2,224,012,871 shares of China Resources Gas Group Limited in
issue as at 31 December 2013.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, so far as is known
to the Directors, no interests and short positions were held or deemed
or taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any Director or chief
executive of the Company or their respective associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code
or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be recorded
in the register referred to therein. None of the Directors and the chief
executive (including their spouses and children under the age of 18) had,
as at 31 December 2013, any interest in, or had been granted any right to
subscribe for the securities and options of the Company and its associated
corporations within the meaning of the SFO, or had exercised any such
rights.
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AEEBRARBRNTES SREEH BlBeR
KENBEHRDRERERKE

HE_Z—=F+-_A=+—HLFE BEHT
WIRPITEZH =R EIRERA 8 R 2H B
T

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Group regards the executive directors, senior vice presidents, vice
presidents and assistant presidents of the Company as members of the
senior management team.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, total remunerations paid to
members of the senior management team who are not executive Directors
are as follows:

—2—= —E—_F

FET FAT

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$'000

e KRR Salaries and allowances 16,823 13,072

B R Performance related bonus 12,247 13,670
IR PR AR K 5 il 1 Pension costs and mandatory provident fund

NIEE N contributions 1,876 1,338

REPEEENAT 2 Long term award scheme 31,114 41,070

62,060 69,150

WIFRHITESN DR E BN B HHMN T
ATNEE

The remunerations of the members of the senior management team who
are not executive Directors are within the following bands:

£ 1,000,000/ 7T

1,000,001 7% 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,0017% 7T %2,000,0007% 7T
2,000,001/% 7T 22,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001;% 7T, 2 3,000,0007% 7T
3,000,0017% 7T 23,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001/% 7T 24,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001 7T 24,500,000/ 7T
4,500,001 7% 7T % 5,000,000/ 7T
5,000,001 7T 25,500,000 7T
5,500,001/ 7T £6,000,000/% 7T

MAFHR AN SR EEEFKEHNEEDNA
FHREELSREBABRE—EHAME-

Nil — HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000

AE

Number of individuals
-—2—= —E—_F
2013 2012
5 2
2 2
1 1
- 2
3 _
11 4
2 2
1 3
- 3
- 1
- 1

Directors and Senior Management in this annual report.

R 2 013 Annual Report

The biographies of members of the senior management team at the date
of this annual report are disclosed in the section on Biographical Details of
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BEREAHBREZHRR

R_E—=F+_A=+—H BEFZHHM T
FIAL (UFEEEHADREETHAR) EFA
RO AN RIRIBRE 77 S M & 1R D) 36336(5 17 B
BB M E AN A B ER L) M ABRERR (D BB aE SIOA

SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2013, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons, not being a Director or chief executive of the Company, had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

BN under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:
BEERALER Ha/ KA ROEHE BREHSIEIL
(%)
Approximate
Name of interested parties Long position/Short position Number of Shares shareholding
(%)
REIEBEENT (1) A 4,792,189,749 73.35
China Resources National Corporation Long position
(note)
ERHROBR AR (iF) A 4,792,189,749 73.35
CRC (note) Long position
CRC Bluesky Limited (7%) S=) 4,792,189,749 73.35
CRC Bluesky Limited (note) Long position
2H(%H) (i#) e 4,792,189,749 73.35
CR Holdings (note) Long position
EHEE (KR)BERAR (52) HAE 4,792,189,749 73.35
CRH (Cement) Limited (note) Long position
i REEBENRDERROARARESBEHEITR  note: China Resources National Corporation is the beneficial owner of the entire issued

A EZEE A M&E ACRC Bluesky LimitedZ B
BEITRAKEZESE A - CRC Bluesky Limited7 73
EH (K@) 2HERITRANEREE A MEHN
(RE)AAERER OR)BRARZIEEST
BRANBEZEA A -FEREE KR BERARERE
$564,792,189,7490% B 17 - (A AR R BB BATIR A4

7335% °

B EXFrREIN ESA R —=F+=
A=1T—H BiEEMATHERRESZ LIS
{RBIZEXVERSE2 K353 BRHI AR E BRI AN A B B A2
PR SRR A R RIRIERE S M B E 1RG5
336{5TF B BB LM AN R AR A M ARRE A 1D

PSSR -
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share capital of CRC, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share
capital of CRC Bluesky Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire
issued share capital of CR Holdings, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the
entire issued share capital of CRH (Cement) Limited. CRH (Cement) Limited directly
held 4,792,189,749 Shares representing approximately 73.35% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31
December 2013, no other person had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.
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BFERERS CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
BIE RN ES 58 PSRRI 43T H
EMETHEARSTBNFERERT S
oI RN EETHE AR HEEEEHEITA
BRARZSH BRI T

The related party transactions as disclosed in Note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements also fall under the definition of continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Details of such
transactions conducted by certain subsidiaries of the Company with
connected parties during the year are summarized below:

EHRBIFTEETF
&8 HEELR
FHT THT
Annual cap
permitted under
Amount  the Listing Rules
HK$'000 HK$'000
MEE (£B) MHEBARER  Sale of concrete to China Resources
BEAR AR MNEWME QRS  Construction Company Limited and its
ERRT (1) subsidiaries, subsidiaries of CR Holdings
(note 1) 12,634 77,000
mMEFE N (BM)BRAA Sale of limestone powder to China
(FEHENITRER R A Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd.,
SRR EEARAN (i22) an associate of China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited (note 2) 19,543 31,301
BEBEEN (BM)ARAREE  Purchase of de-sulphur gypsum from
ERMATE (i43) China Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd.
(note 3) 21,996 42,569
BEBEEN (BM)ARATEE  Purchase of ash and slag from China
B NIEE (714) Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd.
(note 4) 28,423 98,911
BEBENIERARARRE  Purchase of ash and slag from China
LIpEENGIL- =Y S < 9y Resources Power Holdings Company
(#15) Limited and its subsidiaries (note 5) 15,878 46,326
REBVEFRMDERE N FH Maximum daily aggregate amount of the
BT = EETRNAE Group’s deposits with China Resources
BATIMEZEQSS @58 Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
(i6) CRC (note 6) 174,242 172,966
NEFEEEHRHOHERAT Maximum daily aggregate amount of the
BB AT E RIS (ETE Group’s purchase of financial products
BATIRENSRERNER provided by China Resources SZITIC Trust BT5IE7
== iBE (i77) Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of CRC (note 7) 251,260  See note 7 below

AR 2013 Annual Report
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AEFEERRIAAREMBLRE
EREREL

R-Z——F+-A—H +#ERELE
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SRR T AR AR REMBARMEREE
BREAFTRENBAREE DRI ML
BT —F—A—HEBFE=F
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ERTERFERERE ERR AT R EM
BAREEEMRELTARESEEITIA
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R-Z——F+-A-H AQAREARQ
BIRAMIBAEEEIZERER AR
fEATEREE ] (BN BRAFTFHA
SEmEHE N (BMN)BRARIEEA
RAEMmEI g BT ——F—H—
AR Z2-ZT—NF+-A=1+—Hi"
RH=F RAAEHRES HEBHME
BEN (BN BRAREERRAD 1R
B NEBEWEE A A ERTD
SERITHE - LM R TEERE
EEE o EUER A BR AR ET K977 1R PRI B
KSR LR E

notes:

Sale of concrete to China Resources Construction Company
Limited and its subsidiaries

On 2 December 2011, Redland Concrete Limited, a subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an agreement with China Resources
Construction Company Limited, a subsidiary of CR Holdings,
for the sale of concrete by Redland Concrete Limited and its
subsidiaries to China Resources Construction Company Limited
and its subsidiaries, with a term of three years from 1 January
2012 to 31 December 2014 because it was expected that there
would be continuing sales of ready mixed concrete to China
Resources Construction Company Limited and its subsidiaries for
the construction projects in Hong Kong. Under the agreement, the
prices of concrete charged by Redland Concrete Limited and its
subsidiaries will be negotiated on an arm’s length basis between
the relevant parties with reference to the prevailing market
prices. The payment terms will be set by the relevant parties in
accordance with market norms from time to time.

Sale of limestone powder to China Resources Power (Hezhou)
Co., Ltd.

On 2 December 2011, the Company entered into an agreement
with China Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd., an associate
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, a fellow
subsidiary of the Company, for the sale of limestone powder by the
Group to China Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd. with a term of
three years from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014 because
it was expected that there would be sales of limestone powder to
China Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd. for its power business.
Under the agreement, the prices of limestone powder charged by
the Group will be negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the
relevant parties with reference to the prevailing market prices. The
payment terms will be set by the relevant parties in accordance
with market norms from time to time.

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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3.

Purchase of de-sulphur gypsum from China Resources Power
(Hezhou) Co., Ltd.

On 2 December 2011, the Company entered into an agreement
with China Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd. for the purchase
of de-sulphur gypsum by the Group from China Resources Power
(Hezhou) Co., Ltd. with a term of three years from 1 January 2012
to 31 December 2014 because it was expected that there would
be purchase of de-sulphur gypsum from China Resources Power
(Hezhou) Co., Ltd. for production of cement of the Group. Under
the agreement, the prices of de-sulphur gypsum charged by
China Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd. will be negotiated on
an arm’s length basis between the relevant parties with reference
to the prevailing market prices. The payment terms will be set by
the relevant parties in accordance with market norms from time to
time.

Purchase of ash and slag from China Resources Power (Hezhou)
Co., Ltd.

On 2 December 2011, the Company entered into an agreement
with China Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd. for the purchase
of ash and slag by the Group from China Resources Power
(Hezhou) Co., Ltd. with a term of three years from 1 January
2012 to 31 December 2014 because it was expected that there
would be purchase of ash and slag from China Resources Power
(Hezhou) Co., Ltd. for the production of cement and concrete
of the Group. Under the agreement, the prices of ash and slag
charged by China Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd. will be
negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the relevant parties
with reference to the prevailing market prices. The payment terms
will be set by the relevant parties in accordance with market norms
from time to time.
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Purchase of ash and slag from China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited and its subsidiaries

On 2 December 2011, the Company entered into an agreement
with China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited for the
purchase of ash and slag by the Group from China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited and its subsidiaries with a
term of three years from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014
because it was expected that there would be continuing purchase
of ash and slag from China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited and its subsidiaries for the production of cement and
concrete of the Group. Under the agreement, the prices of ash
and slag charged by China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited and its subsidiaries will be negotiated on an arm’s length
basis between the relevant parties with reference to the prevailing
market prices. The payment terms will be set by the relevant
parties in accordance with market norms from time to time.

Deposits with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.

On 22 November 2010, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with certain subsidiaries of CRC, including
Zhuhai City Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. (subsequently changed
name to China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.), pursuant
to which, among other things, China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd. shall provide general banking services including deposit
services to the Group. The term of the agreement was three
years ended 31 December 2013. The maximum exposure in
relation to the Group’s deposits with China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd. inclusive of interest anticipated to be paid was
RMB140,000,000 (equivalent to HK$172,966,000). During
the year ended 31 December 2013, there were 3 days in total
which the daily aggregate amount of exposure in relation to the
Group’s deposits at China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
exceeded the abovesaid annual cap and the maximum daily
aggregate amount reached RMB141,033,000 (equivalent to
HK$174,242,000) but the applicable percentage ratios were
below 5%. Details of such inadvertent oversight were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 20 December 2013. As at
31 December 2013, the Group’s deposits with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. was RMB103,100,000 (equivalent to
HK$131,081,000).

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In view of the expiration of the strategic cooperation agreement
on 31 December 2013, the Company entered into new strategic
cooperation agreement with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd. on 20 December 2013 for a further term of two years,
commencing on 1 January 2014 and ending 31 December
2015, whereby the annual cap was renewed taking into account
of the Group'’s liquidity, business needs and the expected level
of services to be received from China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd. The new strategic cooperation agreement will enable
the Group to use the deposit and other financial services of
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. and to provide greater
flexibility in cash management for generation of better return.
As CRC holds more than 50% of the registered capital of China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd. is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Financial products provided by China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group purchased
certain financial products provided by China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd. with the intention to generate better return from the
Group’s temporary idle cash. There were 28 days in total which
the daily aggregate amount of these financial products exceeded
0.1% but were below 5% of the applicable percentage ratios, and
the maximum daily aggregate amount reached RMB200,000,000
(equivalent to HK$251,260,000). Details of such inadvertent
oversight were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
20 December 2013. As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s did
not hold any financial products provided by China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd..
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In view of the expiration of the strategic cooperation agreement
on 31 December 2013, the Company entered into new strategic
cooperation agreement with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co.,
Ltd. on 20 December 2013 for a further term of two years,
commencing on 1 January 2014 and ending 31 December
2015, whereby the annual cap was renewed taking into account
of the Group’s liquidity, business needs and the expected level
of services to be received from China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd. The new strategic cooperation agreement will enable
the Group to use the financial services of China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. and to provide greater flexibility in cash
management for generation of better return. As CRC holds more
than 50% of the registered capital of China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd., China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Master Lending Agreements with CR Holdings and CRC and
their listed and unlisted subsidiaries

On 22 November 2010, the Company entered into an agreement
with CR Holdings, CRC and their listed and unlisted subsidiaries
for loan facilities denominated in HK$ and US$. On the same day,
the Company entered into an agreement with CRC and its listed
and unlisted subsidiaries for loan facilities denominated in RMB in
order to give the Group greater flexibility in the management of its
surplus cash resources. The terms of the above two agreements
are three years ending 31 December 2013. Details of the above
transactions are as disclosed in the Company’s circular dated
6 December 2010. The above transactions were approved by
shareholders on 28 December 2010. During the year ended 31
December 2013, there was no lending made by the Company
under the above two agreements.

In view of the expiration of the agreements on 31 December 2013,
the Company entered into new agreements with CR Holdings
and CRC on 25 November 2013 for a further term of three years,
commencing on 1 January 2014 and ending 31 December 2016,
whereby the annual caps are renewed taking into account of
the Group’s operational scale and surplus cash levels. The new
agreements provide the Company with greater flexibility in the
management of its surplus cash resources.

FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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9. Purchase of coal from China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited and its subsidiaries

On 12 December 2012, the Company entered into an agreement
with China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited for the
supply of coal by China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited and its subsidiaries to the Group for a term of three years
from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2015 in order to ensure
stable coal supply for the production of clinker of the Group.
Under the agreement, the prices of coal will be negotiated on an
arm’s length basis between the relevant parties with reference to
the prevailing market prices. The payment terms will be set by the
relevant parties in accordance with market norms from time to
time. There was no purchase made during the year.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been entered
into:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favorable to the Group than
terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third
parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Based on work performed, Deloitte Touche Tohmastu, our independent
auditor, has confirmed in a letter to the Board to the effect that the above
transactions:

(@ have received the approval of the Board;

(b) are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Company

(transactions 1 and 2 which involved provision of goods or services
by the Company);

AERR 2013 Annual Report 7 9
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(c) have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing the transactions; and

(d) have not exceeded the caps disclosed in previous announcements
(except for transactions 6 and 7 as stated above).

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, except
for the transactions 6 and 7 as mentioned above.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 2 September 2009.
The share award scheme does not constitute a share option scheme
pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme
of the Company. The purpose of the share award scheme is to recognize
the contributions of officers and employees of our Group, excluding
any Director, towards the development of our Group in the past or as
incentives to selected grantees to achieve higher than target profits for our
Group and to align the interests of the selected grantees with sustainable
growth and development of our Group.

tf BR 2 7] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The aggregate number of Shares purchased under the share award
scheme shall not exceed 2.5% of all issued shares of the Company.
The aggregate number of Shares which may be awarded to a selected
grantee under the share award scheme shall not exceed 0.1% of the
issued share capital of the Company. A trust has been set up and BOCI-
Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed as the trustee. Pursuant
to the share award scheme, the trustee may purchase Shares from the
public market out of cash contributed by the Company from time to time.
Shares purchased under the share award scheme will be held in trust for
the eligible employees until such Shares are vested in accordance with
the provisions of the rules relating to the share award scheme. The share
award scheme will be effective for a term of 10 years until 2 September
2019 unless terminated at the discretion of the Board at an earlier date.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of the share
award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees and such that
payments under the Scheme will be made in form of cash rather than
Shares. According to the Scheme, the Company can utilize the proceeds
generated from the disposal of the Shares purchased and held by the
trustee for awards to be made under the Scheme. Grantees do not have
any right to the Shares.

During the year, 18,726,000 Shares (2012: 27,096,000 Shares) were
disposed of realizing net proceed of approximately HK$99,820,000
(2012: HK$122,978,000) and total cash payments of approximately
HK$99,816,000 (HK$122,971,000) were vested upon 263 (2012:
221) eligible employees. As at 31 December 2013, the trustee held
109,472,000 (2012: 128,198,000) Shares and cash of HK$39,641,000
(2012: HK$22,639,000) on trust under the Scheme.

31

R 2 013 Annual Report



R
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BE HEINFEEIAQAMN LD
s

ARBHEEAHBARMERNAFERE - H
ERBEOARRBNEM EHES -

XERTA

A2 AREFERBEIUENBEE RS

NMEFRE

RIBEARR A AFRESHNEMERESANE
RAREBH ARABIFRRARFFRE -/
PORARBEHEITRDEN25% - [TA _ETARA
HARE °

MBRE

AEEBERFOEENEEENEBEREST
AEE216H »

3 ]

ARRAFENPBRECERETE e ERT
SR TEZ

ARRHRERRFAFAE LIR2 —TRE
R ENZEREHERT ST RART]
FY BT AZBUAD

AEE R
FEREWL
ey

B8 —T-HF=ALtH

32

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 83 to 104 of
this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares
as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and its assets and liabilities for the past
five years is set out on page 216.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent

auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

ZHOU Longshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2014

FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieve and maintain
the highest standards of corporate governance and have adopted the
principles of the CG Code in the construction of our corporate governance
code. The Board believes that effective corporate governance are
fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and safeguarding interests
of our shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted sound corporate governance principles that emphasize a
quality Board, effective internal control, stringent disclosure practices and
transparency and accountability to all stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company has complied
with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code as and when they are
in force, except for the deviation as disclosed below.

DEVIATION FROM CG CODE

In respect of code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all non-executive
Directors were not appointed for a specific term. Since all Directors are
subject to re-election by shareholders at annual general meetings and at
least about once every three years on a rotation basis in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company, there are sufficient measures to
ensure the corporate governance of the Company complies with the same
level to that required under the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the
Model Code regarding their securities transactions during 2013.
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THE BOARD

Composition

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives of the
Company and overseeing the management of the business. The Directors
are accountable for promoting the success of the Company and making
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility and
swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when necessary, may
delegate its managing and administrative powers to the management,
and provides clear guidance regarding such delegation so as to avoid
seriously impeding or undermining the overall capabilities of the Board in
exercising its powers. Duties and authorities delegated to the various board
committees are described in the respective sessions below. Resolutions
passed by the respective board committees will be subsequently reviewed
and ratified by the Board.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced composition
of executive Directors and non-executive Directors helps to ensure the
independence of the Board and enables the Board to make independent
judgments effectively. The operation and management of the Board and
the day-to-day management of the Company’s business should be clearly
divided at the Board level to ensure that there is a balance of power and
authority and that power will not be concentrated in any one individual.

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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As at 31 December 2013, the Board comprised 13 Directors, including
4 executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHOU Longshan (Chairman), Mr.
PAN Yonghong (Chief Executive Officer), Mr. YU Zhongliang (Vice
Chairman) and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert (Chief Financial Officer);
4 non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. DU Wenmin, Mr. WEI Bin, Mr.
HUANG Daoguo and Mr. CHEN Ying; and 5 independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham,
Mr. XU Yongmo, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson.
On 23 December 2013, Mr. YU Zhongliang tendered his resignation from
the positions of Vice Chairman, executive Director and the member of the
Executive Committee with effect from 1 January 2014. The Nomination
Committee considered that Mr. YU'’s resignation would not cause material
obstruction to the Company’s businesses and the Company would remain
to be in proper compliance with the CG Code in respect of the structure,
size and composition of the Board. In light of these, the Board decides
that there is no need to fill the vacancy and it shall appoint appropriate
replacement if it considers necessary and beneficial to the Company.
The number of independent non-executive Directors represents more
than one third of the Board as required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2013. A description of
the Directors is set out in the Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management Section on pages 50 to 61 and on the Company’s website.

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

All Directors entered into formal letters of appointment with the Company
and they are subject to re-election by shareholders at annual general
meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation basis
in accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association of the
Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election of
retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt with by separate
individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are
proposed and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee as
more fully explained below under the section on Nomination Committee.
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Directors’ Training

Upon appointment to the Board, the Directors receive a package
of orientation materials about the Group and are provided with
a comprehensive induction to the Group’s businesses by senior
management. The package includes a copy of “A Guide on Directors’
Duties” issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong. Continuing
education and information are provided to the Directors regularly to
help ensuring that the Directors are apprised of the latest changes in
the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in which the Group
conducts its businesses.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has arranged in-house trainings for executive Directors in the
form of seminars and reading materials.

From time to time, the Board will arrange visits to cement and concrete
plants of the Group for a deeper understanding of the Group’s business
operations. In August 2013, Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, an independent
non-executive Director, accompanied by two executive Directors, Mr.
/HOU Longshan and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, had a four-day
tour and visited a cement plant in Fujian Province. During the visit,
the Directors actively interacted with the management of the plant and
obtained a thorough understanding of the plant’s operations.

FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Reading

regulatory

Attending updates or

seminar on information

regulatory relevant to
development the Company Visiting
and directors’ or its cement plant
duties business in Fujian
[Erel ZHOU Longshan v v/ v
EIKAL PAN Yonghong v/ v -

FHERB (BZZ—MM4F YU Zhongliang (resigned with

— A —HEEHT) effect from 1 January 2014) v/ v/ -
218 LAU Chung Kwok Robert v v v
HXR DU Wenmin v v -
BRI, WEI Bin v v -
B HUANG Daoguo v v -
PR & CHEN Ying v v -
g IP Shu Kwan Stephen v/ v/ -
At H SHEK Lai Him Abraham v v -
TRoKHE XU Yongmo v/ v/ -
B ZENG Xuemin v v -
MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson v v v
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Independence

For a Director to be considered independent, the Board must be satisfied
that the Director does not have any direct or indirect material relationship
with the Group. In determining the independence of Directors, the Board
follows the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and considers all of
the independent non-executive Directors as independent. In addition, the
Company has received annual confirmation of independence from all the
independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. None of the Directors has or maintained any financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship with any of the other
Directors.

Board Meetings

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a year.
Between scheduled meetings, the senior management of the Group
provides information to Directors on a regular basis regarding the activities
and development in the businesses of the Group. The Directors have full
access to information on the Group and independent professional advice
at all times whenever considered necessary by the Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be given
written notice of the meeting at least 14 days in advance and an agenda
with supporting Board papers no less than three days prior to the meeting.
For other meetings, Directors are given as much notice as is reasonable
and practicable in the circumstances. Except for those circumstances
permitted by the Articles of Association of the Company, a Director who
has a material interest in any contract, transaction, arrangement or any
other kind of proposal put forward to the Board for consideration abstains
from voting on the relevant resolution and such Director is not counted for
quorum determination purposes.
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During 2013, 5 meetings were held by the Board. The attendances at

EMLEERAT these meetings are as follows:
HE BT
BRXH
Meetings
Attended/Held
HITES Executive Directors
= ZHOU Longshan 5/5
EIKAL PAN Yonghong 5/5
RER(BZZ—AF YU Zhongliang
—A—HBRBET) (resigned with effect from 1 January 2014) 5/5
2178 B LAU Chung Kwok Robert 5/5
FHITES Non-executive Directors
HXR DU Wenmin 4/5
BRI, WEI Bin 3/5
B HUANG Daoguo 2/5
PR & CHEN Ying 3/5
BIUFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
P IP Shu Kwan Stephen 5/5
A8 SHEK Lai Him Abraham 5/5
RoKIE XU Yongmo 5/5
28 ZENG Xuemin 5/5
MEER LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 5/5
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& BRI T 2118 T 898 F AR AR
Bt 818%7713,682 355A #TAX D A -

PrE M EIRE

Scrip Dividend Scheme.

Gt 2 013 Annual Report

The matters covered in the meetings of the Board held during 2013
include the approvals of the 2012 annual report, the 2013 interim
report, continuing connected transactions for years from 2014 to 2016,
adjustment of remunerations of Directors, publication of quarterly financial
report with effect from the first quarter of year 2014, the third grant of
the Scheme and the issuance of 13,682,355 new Shares pursuant to the
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ROLES AND FUNCTIONS OF CHAIRMAN, VICE
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman

The roles of the Chairman are segregated from the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman approves and monitors the Company’s strategies and
policies, annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance
of the Company, and supervises the management of the Company.

Such division of responsibilities also helps to reinforce their independence
and accountability. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership
to, and overseeing the functioning of, the Board to ensure that it acts in
the best interests of the Group and that Board meetings are planned and
conducted in an effective manner. The Chairman is also responsible for
setting the agenda for each Board meeting, taking into consideration,
where appropriate, matters proposed by the Directors and the Company
Secretary for inclusion in the agenda. With the support of executive
Directors and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all Directors are properly informed of issues arising at Board meetings
and provided with adequate and accurate information in a timely manner.
The Chairman also actively encourages the Directors to be engaged in
the Board's affairs and contribute to the Board’s functions. The Board,
under the leadership of the Chairman, has complied with the corporate
governance practices and procedures and has taken appropriate steps
to ensure effective communication with our shareholders and other
stakeholders, as outlined in the latter section headed Relationship with
Shareholders.
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Vice Chairman

The Vice Chairman assists the Chairman in performing the latter's duties
and responsibilities. In particular, the Vice Chairman takes the important
role in monitoring the implementation of the Company’s strategies. During
the period when the Chairman is absent and the normal functions of
the Chairman cannot be carried out, the Vice Chairman takes the role
as the acting Chairman until the Chairman resumes carrying out his
normal duties or a new Chairman has been elected and appointed by the
Board. As mentioned above, Mr. YU Zhongliang tendered his resignation
from the position of Vice Chairman with effect from 1 January 2014. It
is considered that no material obstruction to the Company’s businesses
would be caused by Mr. YU's resignation and the CG Code would
continue to be properly complied with in respect of the structure, size and
composition of the Board. As such, the Board decides that there is no
need to fill the vacancy and it shall appoint appropriate replacement if it
considers necessary and beneficial to the Company.

Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the businesses
of the Group, coordinating overall business operations, attending to
the formulation and successful implementation of Group policies and
strategies approved by the Board and assuming full accountability to the
Board for all the Group’s day-to-day operations.

The Chief Executive Officer is directly responsible for maintaining the
operational performance of the Group. He also works with the Chief
Financial Officer and the senior management team and presents annual
budgets to the Board for consideration and approval, and ensures that the
Board is provided with all the necessary information relating to the funding
requirements of the businesses of the Group. He will also ensure that
the funding requirements of the business are met and closely monitors
the operating and financial results of the businesses against plans and
budgets, taking remedial action if necessary. He communicates regularly
with the Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all
major business development and issues.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration
Committee and a Nomination Committee on 2 September 2009, an
Executive Committee on 13 January 2010, and a Corporate Governance
Committee on 29 February 2012.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

During 2013, the Executive Committee comprised all the executive
Directors, namely, Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. PAN Yonghong, Mr. YU
Zhongliang (resigned with effect from 1 January 2014) and Mr. LAU
Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by Mr. ZHOU Longshan.

The terms of reference of the Executive Committee have been uploaded to
the Company’s website.

During 2013, 40 meetings were held by the Executive Committee. The
attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HiE BT

=k

Meetings

Attended/Held

JEgE L ZHOU Longshan 40/40

FEIKAL PAN Yonghong 40/40
REAR(BZE—HF YU Zhongliang

—A—BEET) (resigned with effect from 1 January 2014) 40/40

2|78 B LAU Chung Kwok Robert 40/40
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The meetings of the Executive Committee held during 2013 covered
mostly banking matters including the obtaining of banking facilities.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

During 2013, the Audit Committee comprises all five independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai
Him Abraham, Mr. XU Yongmo, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi
Yuen Nelson and is chaired by Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee have been uploaded to the Company’s
website and its official website for corporate communications.
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Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year to approve
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2012 and for the six months period ended 30 June 2013. During the year,
the Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control of the Company and its subsidiaries covering all material financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions. One
of the Audit Committee meetings was held to review the internal control
review report submitted by the Internal Audit Department of the Company
and the internal weakness report submitted by the independent auditor.
The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT

25

Meetings

Attended/Held

MR LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 2/2
g IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2/2
A8 SHEK Lai Him Abraham 2/2
Rk XU Yongmo 2/2
B ZENG Xuemin 2/2
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As disclosed in the Company’'s announcement dated 20 December
2013, there was inadvertent oversight by the Company in respect of
its continuing connected transactions during the three years ended
31 December 2013. This implies weakness in the Company's internal
control and accordingly, the Board and the Corporate Governance
Committee have taken steps to tighten the Company’s compliance and
internal control system in respect of the Company’s continuing connected
transactions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him
Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, and two executive Directors,
Mr. ZHOU Longshan and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee have been uploaded to the Company’s website and its official
website for corporate communications.
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During 2013, two meetings (by way of circulation of written resolutions) of
the Remuneration Committee were held to approve the increase in salaries
and payment of discretionary bonus to executive Directors and senior
management as well as the third grant of the Scheme. In this regard, the

RS RAMERERMN - 2 2HMHFEIEN  Remuneration Committee made recommendations to the Board for final
ORNE adoption. The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

EERER
Written
Resolutions
PERLE SHEK Lai Him Abraham 2/2
g IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2/2
ISP LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 212
JEEELL ZHOU Longshan 2/2
2 8= LAU Chung Kwok Robert 2/2
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr.
LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, and one executive Director, Mr. ZHOU Longshan,
and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen. The terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee (including the nomination procedures and
criteria for selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship)
have been uploaded to the Company’s website and its official website for
corporate communications. During 2013, one meeting of the Nomination
Committee was held to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and adopt the board diversity policy and amendments to the terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee.
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The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential element
in maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will
include and make good use of differences in the talents, skills, regional
and industry experience, background, gender and other qualities of
the members of the Board. These differences will be considered in
determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible
should be balanced appropriately. In reviewing and assessing the
composition of the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider all
aspects, including without limitation, those described above, in order
to maintain a truly diverse Board. In recommending candidates for
appointment to the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider
candidates on merit against objective criteria and with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

As mentioned above, Mr. YU Zhongliang tendered his resignation from
the positions of Vice Chairman, executive Director and the member of
the Executive Committee with effect from 1 January 2014. With due
regard for the benefits of diversity (including but without limitation, the
talents, skills, regional and industry experience, background, gender and
other qualities of the members of the Board), the Nomination Committee
considered that Mr. YU's resignation would not cause material obstruction
to the Company’s businesses and the Company would remain to be in
proper compliance with the CG Code in respect of the structure, size and
composition of the Board.

The attendance at this meeting is as follows:

HiE BT
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Meeting

Attended/Held

=g IP Shu Kwan Stephen 1/1
At H SHEK Lai Him Abraham 11
MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 171
AW ZHOU Longshan 11
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him
Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, and two executive Directors,
Mr. ZHOU Longshan and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the Company’s website. During 2013, one meeting of
the Corporate Governance Committee was held to review the training and
continuous professional development records of Directors, the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report 2012. The attendance at this meeting is as follows:

HE BT

23

Meeting

Attended/Held

B IP Shu Kwan Stephen /1
PEEL & SHEK Lai Him Abraham 171
MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 11
JERELL ZHOU Longshan 11
2 8= LAU Chung Kwok Robert 11
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has been engaged to perform review on the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board; and ensure that the Company is in full
compliance of the CG Code and relevant regulatory requirements.
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ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETING

R-ZE-—=F
HEHA=H
BITNEE
Meeting
held on
3 May 2013
HITES Executive Directors
= ZHOU Longshan v/
T IKAL PAN Yonghong v/
RER YU Zhongliang v
218 LAU Chung Kwok Robert v
FHITES Non-executive Directors
MR DU Wenmin v
Bt WEI Bin -
=8 HUANG Daoguo
PR E CHEN Ying
BAFHITES Independent non-executive Directors
= npee) IP Shu Kwan Stephen v/
PEELE SEHK Lai Him Abraham v
RoKAE XU Yongmo v
B8 ZENG Xuemin v
ISP LAM Chi Yuen Nelson v
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
annual reports, interim reports and financial statements of the Company
to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair presentation
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The
statement by the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities
relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013
is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 105 to 106. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. It has been approved by the Board that with
effect from the first quarter of year 2014, quarterly financial reports shall
be published to improve transparency of the Company.

97

AR 2018 Annual Report



e S EelLis
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

B BED

BERZE BRI NE B ZEE B AR
BEREFNEBRENEYIE - BRREETFE
R BN K RERE B M R EEIME Y
BB AZ AN R TR AZ B LR
MEIZ S E - AL E IR A B A K IR AR
(B MEE AR 1 - BREZ BB %
BN RERBEREERELES AKERH
RIBEE) e TRy @R RITTRMH T XM &R
ARFSHERER AT ¢

. BRI — BRRERA R AR MR
R AR IME A R IR A N EZR
o

. HEZARAIRS — B EEREIZH
EbEEft B —R T BREEZEBAR
5 Bl B R H5 R (BLAH AR & M
5 HEHREBEMMNEREE LGS
BREEGIE RSP TR TS
B NEE R BHE B BRI EER
ZBED A S A BE BT R AR -

. BN A R IRT — BRAATRH AR R
MR EIRS - BT B EEZARNR
15 AR BRI AZZEN R R R T
FIARTS - MATA A E AT ER TIE
AmEMEEATAE-

. H A B 75— B 45 451 4 [ B i B2 43 A e BT
it NE R HIE B RARBEER
BRHEIRIS S - B R B T A 177 B
EEENAEE ARSI RRLZRE
RETRHAEREITHE - ZFRIGEA
mEZZESRRME TR

. —MREAARTS — INBIZEE T A B RS
H—ARaE R AR

Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
receives each year the letter from the independent auditor confirming their
independence and objectivity and holds meetings with representatives of
the independent auditor to consider the scope of its audit, approve its fees,
and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit services, if any, to be
provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and retention of the independent auditor. The
Group’s policy regarding the engagement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for
the various services listed below is as follows:

° Audit services — include audit services provided in connection with
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and the financial statements of the individual subsidiaries.

° Audit related services — include services that would normally be
provided by an independent auditor but not generally included
in audit fees, for example, review of financial statements for the
purpose of interim report, due diligence and accounting advice
relating to mergers and acquisitions and internal control reviews
of systems and/or processes. The independent auditor is to be
invited to undertake those services that it must or is best placed to
undertake in their capacity as auditor.

° Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and tax
planning services, except for those services which are provided
in connection with the audit. The Group uses the services of the
independent auditor where it is best suited. All other significant
taxation related work is undertaken by other parties as appropriate.

° Other services — include, for example, risk management
diagnostics and assessments, non-financial systems consultations
and corporate governance compliance assessment. The
independent auditor is also permitted to assist management and
the Group’s internal auditor with internal investigations and fact-
finding into alleged improprieties. These services are subject to
specific approval by the Audit Committee.

° General consulting services — the external auditor is not eligible to
provide services involving general consulting work.
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An analysis of the fees of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and other
independent auditor is shown in Note 8 to the financial statements.
In the year ended 31 December 2013, a provision of HK$4,138,600
was made in the financial statements for service fee payable to Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu for the annual audit and the Group paid HK$54,300,
HK$478,600, HK$381,600 and HK$142,000 to Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as service fees for preparation of tax returns, review of interim
financial statements, financial due diligence and review of corporate
governance compliance.

Fees and disbursements relating to financial due diligence work on
acquisition projects of the Group paid during the year ended 31
December 2013 to other professional parties amounted to HK$2,114,600.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for and is highly concerned with the
Group’s system of internal control and assessment and management
of risks. In meeting its responsibility, the Board seeks to increase risk
awareness across the Group’s business operations and has put in place
policies and procedures, including parameters of delegated authority,
which provide a framework for the identification and management of risks.
It also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the systems of internal
control to ensure that the policies and procedures in place are adequate.

Reporting and review activities include review by the executive Directors
and the Board and approval of detailed operational and financial reports,
budgets and plans provided by the regional management, review by
the Board of actual results against the budgets, review by the Audit
Committee of the ongoing work of the Group's internal audit function and
risk management function, as well as regular business reviews by the
executive Directors.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against material
misstatement, errors, losses or fraud.
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Internal Control Environment

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall operations of the
businesses within the Group. The Group’s internal control procedures
include a comprehensive system for reporting information to the executive
Directors. Business plans and budgets are prepared annually by the
regional management and subject to review and approval by the executive
Directors as part of the Group's five-year corporate planning cycle.
Forecasts for the current year are prepared on a monthly basis, reviewed
for variances to the budget and for approval. When setting budgets and
forecasts, management identifies, evaluates and reports on the likelihood
and potential financial impact of significant business risks. The executive
Directors review the monthly management reports on the financial
results and key operating statistics of each business and hold monthly
meetings with the executive management team to review these reports,
business performance against budgets, forecasts, significant business risk
sensitivities and strategies.

The Group maintains a centralized cash management system for its
subsidiaries’ operations. The Group has established guidelines and
procedures for the approval and control of expenditures. Operating
expenses are subject to overall budget control and are controlled
within each business with approval levels set by reference to the level
of responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital expenditures are
subject to overall control within the annual budget review and approval
process, and more specific control and approval prior to commitment by
the executive Directors are required for unbudgeted expenditures.

As mentioned hereinabove, there was inadvertent oversight by the
Group regarding its continuing connected transactions during the three
years ended 31 December 2013. In view of this, the Group has taken
steps to improve its internal control system. The Group has established
comprehensive guidelines and procedures to identify, monitor and review
the Group's current and future connected transactions. Existing continuing
connected transactions are subject to regular reviews and any potential
connected transactions shall require approval by the Board after being
reviewed by the Group’s legal and finance departments.
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Internal Audit Department is responsible for assessing the Group's
internal control system, formulating an impartial opinion on the system,
and reporting its findings to the Audit Committee, the Chairman and the
senior management concerned as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved. In addition, a
regular dialogue is maintained with the Group’s external auditor so that
both are aware of the significant factors which may affect their respective
scope of work. Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure
of individual business units, the scope of work performed by the internal
audit department includes financial and operations reviews, recurring and
surprise audits, fraud investigations and productivity efficiency reviews.

Group Risk Management

Directors and officers liability insurance is in place to protect Directors and
officers of the Group against their potential legal liabilities.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. LO Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor in
Hong Kong. Mr. LO, aged 64, was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 29 May 2009. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1976 and
has been in continuous practice since qualification. He is currently a
partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. Although Mr. LO is not a full time
employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and in his capacity
as Company Secretary advises the Board on governance matters. The
primary contact person of the Company with Mr. LO is Mr. LAU Chung
Kwok Robert, the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. During 2013, Mr. LO has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2013, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward
Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on the written
requisition of (1) any two or more members of the Company; or (2) a
recognized clearing house (or its nominees(s)) deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (Room 4606-08, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for the
attention of the Board or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal place of business in Hong Kong, the registered office of the
Company (PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands) for the attention of the Board.

The written requisition shall specify the objects of the extraordinary
general meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s), provided that such
requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit of the written requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the voting right at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not, within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
written requisition, proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which extraordinary general
meeting may be convened by the Board, provided that any extraordinary
general meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
3 months from the date of deposit of the written requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director

Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides that no
person shall, unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless during the period,
which shall be at least 7 days, commencing no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting, there has
been given to the Company Secretary notice in writing by a member of
the Company (not being the person to be proposed), entitled to attend
and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of his intention to
propose such person for election and also notice in writing signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Accordingly, if a shareholder wishes to nominate a person to stand
for election as a Director at the annual general meeting, the following
documents must be validly served on the Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong within the period
specified in Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
namely, (1) his/her notice of intention to propose a resolution to elect a
nominated candidate as a Director at the annual general meeting; (2) a
notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s willingness
to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s information as required to be
disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4) the nominated
candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her personal data.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s official
website for corporate communications and the Company’s website.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

We believe that the Company’s relationship with shareholders is critical to
its future success. The Board is accountable to shareholders for creating
and delivering value through effective governance of the business. As
the core principles of corporate governance, the Board endeavours to
maintain stable and constructive communications with shareholders
and investors and recognizes the importance of promoting mutual
understanding and direct communication.

In order to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, a shareholders’ communication policy of the Company has been
established. We will actively respond to daily inquiries from shareholders
and investors and publish important information about the Company
through the official website for corporate communications and the website
of the Company. The Company will also hold investors presentation after
the release of annual results and interim results. The presentation will be
broadcast via the internet to meet the needs of overseas shareholders and
investors in order to improve transparency of corporate governance of the
Company.

In 2013, we have increased interactions with shareholders and investors
through participation in different activities. During the year, the Company
had completed a total of approximately 300 one-on-one, small group and
conference call meetings which enabled direct communication with fund
managers and analysts around the world. Apart from non-deal roadshows
after the announcement of results of the Company, we participated in
15 Hong Kong and overseas investors’ conferences organized by various
investment banks and had in-depth discussions with global institutional
investors about business situation in China and future development trend
of the industry. In October 2013, the Company organized a two-day
reverse roadshow with analysts from approximately 30 investment banks
participated in the event. The participants visited the cement and concrete
production plants in Nanning, Guangxi, and through discussions and
interactions with the local government, obtained a better understanding
about the investment environment and development opportunities of the
Company and the industry in the Guangxi region.

The Board always welcomes shareholders” and investors’ view and input.
They can send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing
them to the Investor Relations Department of the Company by letter,
telephone, fax or email. Details of the contact information can be found on
page 4 of this annual report.

]. 04 FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



T8 S AZ Bl o
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte.
=)

B ERKEERERAF
(REABRBRHMA L2 ERA )
B B 3R

EEEERZHIINEI07EEZFE2158 HEEKE
BERAERAR ([ERRA]) REMBAR (5
[ERE D WGREFMBHRR LEEPVBHRRE
BRZZE—=F+_A=T—B0EaUBHRR
= MEERZALFENGFEBREREMEEK
aR FARREHRIEERERER UK
ETESFTHRME R EMEREER -

ESRAEMBBRRARENER

BEAREFARRRBEETHASRMNE
BIHRERER R EE R RHEDI R ERERE
BEEMATFOEEMHRER URHESETN
AR RN ER R M B E AR RIR
AEVERE M IRA T & B E A AR NEESI&

=

RBENEME

BENEEREESNEZEZFRE MR
KELER  WRBEFHENZERR ER
R (ER—EE ) s BRUL AN RET
A REEM AR - BEF IR EAM A TR
EARAERR LEMNEE-FFRRELES
ARG R BRI EAETESNER L
1E-ZFEARTE  FFARBERBETRER
I METEZTE NAEETEHRAMITHREE
BRI E AT RIRAL -

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
35/F One Pacific Place
88 Queensway

Hong Kong

BE) « BHERITBSIENT
&8 L iE8885%
ANOESB—EE35E

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 107 to 215,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity's preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2013, and of
the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
7 March 2014
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

—E—= —T——F
k=3 FE&xT T
2013 2012
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
- Turnover 5 29,340,619 25,345,328
S5 & A AR Cost of sales (20,980,867) (19,245,807)
EF Gross profit 8,359,752 6,099,521
Hib U A Other income 6 811,895 413,646
REMEATFEEE Change in fair value of
an investment property 17 10,000 8,000
HE RS HER Selling and distribution expenses (1,633,235) (1,223,114)
—MEITHER General and administrative expenses (2,727,475) (1,807,814)
P%EA Finance costs 7 (704,459) (835,228)
e N Share of results of associates 98,406 136,640
XN Share of results of joint ventures 99,593 81,836
R %5 B 22 A Profit before taxation 8 4,314,477 2,873,487
I8 Taxation 11 (1,035,808) (528,310)
FEERN Profit for the year 3,278,669 2,345,177
Hin 2 mEKA Other comprehensive income
BT SENDHE lterns that will not be subsequently
1Am 1 E A reclassified to profit or loss
BMEREWMER Exchange differences arising
FREAEH =58 on translation to presentation
currency 642,079 5,166
FEEMEEBRA Other comprehensive income
for the year 642,079 5,166
FEIEMBRALEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 3,920,748 2,350,343
LAR AEEIEEEZAR]:  Profit for the year attributable to:
ZIN/NEIETF =N Owners of the Company 3,338,373 2,324,370
e i Non-controlling interests (59,704) 20,807
3,278,669 2,345,177
ATNALTEEEEUW A Total comprehensive income
Rk attributable to:
IN/NCIEZ =N Owners of the Company 3,962,386 2,334,350
FEfE IR M Non-controlling interests (41,638) 15,993
3,920,748 2,350,343
FREREF (BT) Basic earnings per share (HK$) 14 0.512 0.357
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-ZT—=F+_-_A=+—H At31 December 2013
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—E—= e
HieE FExT T
2013 2012
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
EMBNE E Non-current assets
EEE Fixed assets 15 32,526,564 31,552,919
A ERIE Prepaid lease payments 16 2,752,320 2,510,484
"EYHE Investment property 17 77,000 67,000
| EE Intangible assets 18 2,200,216 1,964,627
AL RN e Interests in associates 20 2,392,943 2,286,023
RadnaliEs Interests in joint ventures 21 1,727,042 1,381,417
BEETEER® Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets 1,632,062 933,819
BIETHIEE E Deferred tax assets 22 152,878 124,456
& HA e W sk I8 Long term receivables 23 620,686 633,048
44,081,711 41,453,793
MENE E Current assets
FE Inventories 24 2,131,961 2,322,153
FEW B 5 BRK Trade receivables 25 3,191,885 2,492,210
H At R FRIE Other receivables 25 1,555,543 1,606,607
/NG| /T)/\IE Amounts due from joint ventures 26 388,593 663,526
AR FRIB Taxation recoverable 5,024 54,002
BEERRITHER Pledged bank deposits 27 3,171 4,977
B & KIRTTA R Cash and bank balances 28 2,821,782 3,561,863
10,097,959 10,705,338
mBBE Current liabilities
B E S ERK Trade payables 29 3,246,173 3,386,392
H At e~ /IR Other payables 29 4,365,452 4,215,348
FET IR Taxation payable 560,041 183,312
FERTE R ATIFZIE  Amount due to immediate
holding company 30 54,956 54,956
REBEERAGER  Loans from intermediate
holding companies 31 - 1,330,881
RITERK Bank loans — amount due
—R—F R within one year 32 6,171,482 7,607,433
14,398,104 16,778,322
mENBEFE Net current liabilities (4,300,145) (6,072,984)
BEBAERRDAE Total assets less current liabilities 39,781,566 35,380,809
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZE—=F+="F=+—H At 31 December 2013
—E—= —T——F
it FET FHET
2013 2012
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
IRITER Bank loans — amount due
——F1& 5| 5 after one year 32 11,169,690 10,169,739
I ES Unsecured bonds 33 3,101,840 3,100,696
HAth R HAME S 58 Other long term payables 28,535 37,877
BERIERE Deferred tax liabilities 22 119,750 114,297
14,419,815 13,422,609
25,361,751 21,958,200
A&7 I (s Capital and reserves
RN Share capital 34 653,294 651,926
A Reserves 24,167,560 20,723,739
RAREA AE(E#EZS  Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 24,820,854 21,375,665
FJEPE R i = Non-controlling interests 540,897 582,535
WE S AR RE Total equity 25,361,751 21,958,200

FI07EEF25HMRATEHREREN -Z—P The consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to 215 were
F= A+ BEESRHEREETE  WWh 5 approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 March

ATREEE: 2014 and are signed on its behalf by:
JE8E L ZHOU LONGSHAN 2 2B LAU CHUNG KWOK ROBERT
E % DIRECTOR E%E DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE—_T—

—F+=-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

RDREE AELER
i3]
d R | NEER
RE  RGEE & e RERE  REER @it ERRER  ERSH
ThEL TAL TARL TEL TAL FHT FhEL TEL TAL
(Hiit44)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Long term
award Property Non-
Share Share scheme revaluation  Translation Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests  Total equity
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
(Note 44)
WZZE——F—-A—H A1January 2012 651,926 8.860,902 (611,761) 17810 1,760,315 8654733 19298732 602,518 19,901,250
HE2ERA Other comprehensive income
-EiZE - exchange differences - - - - 9980 9,980 (4.814) 5,166
FREEA Profitfor the year - - - - - 234310 234370 0807 2345177
FERANANESR Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 9,980 2324370 2,334,350 15,993 2,350,343
WE-FRE Acquisttion of additionl interest
HBAREIMER  of an existing subsidiary - - - - 10,767 10,767 (35,976) (25,209)
“Z——ERMKE 2011 final dividend - (391,155) - - - - (391,155) - (391,155)
RERSEE2E  Recognition under long term
R award scheme - - 106,734 - - 16,237 122971 - 122971
WZF-=F At 31 December 2012
+-A=t-H 651,926 8469747 (506,027) 17810 1770295 11,006,107 21,375,665 582,535 21958200
HE2ERA Other comprehensive income
-ERER - exchange differences - - - - 624,013 - 624,013 18,066 642,079
FERF Profit for the year - - - - - 3338373 3338373 (59,704) 3278669
FERANANESR Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 624,013 3338373 3962,33 (41638) 3920748
ZE-ZFRHBEE 2012 final dividend = (456,348) = = = - (456,348) = (456,348)
“E-=FhllRs 2013 interim dividend - (228 174) - - - - (228 174) - (228,174)
REUARRBHE Issue of share pursuant to scrip
FETRA dividend scheme 1368 66,141 - - - - 67,509 - 67,500
RERIEE2E  Recognition under long term
®R award scheme - - 73765 - - 26,051 99,816 = 993816
RZE-=F At 31 December 2013
+=A=1+— 653,294 7,851,366 (431,262) 17810 2394308 14370531 24820854 540897 25,361,751
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_T—=F+_A=1+—HIHFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

—g—= —E—_F
FE&T FET
2013 2012
HK$’'000 HK$'000
KEKLLEFHNIEERE  Cash flows from operating activities
BR B AT & A Profit before taxation 4,314,477 2,873,487
BRI SIEEL AR Adjustments for:
BEEEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,760,229 1,635,497
TEATHH & SR IEEE 8 Release of prepaid lease payments 61,107 61,640
TR AR 5 Amortisation of mining rights 55,788 48,146
REMENTEE Gain on change in fair value of
EE)EEN R E an investment property (10,000) (8,000)
M BUA Interest income (65,373) (59,451)
B Interest expenses 704,459 835,228
i NI Share of results of associates (98,406) (136,640)
EIEEEREEE Share of results of joint ventures (99,593) (81,836)
RIZIRMEE Allowance for doubtful debts 72,597 14,711
HEBRTEERIE Loss on disposal of fixed assets 18,731 6,918
HEEMNEENRIE Gain on disposal of prepaid lease
e payments - (994)
HE—REEE AT Gain on disposal of an associate
Yoz (2,382) -
EEEEREEIE Impairment loss on fixed assets 353,310 =
H Ath FE U FRIERY Allowance for (reversal of) doubtful
RZREK debt of other receivables
(fEH#EEm) 2,846 (24,225)
FEREEIE Impairment loss on inventories 22,595 -
BRI = B 2 E) At 2 Recognition of payment under
HERHRRK long term award scheme 99,816 122,971
BN (Mas) 58 Exchange (gain) loss (349,570) 2,324
LEECEEFH Operating cash inflows before
LERSRMA movements in working capital 6,840,631 5,289,776
FE R (35 0) Decrease (increase) in inventories 236,993 (26,453)
FEULE 5 AR FRIE N Increase in trade receivables (684,528) (553,641)
H b IS R IR A Decrease in other receivables 123,975 831,534
JERTE 5 ERFUR D Decrease in trade payables (253,269) (41,398)
A JE 5 SRIEE AN Increase in other payables 230,910 261,881
KEEBEENRS Cash generated from operations 6,494,712 5,761,699
ENEEMEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (17,210) (5,519)
EPREAM SR Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax paid (639,546) (550,775)
EATHE Interest paid (716,869) (900,687)
KETEFELEMIREFEE  Net cash generated from operating activities 5,121,087 4,304,718
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‘ —g—= —E——4F
HtaE FET T
2013 2012
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
RE®EEERIREHR=E  Cash flows from investing activities
TUEEEF EEMSZMKB  Purchase and deposit paid for
BERENRZS acquisition of fixed assets (2,900,435) (3,218917)
TR A & SRIRE AN Additions to prepaid lease payments (229,672) (238,081)
Wy B R A Acquisition of mining rights (211,195) (205,889)
RIBEF S U BRI B Payment for acquisition of
EOE NN subsidiaries in prior year (128,913) (790,931)
1 B Bf JBB A ) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(KRB WERE R (net of cash and cash
HEeEEY) equivalents acquired) 38 (60,243) 3,306
TR )5 BT R I8 Advances to local governments (10,838) (394,204)
2R B #h 75 BT B 38 3K Repayments from local
governments 62,712 284 386
BENREE (ERY) Repayment from (advances to)
H) 3K I8 joint ventures 54,385 (16,683)
B2 UF S Interest received 47,511 59,451
& B E B EFTS IR Proceeds from disposal of
fixed assets 34,547 36,216
REEERAIRE Dividend received from
a joint venture 12,005 -
HE—REEE QR Proceeds from disposal of
FTiS k18 an associate 11,286 763
BB RIRITIFEFOR Decrease in pledged
bank deposits 1,931 6,812
HE B HEERIE Proceeds from disposal of
FT1S 708 prepaid lease payments - 4,277
REFE R BIH)EE Capital injection in associates - (30,053)
R B RS FTAE Net cash used in investing activities
He /55 (3,316,919) (4,499,547)
KERMEEBHIRERE  Cash flows from financing activities
g R ESRITE R Long term bank loans raised 5,559,413 4,309,943
BERAIRITER Repayments of long term bank
B loans (4,495,802) (2,967,456)
RHRITEFUR Decrease in short term bank loans (1,712,453) (4,056,332)
Y] F'ﬁhz? [/ 7 (Decrease) increase in short
FEHNE R ( /DZ >) term loans from an intermediate
i" pill holding company (1,369,501) 450,068
IR AR B Dividends paid (617,013) (391,155)
iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂgﬁ Settlement of other long term
payable (7,145) (6,929)
K E ET%T S @/NE] Advance from immediate
K holding company - 17,268
WEE—RIRB W B Acquisition of additional interest of
NAE| BRI ME an existing subsidiary - (25,209)
S AT EL A R4S FROE Settlement of other payables - (326,431)
BRI ES Issuance of unsecured bonds - 3,016,398
MEEE (FTA)EEN Net cash (used in) generated from
REF5 financing activities (2,642,501) 20,165
FERES LR EEY Net decrease in cash and cash
FER D equivalents for the year (838,333) (174,664)
FYRENREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 3,561,863 3,737,839
EREBHIRS K& Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
RITEHRNTE on cash and bank balances 98,252 (1,312)
FRAS MRS EEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of
B RIRITAERR the year, representing cash and
bank balances 2,821,782 3,561,863
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rREIRRIAETT ([BIT)) 25 A
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HE-_T—=F+-A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company Law
(2002 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2003 and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
on 6 October 2009. Its immediate holding company is CRH
(Cement) Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. Its ultimate holding company is China Resources National
Corporation (“CRNC”), a company established in the Chinese
Mainland.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of cement, concrete and other related
products and services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") while the functional currency of the Company is
Renminbi. The Company has adopted HK$ as its presentation
currency because the management considered it is more
beneficial to the users of the consolidated financial statements.
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HIE®FE For the year ended 31 December 2013

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants (“HKICPA”"):

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)

Amendments to HKAS 1

HK(IFRIC) — INT 20

]_ 1 4 KV A FRA ¥ China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2009 — 2011 cycle

Disclosures — Offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities

Consolidated financial
statements, joint
arrangements and
disclosure of interests in other
entities: Transition guidance

Consolidated financial
statements

Joint arrangements

Disclosure of interests in other
entities
Fair value measurement

Employee benefits

Investments in associates and
joint ventures

Presentation of items of other
comprehensive income

Stripping costs in the production
phase of a surface mine
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=F+=-A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013
APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“H KFRS") (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs in the current year has no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impact of the application of HKFRS 10

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated and
separate financial statements” that deal with consolidated financial
statements and HK(SIC) INT — 12 “Consolidation — Special
purpose entities”. HKFRS 10 changes the definition of control
such that an investor has control over an investee when a) it has
power over the investee, b) it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and c) has the ability
to use its power to affect its returns. All three of these criteria must
be met for an investor to have control over an investee. Previously,
control was defined as the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities. Additional guidance has been included in HKFRS 10 to
explain when an investor has control over an investee.

The directors of the Company made an assessment as at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 10 (i.e. 1 January 2013)
as to whether or not the Group has control over its investees in
accordance with the new definition of control and the related
guidance set out in HKFRS 10. The directors of the Company
concluded that the initial application of HKFRS 10 has no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2.

HIE®FE For the year ended 31 December 2013

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

Impact of the application of HKFRS 11

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in joint ventures”, and
the guidance contained in a related interpretation, HK(SIC) —
INT 13 “Jointly controlled entities — non-monetary contributions
by venturers”, has been incorporated in HKAS 28 (as revised
in 2011). HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of
which two or more parties have joint control should be classified
and accounted for. Under HKFRS 11, there are only two types
of joint arrangements — joint operations and joint ventures.
The classification of joint arrangements under HKFRS 11 is
determined based on the rights and obligations of parties to
the joint arrangements by considering the structure, the legal
form of the arrangements, the contractual terms agreed by the
parties to the arrangement, and, when relevant, other facts and
circumstances. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement (i.e. joint
operators) have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement (i.e. joint venturers) have rights to the net assets of
the arrangement. Previously, HKAS 31 contemplated three types
of joint arrangements — jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled
operations and jointly controlled assets. The classification of joint
arrangements under HKAS 31 was primarily determined based on
the legal form of the arrangement (e.g. a joint arrangement that
was established through a separate entity was accounted for as a
jointly controlled entity).
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HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

Impact of the application of HKFRS 11 (Continued)

The initial and subsequent accounting of joint ventures and joint
operations is different. Investments in joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method (proportionate consolidation is no
longer allowed). Investments in joint operations are accounted for
such that each joint operator recognises its assets (including its
share of any assets jointly held), its liabilities (including its share
of any liabilities incurred jointly), its revenue (including its share
of revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation) and
its expenses (including its share of any expenses incurred jointly).
Each joint operator accounts for the assets and liabilities, as well as
revenues and expenses, relating to its interest in the joint operation
in accordance with the applicable standards.

The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed the
classification of the Group’s investments in joint arrangements in
accordance with the requirements of HKFRS 11. The directors
concluded that the Group’s investment in joint arrangement,
which were classified as jointly controlled entities under HKAS
31 and were accounted for using the equity method, should be
classified as joint ventures under HKFRS 11.

Impact of the application of HKFRS 12

HKFRS 12 is a new disclosure standard and is applicable to
entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements,
associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general,
the application of HKFRS 12 has resulted in more extensive
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements (please see
Notes 20, 21 and 45 for details).
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HIE®FE For the year ended 31 December 2013

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

Impact of the application of HKFRS 13

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for, and
disclosures about, fair value measurements. The scope of
HKFRS 13 is broad: the fair value measurement requirements
of HKFRS 13 apply to both financial instrument items and non-
financial instrument items for which other HKFRSs require or
permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value
measurements, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value (e.g. net realisable value for the purposes of measuring
inventories or value in use for impairment assessment purposes).

HKFRS 13 defines the fair value of an asset as the price that
would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability, in
the case of determining the fair value of a liability) in an orderly
transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at
the measurement date under current market conditions. Fair
value under HKFRS 13 is an exit price regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technigue. Also, HKFRS 13 includes extensive disclosure
requirements.

HKFRS 13 requires prospective application. In accordance
with the transitional provisions of HKFRS 13, the Group has not
made any new disclosures required by HKFRS 13 for the 2012
comparative period (please see Note 17 for the 2013 disclosures).
Other than the additional disclosures, the application of HKFRS 13
has not had any material impact on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of items of other
comprehensive income

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation
of items of other comprehensive income”. Upon the adoption
of the amendments to HKAS 1, the Group’s ‘statement of
comprehensive income’ is renamed as the ‘statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income’. The amendments
to HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in either a single statement or in
two separate but consecutive statements. Furthermore, the
amendments to HKAS 1 require additional disclosures to be made
in the other comprehensive income section such that items of
other comprehensive income are grouped into two categories:
(a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss when specific conditions are met. Income tax on items
of other comprehensive income is required to be allocated on
the same basis — the amendments do not change the option to
present items of other comprehensive income either before tax or
net of tax. The amendments have been applied retrospectively,
and hence the presentation of items of other comprehensive
income has been modified to reflect the changes. Other than the
above mentioned presentation changes, the application of the
amendments to HKAS 1 does not result in any impact on profit
or loss, other comprehensive income and total comprehensive
income.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 cycle?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2011-2013 cycle?

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments®
HKFRS 14 Regulatory deferral accounts®

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Mandatory effective date of HKFRS
and HKFRS 7 9 and transition disclosures?

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment entities?
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Amendments to HKAS 19  Defined benefit plans: Employee
contributions?

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities?

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable amount disclosures for
non-financial assets’

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of derivatives and
continuation of hedge

accounting?

HK(FRIC) — INT 21 Levies!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with
earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, except as
disclosed below. Early application is permitted.

3 Available for application — the mandatory effective date will be determined
when the outstanding phases of HKFRS 9 are finalised.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with limited
exceptions.

° Effective for the first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on or
after 1 January 2016.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application
of the above amendments will have a significant impact on the
Group'’s consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment property, which is
measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
or value in use in HKAS 36.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.
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=F+=-A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred to the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
“Share-based payment” at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations” are measured
in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquire and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position as an
intangible asset.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on
a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.
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=F+=-A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Fixed assets

Fixed assets including land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of fixed assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets other
than construction in progress are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the unexpired lease terms

Plant and machinery 310 40 years
Logistic equipment 10 to 40 years
Others 3 to 35 years

Construction in progress including fixed assets in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate categories of fixed asset
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of fixed assets is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of fixed assets is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately or acquired in a business
combination and with finite useful lives are carried at costs
and at their fair value at the acquisition date, respectively, less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for mining rights, which have finite useful
lives, is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

A mining right is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gain or
loss arising from derecognition of mining right is measured at the
difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances; Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
When the Group'’s share of losses of an associate or joint venture
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets” as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified
as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value
at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition in accordance with HKAS 39. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at
the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a
part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or
joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
when the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon
such changes in ownership interests.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or
joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Prepaid lease payments

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Prepaid lease payments (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as fixed
assets.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment (other than goodwill) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business
and net of discounts and sales related taxes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint venture, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such investment properties
are measured in accordance with the above general principles set
out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner as to how the
properties will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable

assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Government grants (Continued)

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Government grants related to depreciable assets are recognised
as a deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets. Other government grants are recognised as
revenue over the periods necessary to match them with the costs
for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange differences
are also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a
foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that foreign operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In
addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on acquisitions of foreign operations are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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HIESFE For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose
of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and interests paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, long term receivables,
amounts due from joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and cash
and bank balances) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses
(see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial

assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or
° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group'’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, other
payables, amount due to immediate holding company, loans from
intermediate holding companies, bank loans, unsecured bonds
and other long-term payables) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and interests paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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HIESFE For the year ended 31 December 2013

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
government-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Provision for other employee benefits are recognised when the
Group has a present obligation to provide such benefits to its
employee and is measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the
future obligations discounted to its present value where the effect
is material.
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HE-_T—=F+_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2013

ERGHEE s 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

REZEBGE Long term award scheme

2EMF LR O AT B2 AHE The fair value of services received determined by reference to

BEE 2 EWERES 2 A FEBE IR the fair value of awarded shares granted at the grant date is

AR EDAR (D PSR H SRR B BRTERR A recognised as an expense at the grant date when the award is

sk - W= AR FEIE N granted with a corresponding increase in equity.

BRREA SR 2B AR R R BUR A The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the

AR AR ER SRR SRR D « FFER long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for long term

BRHREN AT EIRIAR D A48 H S LAREGR & - award scheme. The shares held for the long term award scheme

ZHEEDIRTEERER - will be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

finl SRR & M FE A FORR (D 45 HE & 1 When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed

HEMSRERDRTES  AIDRTIE of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed to the

BMERIERERRFAEZ (BIKA) employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are recognised

MBE WA BB 2 FRZERE R T A as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between the

REBEF - consideration received and the cost of the shares will be credited
to retained profits.

EET FEHBEEZEMNEER 4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

R UNCERTAINTY

mE AR E Estimated impairment of goodwill

EBEmEROREAMGTT RO EHENR
SEABM(REELBMDNEMAE
B st EEREERRAEEGFTTANH
ReELBUESNATRERENEE
HIREIR R IAGHERE -

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units (“CGU”) to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value.

R =FR=T——F+-A=+— As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the carrying amount
B EERNEREES 5 41,319,620,000% of goodwill are HK$1,319,620,000 and HK$1,260,600,000
7T %1,260,600,000/ 7T ° A K [ & FE AT & respectively. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
SEAE NI disclosed in Note 19.
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PERERNERER N —=FK
—E——F+-A=+—H EEHE
& EMREES B A152,878,0007 7T &
124,456,000/ 7T °

FE Wt B 5 BR A EHRUE

EHRBEBENERERE AEEG
ZRMEFARRRERE-REBENS
BIREENEEEENSREENRA
EEREFAR (VP HERABHENEERF
K)BBERNEFARBESRE (TEEN
REERRREEESER) WREZENZE
B2 N2 =FR=F——F+=
A=1+—HB BREZERXNEAED
71 53,191,885,0007% 7T (£E Nk RIZAR &
#175,069,0007% 7T.) £%2,492,210,000/% 7T
(#EF0RR RIZAREK90,280,000870) (£
FKEE25) o

HIESFE For the year ended 31 December 2013

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future
profits generated are less than or more than expected, a reversal
or a recognition of deferred tax assets would be recognised in
profit or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year in which such a reversal
or recognition takes place. As at 31 December 2013 and 2012,
the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is HK$152,878,000
and HK$124,456,000 respectively.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

Where there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows.
The amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the
carrying amount of trade receivables are HK$3,191,885,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$175,069,000) and
HK$2,492,210,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$90,280,000) respectively (see Note 25).
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5.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Segment information has been identified on the basis of different
products in internal management reports which are prepared in
accordance with accounting policies conformed with HKFRS, that
are regularly reviewed by the chief executive officer in order to
allocate resources to the operating segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

Cement — manufacture and sale of cement and related products
Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete and related products

Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable for
goods sold to outside customers.

Segment results represent the profits earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, Directors’
salaries, share of results of associates and joint ventures, interest
income, finance costs and taxation.
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5, BEEXHRDTHBER m 5.

DEPRBERETIAOT -

BE_T-=H+"A=t—-HLHFE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (Continued)

The information of segment results are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2013

K BRL i ekl
FiEx FExT FExT FExT
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

e TURNOVER - SEGMENT

-2k REVENUE

#HINEE External sales 23,497,477 5,843,142 - 29,340,619
Dl BHE Inter-segment sales 1,021,290 947 (1,022,237) -
24,518,767 5,844,089 (1,022,237) 29,340,619

D EBZ SR E TR TS ERAt E -

E3 RESULTS
NEbEE Segment results
FSUA Interest income
HBER Finance costs

AHEARFFEY  Unallocated net corporate expenses
FE(REES AR Share of results of associates
[E{EA4ARIEE  Share of results of joint ventures

BRI A& F Profit before taxation

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

4,607,234 210,304
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

For the year ended 31 December 2013

KT Ny 44 HBE
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

e TURNOVER - SEGMENT

— oz REVENUE

HIMHEE External sales 20,372,901 4,972,427 = 25,345,328
DEB I E Inter-segment sales 878,341 887 (879,228) -
21,251,242 4973314 (879,228) 25,345,328

S I E R T IS B -

£

NEBEE

FEWA
BBEM

¥ NIV a5

FEIEBE R
FIEEER

BRELRI B F

CIES
EES

RESULTS
Segment results

Interest income
Finance costs

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

3,391,945

351,839

Unallocated net corporate expenses

Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before taxation

3,743,784

59,451
(835,228)
(312,996)

136,640

81,836
2,873,487
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5, BEEXHRDTHBER m

DEEEEDHABENEREIINAT

5.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Information of segment assets and segment liabilities are as
follows:

R+=B=+—8
—E—=F —E——4F
FET FAT
As at 31 December
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
DEBEE Segment assets
—IKJE — Cement 41,657,072 39,476,326
N — Concrete 3,486,009 3,128,406
45,143,081 42,604,732
REEE R A ERS Interests in associates 2,392,943 2,286,023
REERAIER Interests in joint ventures 1,727,042 1,381,417
FIEFIHE B Deferred tax assets 152,878 124,456
AR IR Taxation recoverable 5,024 54,002
ROWARIEE (ita) Unallocated corporate
assets (note a) 4,758,702 5,708,501
e BEMRR Consolidated total assets 54,179,670 52,159,131
afE Liabilities
nEaE Segment liabilities
—IKJE — Cement 5,951,739 6,013,422
— R — Concrete 1,123,301 1,106,181
7,075,040 7,119,603
HEaE Tax liabilities 679,791 297,609
RKAOBARIERE (itb) Unallocated corporate
liabilities (note b) 21,063,088 22,783,719

meEaBER

< [H

a RAWATEELERAS RIRTES  DHRA
BOAERRABEE.
b RPEARARERTER MERESR

AR MR FIR - AN ERIT B R IE
FMESF AR BT ERPISRT B2 A
EFREIDRADERBAE

Consolidated total liabilities 28,817,919 30,200,931

notes:

a. Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and bank balances, pledged
bank deposits and assets of the headquarters.

b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans, unsecured bonds

and other payables of the headquarters. The bank loans and unsecured
bonds are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities because they are
managed centrally by the treasury function of the Group.
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BHE-_ZT—=F+-_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013
ERERDBER (@) 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)
H fth 55 30 & H} Other segment information
BE-_Z—=F1+-A=1t—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2013
KR BEL NREE GEHE
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Corporate  Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
NEETEEE Additions to fixed assets 1,998,682 147,367 20 2,146,069
PRRERESE N Additions to mining rights 211,195 - - 211,195
FENHEEFREL I  Additions to prepaid lease
payments 156,049 73,623 - 229,672
P hN Additions to goodwill 44,987 - - 44,987
BEBETEES  Increase in deposits for
0 acquisition of fixed assets 674,591 23,652 - 698,243
REERER (Reversal of) allowance for
(R RmE) doubtful debts (9,407) 82,004 - 72,597
H iR ZIAREEE  Allowance for doubtful
B debts of other receivables 2,596 250 - 2,846
PRIEREE I Amortisation of mining rights 55,788 - - 55,788
EEEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,573,955 184,250 2,024 1,760,229
EFEEREREE  Impairment loss on fixed assets 334,297 19,013 - 353,310
GFERERESE Impairment loss on inventories 22,091 504 - 22,595
HERTEEE Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed
e (las) assets 20,160 (1,429) - 18,731
BNEETIES  Release of prepaid lease
payments 55,735 5,372 - 61,107
KEYMEATFEE  Gainon change in fair value of
BEELNS an investment property - (10,000) - (10,000)
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BE_ZT—=F+=-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2013
5. EXHERTIBER 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT

HitnpHEHR (B)

BE—_Z——H+-HA=+—RItFE

INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

Kk iy RAEE A
THT FHT THT THT
Corporate Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NEETEEE Additions to fixed assets 3,048,673 175,284 53 3,224,010
PREERESE N Additions to mining rights 205,889 = = 205,389
FENHAEFREL I Additions to prepaid
lease payments 225,689 12,392 - 238,081
PN Additions to goodwil 391 = = 391
BEETEE4  Decrease in deposits for
m acquisition of fixed assets (368,901) (2,710) - (371,611)
REREBR Allowance for doubtful debts 811 13,900 = 14,711
HAEWGRIEREE  (Reversal of) allowance for
(BEER) EER doubtful debts of other
receivables (24,429) 204 - (24,225)
RS Amortisation of mining rights 48146 = = 48,146
TEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,464,881 168,306 2,310 1,635,497
HEBTEEEE  Loss (gain) on disposal of
(Urzs) fixed assets 7,125 (207) = 6918
FENAEREES  Release of prepaid lease
payments 57,699 3,941 - 61,640
BEMENTEME  Gain on change in fair value of
SEEEME an investment property = (8,000) = (8,000)

FHEEEFHNESN

RZMEFER - AREHERIFTFRHE
ERMERB AR E HERRERI10%

AEBEHABBRANSERBEE (T8

EIETHIRE B N R HIRUGR) EAR M
2P B A3 2 B o

Information about major customers

No sales to an individual customer contributed over 10% of the
total sales of the Group for both years.

Geographical information
All revenue and non-current assets of the Group excluding

deferred tax assets and long term receivables are arisen in and
located in the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong.
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HE-_T—=F+_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2013
H At g A 6. OTHER INCOME
—=E—= —T——F
FET TFET
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
XA 228 (5) Government incentives
(note) 210,292 236,463
A B WA Interest income 65,373 59,451
& R Sales of scrap materials 54,371 54,096
ARIEU A Service income 18,441 14,041
HeUA Rental income 14,282 11,547
R B R A B E Compensation received
from insurance 3,129 8,084
B EEMNAERIEN R E Gain on disposal of
prepaid lease payments - 994
ER R Exchange gain 416,329 =
Ht Others 29,678 28,970
811,895 413,646
it BT S2E) £ B 5 AT RRES - & iE B note: Government incentives mainly represented tax refunds, operating subsidy
MECFER A Ry 1R - and energy reduction incentives received from local governments.
% E A 7. FINANCE COSTS
—g—= —F——4F
FBT AT
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FIERFE Interests on:
ﬁilﬁéﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂg BENRITER R Bank loans and
IR ES unsecured bonds
wholly repayable
within five years 675,260 871,064
hERNBEBEEENRITER Bank loans not wholly
repayable within
five years - 2,433
REMEERARER Loans from intermediate
holding companies 41,609 27,190
E b RERFESFRIB Other long term payables 1,099 3,018
717,968 903,705
B BEENMEAEEEERN R Less: Amount capitalised to
fixed assets (13,509) (68,477)
704,459 835,228
Aﬁﬁﬁ??ﬁiﬁ HEER AR E M EELY Capitalisation rate of borrowing costs to expenditure on qualifying
Bb9% (T ——F :62%) ° assets is approximately 5.9% (2012: 6.2%).
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BE_ZT—=F+=-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2013
8. KRHBEAMEF 8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—E—= —F—
FET FAT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRAEAT AR A E bR (FrA) AR %18 - Profit before taxation has
been arrived at after
charging (crediting):
=M< (#1:29) Directors’ emoluments
(Note 9) 19,994 29,869
RS KA KRB TR ATES HK Pension costs and
(TBIEES) mandatory provident
fund contributions for
staff excluding Directors 145,532 116,848
Hh 8 TR AR Other staff costs 2,579,279 1,943,891
B TR 4%E Total staff costs 2,744,805 2,090,608
RIZERER Allowance for
doubtful debts 72,597 14,711
H th fE YR IE RIB IR 1R Allowance for (reversal of)
(A mE) doubtful debts of other
receivables 2,846 (24,225)
PRUE R 5 Amortisation of mining rights
(BEtA—MEITHER) (included in general and
administrative expenses) 55,788 48,146
1% 8K B 257 B Auditor’s remuneration 7,110 5,839
BET&EENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,760,229 1,635,497
FE W (Uas) Eia Exchange (gain) loss (416,329) 14,111
EEERERIE Impairment loss on
fixed assets 353,310 -
FEREEE Impairment loss on
inventories 22,595 -
& BB EEE Loss on disposal of
fixed assets 18,731 6,918
FLUA R F IR A &S 491 50 Operating lease payments
in respect of
—HfEmE ~ rented premises 56,755 47,427
—/RE — motor vehicles 166,588 56,151
TR & SR IEHE SR Release of prepaid lease
payments 61,107 61,640
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BHE-_ZT—=F+-_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013
9. EEMSE 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
EEME Directors’ emoluments
BE-Z—=F1+-A=t+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2013
BREHA
R RARRE
ESHe HEREE BT WAL HE | @t
TEx TEL TEL TEL TiEL TEL
Pension
costs and
mandatory
Salaries provident Long term
Directors’ and fund  Discretionary award
EEp Name of Director fees  allowances  contributions bonus scheme Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R /HOU Longshan 80 2,181 210 564 2,771 5,806
KA PAN Yonghong 80 1,405 133 427 2,217 4,262
REBR! YU Zhongliang’ 80 1,336 133 781 2,009 4,339
e LAU Chung Kwok Robert 80 1417 140 781 2,009 4,427
HXER DU Wenmin - - - - - -
/41 WEI Bin - - - - - -
&HiEH HUANG Daoguo 80 - - - - 80
RE CHEN Ying 80 - - - - 80
- 9ap IP Shu Kwan Stephen 200 - - - - 200
Patit SHEK Lai Him Abraham 200 - - - - 200
fRoKiE XU Yongmo 200 - - - - 200
28 ZENG Xuemin 200 - - - - 200
WEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 200 - - - - 200
1,480 6,339 616 2,553 9,006 19,994
& B =F—F—F—HEFE- & Resigned with eftect from 1 January 2014.
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HE-_Z—=F+-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

9. EEME & 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
BEEME (8) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
BE—_T——F+-_A=1t—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2012

R RHIRE
EEHE  HelElR  ABREHH Eiga HE s
T T T THEL FEL FEL
Pension
costs and
mandatory
Salaries provident Long term
Directors’ and fund  Discretionary award
3 Name of Director fees  allowances  contributions bonus scheme Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

R ZHOU Longshan 5% 2,137 207 1,143 7903 11,451
KA PAN Yonghong 5% 1,372 130 863 3582 6,003
RER* YU Zhongliang* 37 870 87 876 3582 5452
ek LAU Chung Kwok Robert 5% 1299 130 870 3,582 5937
HXR DU Wenmin 5% - - - - %
i WEI Bin 56 - - - - 5%
AEE HUANG Daoguo* 37 - - - - 37
e CHEN Ying* 37 - = = = 37
-0 IP Shu Kwan Stephen 168 - - - - 168
Patirs SHEK Lai Him Abraham 168 - - - - 168
Rk XU Yongmo 168 - - - - 168
e ZENG Xuemin 168 - - - - 168
WEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 168 - - - - 168
1,231 5678 554 3,757 18,649 29,869
* REF——F A ARAEESE (LXARE * Appointed on 5 May 2012 (Amounts shown above exclude emoluments
BT E15 A EBERERZEHE 18985 paid by the Group prior to the appointment).
&)

]. 5 8 FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



LA B A R
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10.

& & %
R-B—=F AERSHMEARER
ARG (ZF——F ) EF &

FHM ST MA LR mERN—
T——F —BATEZERBITES
XN TFRERHMEANBETA -

HE-_T—=F+_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2013

10.

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATIONS

The five highest paid individuals in 2013 included four Directors
(2012: four) whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in
Note 9 above. In 2012, one of them was appointed as executive
Director. Total remunerations paid to the five highest paid

individuals are:

—ZE—= —T——F

FET T

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

== iokn Directors’ fee 320 205

e KER Salaries and allowances 11,018 11,677

RIR @A K58 &l 1 AR R K Pension costs and

mandatory provident

fund contributions 796 685

RHEASERE) AT 2 Long term award scheme 11,016 22,231

23,150 34,798

BERFMN T AT HE:

Their remunerations were within the following bands:

—2—=fF —E——F

2013 2012

4,000,001 7% 7t 4,500,000/ 7T HK$4,000,001 to
HK$4,500,000 4 =

5,500,001/ 7T 26,000,000/ 7T HK$5,500,001 to
HK$6,000,000 1 3

6,000,001/% 7T 26,500,000/ 7T HK$6,000,001 to
HK$6,500,000 - 1

11,000,001/% 7L 211,500,000/ 7T HK$11,000,001 to

HK$11,500,000 - 1
5 5
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BE_ZT—=F+=-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2013
11. $ 18 11. TAXATION
—g—= —EF——4F
FET FHET
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
BIHEAFR 18 Current taxation
BBNEH Hong Kong Profits Tax 10,479 14,643
HR B b 1 S FTISAR Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax 1,032,730 526,634
1,043,209 541,277
RBEFEREDE Underprovision in prior year
HR B b 1 S FTISAR Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax 15,106 4,072
RIEFRIE (f15222) Deferred taxation (Note 22)
BB Hong Kong 1,475 2
eleionp:ii) Chinese Mainland (23,982) (17,041)
(22,507) (17,039)
1,035,808 528,310
BBME T ME RN T ERTEAE Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
JA16.5%H) R A5 o assessable profit for both years.
FR B A3 £ 28 AT IS 5 1 R B A R P S Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax represents the income
i RAR A B &R B B A FE SR A M s tax in the Chinese Mainland which is calculated at the prevailing
BIRITR R E S tax rate on the taxable income of the group entities in the Chinese
Mainland.
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11.

hY
==
BIE (@)

RIEP B A BOENOER  ETRE A
FLRETHIB A ARSI FNR
FHERE - B B EENFEEFTNEM
FRACHMPEARMINEEAEH
(MNEREMEN]) BER=FZH
R E T HB0%HER ([ R ])

IR B EPTSBOA ([REPTISH
R RIEFRAETAERGSN —F——
FR-T-=FPERNMHBRRHHRE
5% HETHR _ZENF—H—H5
ZHEEERENMBABIGRI ZEHE
ARER=—FFT/\F—A—BEFLFA
BEBBENRE - BEFARHANE
THBAREEZAZSHSESEE
Al 2R TE EY HA PR feE s

FR A 7N 5 (B3R i 2 1) i e 2= 2 O 185 [B] i
M BEGRFERE R ge N2 R A T8 R A AR IR
B P B AR  BTE AR R E &
NEPRR—_E—=F+-A=+—H
TR B B9 R 20 IR AR B8 2 7 FE A5 B R By 2=
H14,556,909,0007% 7t }2336,429,000/%8
70 (= Z — =4 :10,963,600,000/5 7t &
236,836,000 7T) + WEERGRE B ISR
FRDARIER TE B B o

F—A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

TAXATION (Continued)

According to the Chinese Mainland tax laws and regulations,
certain subsidiaries, which are established in Chinese Mainland,
are exempted from Chinese Mainland Foreign Enterprise Income
Tax (“FEIT”) for the first two years starting from their first profit-
making year after offsetting the accumulated losses brought
forward from previous five years, followed by a 50% reduction on
the FEIT for the next three years (“Tax Holiday”).

Under the Law of the Chinese Mainland on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland is 25% in respect
of 2012 and 2013, except for certain subsidiaries that previously
enjoyed a preferential tax rate prior to 1 January 2008, which have
been gradually transited to the new tax rate over five years from 1
January 2008 and certain subsidiaries that previously enjoyed the
Tax Holiday will continue to enjoy such preferential tax treatment
until the expiry of such prescribed period.

No deferred tax liabilities has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to the undistributed retained profits of
HK$14,556,909,000 and HK$336,429,000 as at 31 December
2013 (2012: HK$10,963,600,000 and HK$236,836,000) earned
by the subsidiaries and joint ventures established in the Chinese
Mainland respectively as the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BE_ZT—=F+=-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2013
11. BIE @) 11. TAXATION (Continued)
RFFERIB 2 r] EARR T B4 & B BR N The charge for the year can be reconciled to the consolidated
T profit before taxation as follows:
—E—=fF —F——4F
FET FHET
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FR AT & 7 Profit before taxation 4,314,477 2,873,487
2 rp B AL 1 ZE P15 B A R 25 % Tax at the Chinese
Mainland Enterprise
Income Tax rate of 25% 1,078,619 718,372

ETrRERNANERITIBNERMNTRBETE  Tax effect of expenses

that are not deductible

in determining taxable

profit 91,350 35,898
EEREAMBFIRT TARARAKANTBEZE  Tax effect of income

that are not taxable in

determining taxable

profit (101,016) (24,619)
RREBETRAOTETE Tax effect of reduced tax

rate under Tax Holiday (39,595) (237,887)
RERMIEE B EE Tax effect of tax losses not

recognised 68,579 84,150
BRABARBERNTBERNMEZE Tax effect of utilisation of

tax losses not previously

recognised (27,571) (3,181)
DR E R EEN S 2 Tax effect of share of results

of associates (24,602) (34,160)
DIEEERNAEENTBRE Tax effect of share results of

joint ventures (24,898) (20,459)
e b RIEREE ?& EHHE A R Effect of different tax rates

TRB KR L of subsidiaries operating

in other jurisdictions (5,387) (7,495)
7R BB & A R B MR IS s B Tax effect of distributable

profits of a PRC

associate 5,223 13,619
RBEFEERE I Underprovision in

prior years 15,106 4,072
REZRBEHZ Taxation expense

for the year 1,035,808 528,310
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12.

iR k48 A5 &

BB REE R 2 EAR B EHRTORINGT
2R BIERESF & ([RH1ER
BEEtal]) - REHRFENRFTENEER
B ERESEBRE - MBI
BEEXFHEWHEADLRESRE TN
reEBEahAbEERERABE T
Bk - REBL(E B A2 = B TR IR
FLARE AN SR B SR - B REHIR -
W E A ERH R B AR - 8 il 1%
NIEEFE THBEERARENEELER
FEARES TRESDBIE - AKE M
EREEARRGIEAESF BN

REEEHE A E S BN T B R
& B BT AR E BT B IR R AR RET
2IHR B - AEE A RER KRBT BIST
TEREADHNERERBHES - A
SERZEAEPOE—EEANEE

Dy
BE

12.

A

=F+=-A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Employees in Hong Kong may be offered to participate in the
Group’s defined contribution retirement schemes or to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF”). The assets of the
defined contribution retirement schemes are held separately in
independently administered funds. The amount of contributions is
based on a specified percentage of the basic salaries of employees
and is charged to profit or loss in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Any forfeited
contributions in respect of unvested benefits of staff leavers
will be used to reduce the Group’s contributions. There was no
significant amount of unutilised forfeited contributions at the end
of each reporting period. The assets under the MPF are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
the trustee. The Group and each of the employees make monthly
contributions to the MPF.

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these schemes is to make the specified contributions.
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13. kK2

—T—=F+=—A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013
DIVIDENDS
—E—= —F—
FET FHET
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAEERIED KA E Dividends recognised
as distribution during
the year:
—E—=FFhERE—FR0.035E T 2013 Interim — HK$0.035
(i) per share (note) 228,174 =
ZE-FRERE-SR007ETT 2012 Final — HK$0.07
ZE——F T ——FREKE per share
#h20.06% 7T ) (2012: 2011 Final of
HK$0.06 per share) 456,348 391,155
684,522 391,155

RBERARE 2T —=F+=H
=+—HIEFERRPR S EAR007E
T(ZE— - BE2_F——F+-H
=t+—HIFEBROO7ET)ERES
BRIRN - W AFRERREERRBF A
g _EHER  FAEE BB R FRA
FHRAMDBITRMHB B FTEMEZRD
RHANE B ARZE457 3060008 (=& ——
F : 456,348,000/8 7T ) WEER GRS B 75K
MENERLS—BEE

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2013 of HK$0.07 per
share (2012: HK$0.07 per share in respect of the year ended
31 December 2012) has been proposed by the Directors and is
subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The total amount of HK$457,306,000 (2012:
HK$456,348,000) of the proposed final dividend, calculated on
the Company’s number of shares issued at the date of this annual
report, is not recognised as a liability in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

it REZZ—=F BIREReP RS GER note: In 2013, interim dividend was distributed in cash with scrip option as
PARRRB) a0 : follows:
—E-=F
FET
2013
HK$'000
A% Dividend:
e Cash 160,665
PARRHR S Scrip option 67,509
228,174

1 64 FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



A W A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.

SH o
3= —

BERAER 14.

RRBVEA NEEFBERRTTIREA
TRURAERE:

A

—=F+=-A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

—E—=F —EF——4F

FHET FHET
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
2% Earnings
IEREARBEFMENARRRESE ABGZEF)  Earnings attributable to
owners of the Company
for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 3,338,373 2,324,370
—E—= —E—_F
2013 2012
BB Number of shares
TERERZFM S M INEEHIHE Weighted average number
of shares for the purpose
of basic earnings per
share 6,522,479,250 6,519,255,462

RAAR B EESEARE TELE SR
B BRI 2 5| B A EEE R A -

No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did
not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding.
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BE_ZT—=F+=-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2013
=5
15. BE&E 15. FIXED ASSETS
TR
BEY BERRE URRE Hitn EBIR Fot ]
T#x TEx TiEx T TiEx TR
Land and Plant and Logistic Construction
buildings machinery  equipment Others in progress Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(D% COST
RNZE——%—-Hf—H At 1 January 2012 7,323,007 20,283,849 2,155,903 1,205,592 3,175,624 34,143975
NE Additions 116,521 306,002 247,368 88,598 2,465,521 3,224,010
WRERTB A R] (A77#38)  Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 38) = = - - 3,809 3,809
ERTRBTRER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 602,875 1,863,742 67,086 129274 (2,662,977) -
HE Disposals (47,136) (165,976) (38,304) (6,324) = (257,740)
fEH AR Exchange adjustments (1,322) (3,760) (387) (222) (584) (6,275)
R-E——% At 31 December 2012
+-A=+—H 7993945 22,283,857 2,431,666 1,416,918 2981393 37,107,779
NE Additions 637,985 337,515 186,754 78,320 905,495 2,146,069
WM B A E] (#1:#38)  Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 38) 32,692 6,522 317 93 - 39,624
HRIRRTRER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 584,589 809,521 53,821 30604  (1,478535) =
HE Disposals (34,197) (76,536) (44,044) (9,031) - (163,858)
fE A% Exchange adjustments 243,233 694,344 73,717 43284 93,182 1,147,760
RZE—=%F At 31 December 2013
+-A=1+—-H 94568247 24,055,173 2,702,231 1,560,183 2,501,535 40,277,374
2T EERE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
R-Z——%—F—H At 1 January 2012 513,227 2,860,014 529,949 226,540 - 4,129,730
FERAX Charge for the year 216,849 1,168,198 171,216 79,234 - 1,635,497
e Disposals (32,962) (144,575) (32,072) (4,997) = (214,606)
[EH A% Exchange adjustments 546 3,091 388 214 - 4239
RZT—ZF At 31 December 2012
+-A=+—H 697,660 3,886,728 669,481 300,991 - 5,554,860
FERY Charge for the year 268,164 1,210,555 196,745 84,765 - 1,760,229
RIEZAERAREER  Imparment loss recognised in
(i) profit or loss (nofe) 123,470 160,677 2,267 560 66,336 353,310
HE Disposals (12,589) (58,141) (33,257) (6,593) = (110,580)
B 5 S Exchange adjustments 25,539 134,951 21,593 9,856 1,052 192,991
R-ZT—= At 31 December 2013
+-A=+—H 1,102,244 5,334,770 856,829 389,579 67,388 7,750,810
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZT—= At 31 December 2013
+-A=+—~H 8,356,003 18,720,403 1,845,402 1,170,609 2434147 32,526,564
RZT——%F At 31 December 2012
+-A=+—H 7,296,285 18,397,129 1,762,185 1,115,927 2981,393 31,552,919
EmFrZaEERM SEMEEEER Others mainly comprise office furniture and equipment and
& leasehold improvements.
it BE-T =F+-A=1+—HILFER" note: ~ During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Directors conducted a

EEUAKENEETEEETER BT
ETHEARMNEERNHRBEREL
EERBRE Bt A EEEEEDHER
BB B 18 /43353,310 000 7T »

review of the Group’s production assets and determined that the assets of
certain subsidiaries were fully impaired due to damage and obsolescence.
Accordingly, impairment loss of HK$353,310,000 has been recognised in
respect of those fixed assets.
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HE-_T—=F+_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013
15. EEE (#) 15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)
R-TE—=F+_A=+—Hst \EEL Included in construction in progress at 31 December 2013 is
R E R REF 5622420008 7T (=& interest capitalised of HK$62,242,000 (2012:HK$68,139,000).
— 4 168,139,000/ 7T) ©
—_Eg—= ==
FET THT
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
AEBM T HREFHEREAESE: Carrying values of the land
and buildings of the
Group comprise:
Fris & B Properties in Hong Kong
held on
—HHEIF A — medium-term leases 158,838 163,576
T4 AR B A b 4 5 Properties in the Chinese
Mainland held on
—H A — medium-term leases 8,177,540 7,132,657
— R EEA — short-term leases 19,625 52
8,356,003 7,296,285
16. A HERE 16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
—E—= —T——F
FET T
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
TE TR EFRIBEEE - Total prepaid lease
payments:
AR A R AR & 14 Medium-term leasehold
land in the Chinese
Mainland 2,814,133 2,566,177
JB IR — N B R IR H IR Less: Amount which will be
(FEAE A EUWFIEA) charged to profit or
loss within one year
(included in other
receivables) (61,813) (55,693)
2,752,320 2,510,484
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HE-_Z—=F+-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

BEANBEERE 8 16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS (cContinued)
FENEERENEENT Movements of prepaid lease payments are as follows:
—E—= —ET——F
FET T
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEEH Balance at beginning of
the year 2,566,177 2,393,684
NE Additions 229,672 238,081
F N 5 Release for the year (61,107) (61,640)
HE Disposals - (3,283)
PE R Exchange adjustments 79,391 (665)
F R Balance at end of the year 2,814,133 2,566,177
TEfHE E IR SRR AN PR35 =505 The lease terms over which the prepaid lease payments are
o amortised ranged from 35 to 50 years.
17. REW=E 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
—E—=fF — T4
FE&xT T
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEEH Balance at beginning of
the year 67,000 59,000
N EBEEZD) Change in fair value 10,000 8,000
FREEH Balance at end of the year 77,000 67,000

AEBIRBE LA AREE SR
BLimEERS RO BRRENE
WA BEMEATR

AEBEEMER-_"ZT—=F+=A
=t+—HBR-E——Ft+-A=1t—HK
AN BE IR B BN BN R ) 5
VAR BEEMEMBERTERARN
BB R EE

All of the Group’s leasehold interests in land held under operating
leases to earn rental are classified and accounted for as
investment property.

The fair value of the Group's investment property as at 31
December 2013 and 31 December 2012 has been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates
by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group.
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HE-_T—=F+_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2013
17. BEWE =) 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)
N EETIRBETISHELBIAEE - A The fair value was determined based on the market sales
SERBEFEHRA 2 HER A EE comparable approach. There has been no change from the
g0 valuation technique used in the prior year.
RIEFTZEMEN A TEER & kx In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best
FEERANMERBEEERERANME- use of the property is their current use.
R-ZE—=F+-_A=+—H AEEKR Details of the Group’s investment property and information about
BEYENFBERERATEESRMNER the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2013 are as follows:
HIT -
R=ZZB—=F
+=—A=+—8
KA EE
FHT
Fair value
as at
31.12.2013
HK$'000
F_RILEYE Investment property classified as Level 2 77,000
RER - WHEBE —RHPeE A - There were no transfers into or out of Level 2 during the year.
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BE_ZT—=F+=-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2013

PR HE 1O ] 8 R 4 B 10105 25046 1

= o
=T

18. B EE 18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BmE iR st
FET FHExT FH&x
Mining
Goodwill rights Total
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
2% COST
R-ZZE——F At 1 January 2012
—H—H 1,255,030 633,255 1,888,285
NE Additions - 205,889 205,889
AR AR Adjustment on cost = (28,254) (28,254)
W EEHT B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries
(#71:£38) (Note 38) 391 - 391
PE R 2 Exchange adjustments 5,179 (118) 5,061
RZE——F At 31 December 2012
+=—HA=+—H 1,260,600 810,772 2,071,372
NE Additions - 211,195 211,195
U B B B 8 ) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(H715%38) (Note 38) 44 987 - 44,987
ME 52 Exchange adjustments 14,033 25,404 39,437
RZE—=%F At 31 December 2013
+=—RA=+—H 1,319,620 1,047,371 2,366,991
Rt ACCUMULATED
AMORTISATION
RN-ZZTE——%F At 1 January 2012
—H—H - 58,440 58,440
FERX Charge for the year = 48,146 48,146
& 5 5 Exchange adjustments = 159 159
RN-ZZTE——%F At 31 December 2012
+=-A=+—8 - 106,745 106,745
FERY Charge for the year = 55,788 55,788
I 5, B Exchange adjustments = 4,242 4,242
RZE—=%F At 31 December 2013
+=-A=+—8 - 166,775 166,775
BRHEE CARRYING VALUES
RZE—=F At 31 December 2013
+—A=+—H 1,319,620 880,596 2,200,216
MR-T—_%F At 31 December 2012
+=—A=+—H 1,260,600 704,027 1,964,627

The useful lives of mining rights ranged from 10 to 50 years.
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19.

20.

Dy
BE

723 R BRI B

EEETHRATEEMEEHENASE
EENREFERE-

RETRENR BEEDEZHKE
LS IR OB R 8 D EPAERKRIIR &
EESMHE DEEEREEMNKENER
HRIMECEESEVANEEREES
Al A1,271,807,0008 7 (Z T — =4
1,213,574,0007% 7t ) }%47,813,0007 7T, (=
T— — 4 14702600008 7T ) °

REBMKE R LI S EEBENEN
AUl e RERE AEEEEETE  WiRE
EREEM AN BEERINRSRE
ARNR T ERRR% (ZE——F :3% )
WRERIY (ZE— % :12% )R
KT E I REDENTEERIBAE
T NEBABITENTHRAEREK
AFHRMESRERATIRREME -
FTEFEREENEERRITEEEFE
ZEFEZRBNKBTRRAREEEHT
BRRMNTBHMET

EEERRE  ZERRMAERAEHNR
RERAEMNEE T ISR
ARE AR EB A E A Y 48

A

19.

=F+=-A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2013

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

The management regularly determines if there is impairment of
any of its CGUs containing goodwill.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement
operating segment and concrete operating segment. The
carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the groups of CGUs
of cement and concrete operations are HK$1,271,807,000
(2012: HK$1,213,574,000) and HK$47,813,000 (2012:
HK$47,026,000), respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the groups of CGUs of cement and
concrete operations have been determined based on the value in
use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by the management covering a
five-year period with growth rate of 3% (2012: 3%), and discount
rate of 9% (2012: 12%). This growth rate is based on the industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. The cash flows beyond the
five year period are extrapolated using zero growth rate. The key
assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross
margin, which is determined based on the unit's past performance
and management’s expectations for the market development.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of cement and concrete segments to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of cement and concrete segments.

REiE XN TN ER 20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—B—=fF —EF——4F
FET TAT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE TR - RS Unlisted shares, at cost 2,027,931 2,036,355
PE H SR Exchange adjustments 71,151 23,713
O BERREEE Less: Impairment loss

recognised (45,000) (45,000)

W B 18 FE (G B9 B FRAR 2. Share of post-acquisition
profits net of dividend 338,861 270,955
2,392,943 2,286,023

AR 2013 Annual Report 1 7 1
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HE_T

=FF=H=+1

HIEFE

20. REFE N RIMER ()

FEEMRERABIE B L A BIPTE
) 8745368 000/ T (— T —— 4 :

745,368 00075 7T, ) ©

WoF——F AEEABE AR

30,053,000 7T

REE T ZHENRINFBNT

20.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Included in the cost of unlisted investments is a goodwill of
HK$745,368,000 (2012: HK$745,368,000) arising on the
acquisition of an associate.

In 2012, the Group made capital injection of HK$30,053,000 into

associates.

Details of the Group’s principal associates are as follows:

rEEEE
ERTR ERTRHEE
BENRER BRI e B BRREEMEX EMEARL LB TEXHK
—E-=f —ZT—_F
Proportion of
Issued and nominal value
fully paid of issued share/
Place of share capital/ registered capital
Name of associate incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activity
2013 2012
EREEmE hE N ARE 49% 9% B
BREMRH 150,000,0007%
Guangxi Rungui Water Chinese Mainland RMB150,000,000 Transportation
Transportation Limited
EEREMEBRAA FE A N 49% 9%  EBH
10,000,0007%
Zhaoging Runging Water Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Transportation
Transportation Limited
BEASERT HEl A, AR - 0%  ORBRTAEREE
BEREAEAF 20,000,0007T
Hainan Haidao Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. concrete
ARG RAIRRD hE R AR 40.6% 406%  KREEEEE
BB A7 600,000,0007T
Inner Mongolia Mengxi Chinese Mainland RMB600,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Cement Co., Ltd.

EER/ LRI ARRERBE AR
HEEXEAERFEIBRARENE
EFEMNEREMD - 35 E bR A R]A

EACE NI

cement

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the year
or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other associates would result in particulars of excessive
length.
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20.

REBEQATNER (&)

EERN ARENBE AR 2 ER R
TERX - ARENBE QRN AFTHHE
BHEFIEAT - OIS E R R R

RERBEBHMHREEARRNOI R
RGNS

BE

20.

NH

T—=F+—=

A=+—RItFE

For the year ended 31 December 2013

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, the associates of the Group are all
individually not material. Aggregate financial information in respect
of the Group’s associates is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with

HKFRSs.
Hﬁﬁ%’& RTINS 4 A S R A R R The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these
aA AR consolidated financial statements.
—ZE—= —T——F
FET FET
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000

BERAE Total assets 8,606,303 7,972,120
BfEAE Total liabilities (4,477,228) (4,121,701)
BEFE Net assets 4,129,075 3,850,419
AEEEEBEARNEEFRE Group’s share of net

assets of associates 1,647,575 1,540,655
== Turnover 4,220,914 3,608,817
FEAT Profit for the year 241,530 337,337
REB RGBS QARMNFEREEE Group's share of results of

associates for the year 98,406 136,640

AERR 2013 Annual Report 1 7 3
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21.
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REERTWER 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
=2 —=fF —E——F
FET TFET
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
REEARIRIELEMIREKA Cost of unlisted investments
in joint ventures 1,119,508 1,119,508
IE % A% Exchange adjustments 44,526 25,073
B2 M B TR S Share of post-acquisition
profits net of dividends 324,424 236,836
JEI & &R R IR Amount due from
a joint venture 238,584 -
1,727,042 1,381,417

FEM A 2 R RFRAEERR MIRTS
fEEME S

R-ZE—=F+_A=+—H &8%AF
HIEEX AT BIEEBES E A RIFTE
ARG ER141,235,0008 7 ( ZE——4:

141,235000/ 7T ) °

AEEEEEERANFHBNT:

The amount due from a joint venture is unsecured and bear
interest at prevailing market borrowing rates.

As at 31 December 2013, included in the cost of investment

in joint ventures is goodwill of HK$141,235,000 (2012:
HK$141,235,000) arising on acquisitions of joint ventures.

Details of the Group's principal joint ventures are as follows:

BROZEREE/ FERERECRIRGER/

AR AR AR B AL 2 TEER & A Yt TEER
“BE-zfF —ET——&
Proportion of
Nominal value nominal value of
of issued issued share/
Place of ordinary shares/ registered capital
Name of company incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activity
2013 2012
HE OB BR AR BEE 26,290 7T 50% 50% KERRERTEmEE
EHHE
China Century Bermuda US$26,290 Manufacture and sale of
Cement Limited cement and concrete
products
Bz EXERAR BE 5,000 7T 50% 50%  REEERS
Easy Point Industrial Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$5,000 Provision of management
Services
AIEKEBRAH B 10,0007 T 50% 50% KREEEREE
Squareal Cement Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Manufacture and sale of

cement
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21.

REERANER (® 21.

EERB/LRINBNAKENESERF]
HEEREEEEFEIBRARENE
EFENERED - $IIE M E QRN
AHIEEBNIIR.

EER R ARENAERRZEMER S
TER-AEENGERANAFTHHE
ﬂﬁﬁlmlﬂ? c NI ERBERNEZ

REREE B G E ER RN TSR
RIS EE

BREAKRERAE QR Emn (FRAED
ENR) M E R ESF T :

Uil

BE-T-=FT-A=t—AL%E

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The above table lists the joint venture of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the year
or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other joint venture would result in particulars of excessive
length.

In the opinion of the Directors, the joint ventures of the Group
are all individually not material. Aggregate financial information
in respect of the Group’s joint ventures is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents amounts
shown in the joint venture’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
interests in the joint ventures which are accounted for using equity
method is set out below:

—E—= —ET——F
FHBT THET
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
MENEE Current assets 1,035,032 907,215
EMBEE Non-current assets 1,279,624 1,283,530
REBEE Current liabilities 468,993 360,884
FEREEE Non-current liabilities 741,318 835,378
IR = Non-controlling interests 333,786 316,592
RiBm AR 2 Wt Income recognised

in profit or loss 1,115,050 1,074,049

RiIBmAERZFAX Expense recognised
in profit or loss 1,041,830 1,015,163

AERR 2013 Annual Report 1 7 5
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HE_ZT—=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
22. EEBIE 22. DEFERRED TAXATION
AR ABANEE RN EREN B EE The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
(BE) MERAREEZ RN ES - recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the year.
—RPE
MEHE EBEHE REME BEFE BHEQAN
nE AFPEERE AVEESD REM ASREA @t
TR TR TR THEx TR TR
Fair value Change in Distributable
Accelerated  adjustments  fair value of Tax profits of
tax  on business investment losses aPRC
depreciation  combinations property and others associate Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZF——F—F—H A1 January 2012 (28462) (67,737) (6,734) 95,318 - (7615)
AEZA (%) Credit (charge) for the year
(hii11) (Note 11) 2,100 1,764 (1,320) 28,114 (13,619) 17,039
E-{EING Acquisition of subsidiaries
(H13238) (Note 38) - - - 3% - 3%
EHRE Exchange adjustments = (161) = 668 (128) 379
WZZE—ZF At 31 December 2012
+-A=+-A (26,362) (66,134) (8,054) 124,456 (13,747) 10,159
AEFFA (H05%) Credit (charge) for the year
(Hii11) (Note 11) 1,772 3,366 (1,650) 24,242 (5,223) 22,507
iR Exchange adjustments = (3,256) = 4,180 462) 462
RZE-—=% At 31 December 2013
+-A=+—-H (24,590) (66,024) (9,704) 152,878 (19,432) 33,128
== —F——4F
FET FET
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
EET B E EE Deferred tax assets 152,878 124,456
RIERIA R B Deferred tax liabilities (119,750) (114,297)
33,128 10,159
R-ZE—=F+=_B=+—H K& As at 31 December 2013, the Group has unused tax losses of
Al KRR B R A K EH T IE HK$1,772,406,000 (2012: HK$1,494,686,000) available to offset
E518 &1,772,406,0008 7T (—Z T — = against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
£ :1,494,686,000/8 ) c Fh i & & in respect of HK$611,513,000 (2012: HK$497,824,000) of
611,513,000 L (=& — =4 : such losses. No deferred tax assets have been recognised
497,824,000/ 7T ) B IERIEETR IHE = in respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$1,160,893,000
T BT I8 E5181,160,893,0000%8 7T (= (2012: HK$996,862,000) due to the unpredictability of future
T — — £ :996,862,0005 7T ) B 1A K 2R profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
2 RO A A TR ORI - I R R AT AR HK$260,091,000 (2012: HK$251,193,000) which will expire 5
ERIBEE sTARERANIEEIEDN years from the year of origination. Other losses may be carried
&5 18 49260,091,000/8 7T (Z & — — 4 : forward indefinitely.

251,193,000/ 70 ) #X B EA FRERF
B H - At B R ] BE SRR B A -
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23. REEWNKIEA

24.

HE-Z-=F+-A=t+—ALLFE

23. LONG TERM RECEIVABLES

—_Eg—= —E——4F
FEx FAT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
REH] At the beginning of the year 713,983 604,278
FABK Advances during the year 10,838 394,204
FARER Repayment during the year (62,712) (284,386)
PE W E Exchange adjustments 22,358 (113)
684,467 713,983
JB - —F B EA R 5RIE Less: Amount due
(T AE M EURIR) within one year
(included in other
receivables) (63,781) (80,935)
RER At the end of the year 620,686 633,048

ZEFR T Frp Bl T BT A DR AN SR
B EEE - PAB A AR o X BN E
HR A RPBEARRITEEHNRITHSE
B S -

The advances were made to the local governments in the PRC
to facilitate the transfer of land to the Group for construction of
production lines. The advances were unsecured and carried
interest at the prevailing market borrowing rates determined by
The People’s Bank of China.

®E 24. INVENTORIES

—E—= —T——F
FHET FET
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000

R R I FE S Raw materials and
consumables 1,480,872 1,456,356
=8 m Work in progress 315,455 477 874
2K Finished goods 335,634 387,923
2,131,961 2,322,153

AERR 2013 Annual Report 1 7 7
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D JL/JE’:/E

BE-_Z—=F+_-A=+

25. BRESZRMR R EMENR 25.

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

FIE RECEIVABLES
—E—=F —E——4F
FHBT THET
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000

JERE=ZFHEZER Trade receivables from
third parties 3,160,638 2,475,199

eI R 2B A RINE SR Trade receivables from
fellow subsidiaries 31,247 17,011
3,191,885 2,492,210

AEBAERTERP AR HZAME
TROECOR M FIHEE HHIESR °

AT BREREHARRIEER BHDIRE
FEUE 5 8RR (FIRR RIZARMIR) HOBRER

The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit period to its
customers ranging from O to 60 days from the date of issuance of

invoices.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice

DT dates at the end of each reporting period.
—E2—= —E-—F
FE T FAT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
0z290H 010 90 days 3,011,119 2,299,264
91F180H 91 to 180 days 102,471 106,317
181£365H 181 to 365 days 78,295 86,629
3,191,885 2,492,210

A B RO E B B W B 3 BR AR RR IR

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

—g—= —E——4F

FBT FHET

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

#HI1ZE90H Past due 1 to 90 days 354,764 262,059
#H912180H Past due 91 to 180 days 80,613 90,648
#HEA181F365H Past due 181 to 365 days 46,088 44,909
481,465 397,616

ARER B AL A A A B R

[}
an °

The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances which

are past due.
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BE-ZZE—=F+=-H=+1 HIEFE
EWESERF R EMmEW 25. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
MIH (@) RECEIVABLES (Continued)
RERBENEH Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
—g—= —E——4F
FET FAT
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FYEEH Balance at beginning of
the year 90,280 72,505
RIZEREIR Allowance for
doubtful debts 72,597 14,711
FRE WA Amounts recovered
during the year 8,972 3,235
H 85 ] U B 5108 Amount written off
as uncollectible (1,300) (241)
PE 5 AR Exchange adjustments 4,520 70
FRER Balance at end of the year 175,069 90,280

FEEETE MU 5 AR ] M B 1 B - AR
FeETRBREESEINEEER A
REPERREX  RIEREETRERNIZE
BIR At BAFLE— SRR

REBRZZE—=F+=ZA=+—
HEEMEKRREBERBEBENRK
7] 61,100,000 L (= — =% :
143,109,000 7t ) * B 1 R # %} ¢
FETE R E] £734,919,00008 & (=&
— — % :482,907,000/ 70 ) ~ EH 31T
% F163,185,0008 L (=T — =% :
70,379,0007% 7T ) ~ 1B B K& H th ] I
o] £ 78313,856,000/8 7t (=& — — 4 :
421,423,0007% 7t ) K &= Bf & Y 51 18 #9 B
H1¥81963,781,0008 L (—ZF— &
80,935,000/ 7T ) °

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group
considers the credit quality of individual trade receivable. The
concentration risk of credit is limited due to the customer base
being large. Accordingly, no further allowance is required.

Included in the Group’s other receivables at 31 December
2013 are prepayment and deposits of HK$61,100,000 (2012:
HK$143,109,000), deposits paid to suppliers of raw materials
of HK$734,919,000 (2012: HK$482,907,000), bond issuance
expenses of HK$63,185,000 (2012: HK$70,379,000),
value-added tax and other tax recoverable of HK$313,856,000
(2012: HK$421,423,000) and current portion of long term
receivables of HK$63,781,000 (2012: HK$80,935,000).

R 2013 Annual Report 1 7 9
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HE-F

26.

27.

28.

=F+-_A=1+—HLFE

WS ERAIRMIR
R A RHR AR TS

BEMEFE (BRTXATiEIN) kAR
AR AR EE

26.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, bear interest
at prevailing market borrowing rates except as described below
and repayable as follows:

—g—= —EF——4F

FET FHT

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$'000

JEE K On demand 90,245 327,367
RAEARA Within six months 298,348 336,159
388,593 663,526

790,245,000 L (=& — = F :
327,367,000/ 7T ) KO 78 & Z SRk (H 38 5 IE

H - £ 587,700,000 L (ZF — —4F:
6,500,000/ 7T ) FEILE & A Bl K I8 A K
BRI B -

EEHRITER

7N £ B B B #13,171,00008 ST R 1T R
(ZZ— 4% : 4,977,000/ 7T ) AEUS —H&
RITRE -
EE%&&E? n\ﬂﬁ?

SFASRITAE SR AR N B BE R ThAE
LASMN S HE S HE R ZRIBLA T ©

=L

27.

28.

Included in the amounts repayable on demand of HK$90,245,000
(2012: HK$327,367,000), the amount of HK$7,700,000 (2012:
HK$6,500,000) due from joint ventures is unsecured and non-
interest bearing.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The Group has pledged bank deposits of HK$3,171,000 (2012:
HK$4,977,000) to secure general banking facilities.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Included in bank balances are the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they are related.

—E—= —E——F

FE T FAT

2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 324,872 651,803
ZE ([ZET]) United States Dollars

(“US$") 36,019 93,732

]. 80 FM K VBB A BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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HE-Z-=F+-A=t+—ALLFE

28. BERIBITHEER ) 28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued)
—_Eg—= —E——4F
% %
2013 2012
% %
IRITEHRNF R E Range of interest rates of
the bank balances 0.01 - 2.86 0.01 -2.60

29. ENREZERM R HEMEN 29. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER PAYABLES

FIH
—E—= —E—_F
F#&xT T
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FENE=FME SRR Trade payables to
third parties 3,225,011 3,361,872
JERRRENBAGKE SRR Trade payables to
fellow subsidiaries 21,162 24,520
3,246,173 3,386,392
REEREREHEHIS0ENVEEER The Group normally receives credit period of 30 to 90 days from
o AT BN S3RE BiARIR 53 22 H HR %) its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
THIENE 58RI BR i AT o presented based on the invoice date at the end of each reporting
period.
—E—= —E——F
FET T
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
0£90H 010 90 days 2,973,675 3,132,940
91%2180H 91 to 180 days 182,079 137,577
181%365H 181 to 365 days 49,660 67,524
B iE365H Over 365 days 40,759 48,351
3,246,173 3,386,392

AR 2018 Annual Report 1 8 ].
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HE-F

29.

30.

31.

=F+-A=+—BILtFE

BNEZRAREMES 29.

o .
I8 (')

AEER=-_ZE—=F+=-A=+—8HK
HihfERIBP RIEEMEERRIER
L B [ 7E & & A9 FE < $0IE11,270,401,000
B (& — =4 :1,379,715,0007%
) WBHBARRAENRINE
it X (384,489,000 7t (=& — —
& :495,122,000 L) “RERFH
5] £507,942,0008 T (=T — =4
544,909,000/ 7T) * & < T E647,946,000
FEIT (T — 4 : 362,374,000/ 7T ) Mk
B 1 FE R /R 2B 4:391,639,0008 7T (==
— £ : 521 457,000/ 7T ) ©

BENEEZRQAME

SR A REER RN AREREE -

REBEZERARER

R-E—=F+-_A=+—8 HEH
RAEBZREBEEZERARZERK.
R—E—=—&E+=-_A=+—H B

1,330881,000/8 T AEIEA IR ITTH 5
fEERFIZRE B R AR EL B 5% B HR X
18 A AEIE - SRR A AR A B S
BBIRET -

R-T——F AREEERZRER AR
A AREERBE B - ZEFRE
BRELRN RERARERER KK
BAEERRITEN MAMRERARA
BEEEAS NFEENMBENKER-

KT — 5 KK EH155638320,000
77T (FBE 7 A R #54,584,000,0007T ) &)
ERVCBBERE-MELENTBKER
B FRA /172,000,000 T (KERARK
140,000,0007T) °

30.

31.

TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER PAYABLES

(Continued)

Included in the Group’s other payables at 31 December 2013 are
payables to constructors and for the acquisition of fixed assets of
HK$1,270,401,000 (2012: HK$1,379,715,000), consideration
payables for acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures of
HK$384,489,000 (2012: HK$495,122,000), deposits from
customers of HK$507,942,000 (2012: HK$544,909,000), wages
payables of HK$647,946,000 (2012: HK$362,374,000) and
guarantee deposits from suppliers of HK$391,639,000 (2012:
HK$521,457,000).

AMOUNT DUE TO IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The amount is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

LOANS FROM INTERMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANIES

As at 31 December 2013, there was no outstanding loan from
intermediate holding company. As at 31 December 2012, loans of
HK$1,330,881,000 were unsecured, bore interest at the prevailing
market borrowing rates and were repayable within six months from
the date the loans were made. The interest expenses charged by
intermediate holding companies are set out in Note 7.

In 2012, the Group entered into a RMB loan facility arrangement
with its intermediate holding company. The loan facility was
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The Group
was allowed to borrow from banks and its intermediate holding
company was responsible for the repayment and all finance costs
incurred. Loans amounted to HK$5,638,320,000 (equivalent to
RMB4,584,000,000) were obtained by the Group and have been
fully repaid in 2012. The amount of finance costs incurred was
approximately HK$172,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB140,000,000).
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HE-T—=F+-A=+—ALEE
32. SRITEN 32. BANK LOANS
—E—= —_F—
FET FAT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
AR T HBEEENRITER: Bank loans are repayable
as follows:
—FRX Within one year 6,171,482 7,607,433
—FREMFR After one year but
within two years 3,810,277 4,182,979
MEBEBE=FNK After two years but
within three years 7,359,413 4,132,601
ZFRENFR After three years but
within four years - 1,761,664
MERERFR After four years but
within five years - 61,663
AEMRE After five years - 30,832
17,341,172 17,777,172
JBEEAREBIBER —F A E BRI IR Less: Amount due within

one year included
in current liabilities (6,171,482) (7,607,433)

—F 1 B HAIRFIE Amount due after one year 11,169,690 10,169,739
B (F) Secured (note) - 339,149
i Unsecured 17,341,172 17,438,023

17,341,172 17,777,172

BITEREEERFEL -BHEZT Bank loans were arranged at fixed and variable rates. The effective
—=F+ZA=1+—HLFE FAEEIF interest rates of the Group's bank loans ranged from 1.1% to
TTEFNEENENEENN].1%E64% 6.4% for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: 1.2% to
ZE(ZE——F 12%%66%) ° 6.6%).
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32. BITER =) 32.

BANK LOANS (continued)

The analysis of the terms of the bank loans is as follows:

—E—= —ET——F

FHET FHET

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$'000

EEER Fixed rate borrowings 2,416,591 986,616
FRER Variable rate borrowings 14,924,581 16,790,556
17,341,172 17,777,172

SEARTTERN SR EERAEEEE A
SN EEEEHERFIRIA T :

Included in bank loans were the following amounts denominated

in currencies other than the functional currency of the respective

group entity:

—_E—= —E——4F
FET FHIT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT HK$ 11,000,000 9,820,000
ETT us$ 930,552 1,164,937
11,930,552 10,984,937

it SRITE AN T B E (R - note: ~ The bank loans were secured by the following assets:
—E—=F —F——F
FTHExT FHT
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
+ 1 R Y Land and buildings - 130,595
B K 7R A Plant and machinery - 63,866
T EERIE Prepaid lease payments - 6,156
R Mining rights - 111,072
- 311,689
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33.

EEHES

RZZE-—F+ARR RARHRES
E{EQ.75% B EBRITASRES
400,000,000 7T (#8%5 543,100,696,0007&
T HERIBRELES ([EF]) &
REBEF2ID%T 8 BFEFXINN—
RANR—F—tF+ARRRH-ES
B

BENEEMERXZMARLAR LM (K
O3k 1 4569) - BEFN—F—=F1+_A
=1 — B HEEMHKFT#I/2400,000,000
7T (8% 53,101,840,000/ 7T ) * ETI1R
REFNE A RHEEE

BERESFNAE RN ENFEZERA
ERBOTAERATDBTEDITHRHENTH
REHERERE BRIFTRICEBOER
Bl KatsH  BAIAKE/R —F -5+
AR BREARSEEN100%EEIES - =
T—tF+ AR ARNEARRE E5A
AN EE R H RS FM100% 250 (M
FEEDD) EENEEE D B e TS
(FHEHERE A (ETeE%E) )E
[B]

33.

BE-%

=FH=H= HIEFE

UNSECURED BONDS

On 5 October 2012, the Company issued credit enhanced senior
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of US$400,000,000
(equivalent to HK$3,100,696,000) at an offer price of 99.75%
of the face value of the bonds (the “Bonds”). The Bonds bear
coupon interest at the rate of 2.125% per annum payable semi-
annually in arrears and are due on 5 October 2017. The Bonds
are unsecured.

The Bonds are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (Stock Code: 4569). The fair value of the Bonds at 31
December 2013 was estimated at approximately US$400,000,000
(equivalent to HK$3,101,840,000), which was determined based
on the closing market price of the Bonds on the same date.

Payments of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds are
covered by an irrevocable standby letter of credit issued by DBS
Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch. Unless previously redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Group will redeem the Bonds at
100% of its principal amount on 5 October 2017. At any time
prior to 5 October 2017, the Bonds may be redeemed at the
option of the Group in whole, but not in part, at 100% of their
principal amount together with accrued interest (calculated up
to but excluding the date of redemption) on the date fixed for
redemption.
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HE-_ZE—=F1+=A=4

34. SHARE CAPITAL

35.

BHEE o}
TFET
Number of
shares Amounts
HK$'000
HRXMEE0.1078 A I Bk - Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each:
JETE Authorised:
RZZE——_F—H—H" At 1 January 2012,
TR FRZFT—=F 31 December 2012 and 2013
+=-—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BETRETE: Issued and fully paid:
R—ZF——F—H—B8X At 1 January 2012 and
—_E——_H#+=-A=+—H 31 December 2012 6,519,255,462 651,926
H_T—=FFhHREMRIE Issued pursuant to scrip
AR B 5T 8 pTEsrT dividend scheme for 2013
interim dividends 13,682,355 1,368
R-TE—=F+=-H=+—H At 31 December 2013 6,532,937,817 653,294

EXEBERE

AEBTEHER  URRAEENELS
ST ARER S - BB LT RS
R R REAE R - R REFE -
BB R S o

AEENEAZEBIRER (KT a5
A2 ERAVERTTE R - PR3 B E
7) RARRIER ARG HER (B0 %
TTRA R fréffe)

ARBEREGVFEZ REXRE-
ERLEZN—HD EEESEREAR
PR R A E BRI B AR R RO © AN SR
FRBEE R BRES SR MNRE
PREEAT BRI AR BT ESHER
RAEBSRFEHEERRE-

35.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
in both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes the bank loans disclosed in Note 32, unsecured bonds
in Note 33 and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associates with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management,
the Group will balance its overall structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.
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BE-_ZE—=F+-R= BIEFEE
£@mTITHE 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SR ITENER Categories of financial instruments
—E—= —T——F
FET FET
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
SREE Financial assets
ERNERFGIE (BERERRESEEY) Loans and receivables
(including cash and
cash equivalents) 7,328,482 7,436,559
sREE Financial liabilities
b ST 0) DN Amortised cost 25,807,728 28,068,779

CREABREENEEREE

AEENFECREERABRIEREK
E BRI R B RIS - U A & AR
A - REAFEUGRIE - EEMRIRI T
© RIRTTHERS BRI B SRR R B FE(S

FOE - BN EEERARNIE - EEIRE
% RITEK &/H\@EHHJEH T o SR 5
SR T EMFHEE AR R EE - 61
Z5 o T AR AR R AR RZE

[RBR FYBUR E T3 e Efiaﬁ)}iﬁ*ﬁf
ZERE - DAEIRAE RSB U EREVE E
Y

FE m g

7R R 8 R L 5 A6 SRR THE R S BRI E
7 (BB E SIS R M E325%33)
R A FEENRELR - ANEE S ERE
FE SR ASIF B 3R o ANSR[B3R By O SR8 R 4
R o R - BIRE R BRI E R - I
TP U6 BB E R B A AN R [

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade
and other receivables, amounts due from joint ventures, long term
receivables, pledged bank deposits, cash and bank balances,
trade and other payables, amount due to immediate holding
company, unsecured bonds, bank loans and other long-term
payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies about how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank borrowings and unsecured bonds (see Notes
32 and 33 for details of these borrowings). The Group aims at
keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group currently does not
have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.
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36.

£RT R (@)
LREAREENEERBE (&)
FIEmB (&)

AEBE T EESREKS S ARFEF
A REEMFARIRITER (B
1B RIMEE26 - 23%32) IR £ i & =
B2 o ANER B BSR R S B R F 2R
M A FEENERRRERE-

AEE RS A E NS B R A AR
RBRA RS & T bR E I —FIA R
it AEENR SREN REREEED
RAEB BT M AR HERETAE
ENBEBRITAERE RPBEARRITE
RS EIE

AR BN RE R SERE TR S REIR
HRMEEIRTTE RO R E R METE °

@ F R _EF /T PRS0 E 24 T A At
BEXRFTE AAEEEE_T—=
F+-_A=+—BLLFERAERHD
/N #961,730,000 7T (B — — £
68,707,000 7T ) °

BXmEpE

AEEERABEEREEEAINE
BINEMRTTAER  BERESRMRTE
TP R H) B R (R RARE28 33
Ke32) o AN IRy I M SR SN R A
RSN SRR - AT ERETER
BRSNE SRR - WV BB
HHREANEEER

36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate amounts due from joint ventures, long term
receivable, and bank borrowings (see Notes 26, 23 and 32 for
details). It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Group's
Hong Kong dollar and People’s Bank of China Base Rate arising
from Renminbi denominated borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's sensitivity to interest rate risk has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for bank loans outstanding
at the end of each of the reporting period.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year
ended 31 December 2013 would be decreased/increased by
approximately HK$61,730,000 (2012: HK$68,707,000).

Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to currency risk is attributable to the
bank balances, unsecured bonds and bank loans which are
denominated in the currencies other than the functional currency
of the entity to which they are related (see Notes 28, 33 and 32
for details). The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure. However,
management monitors the related foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant currency exposure
should the need arise.
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HEE DI

TEREFYIAS B AR H BT RETTE
KEFESBHIBRE - UREDTTEBIEL
SNEEHERE¥EIE B 48R - WIRNFERIN
FETE RE%E BT FIRE - 5 FHE,
BERT AR AT RETTLHES%ET
BYHRBIERFBIG ISR o AR

36.

Hm —F

3E: = —=—F+=-A=+ HIEFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
exchange difference in RMB against HK$ and US$. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at year end for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive or negative number
below indicates an increase or a decrease in post-tax profit

R TTRIETLEEN% Al HkRTis & T where the RMB strengthens 5% against HK$ and US$. For a
B EERNERE - 5% weakening of RMB against HK$ and US$, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit.
—E-= —ET——F
FHET FHIT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
i N R¥E 5T AHE if RMB strengthens
against HK$ 500,407 436,414
i AR 5 E T AHE if RMB strengthens
against US$ 187,334 198,483
=EREE Credit risk

WA SEF RS mEHARREETARS
HERReEENSRT  BIARSE A
ZWEANEERR AR E MSIR R AT
PIMZEEERNREE MASEREER
HOPBRERMAEAINR AN EERRE
M ETA0HE BR )7 8 FR AN B3 HH 0 BA 7
BROSIABEDTE  AEEERRS)
b AEETEEDHE —HE R ENE
EEEHRITLZER—XEHBEEEEER
REE - EEHI R EMEIEIE T LARRIR
BEITEIMITAMR BB ERERS - RS E
IVE HIR &3S B R R S £ @R RN E
SR RIS £ 58 - ARER L AT U]
%%Efﬂmﬁ[)ﬁ’]ﬂ@gﬁ% cHh T E - A
NAEEFRARAEERKE SHERNEE
[B\Bgx AT R AR o

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at the end
of each reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position, while the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk due to financial guarantees
provided by the Group is the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed
in Note 40. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has formulated a defined fixed credit policy and
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group also
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable
regularly at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk on trade receivables is significantly reduced.
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HE

TR (@)
LREAREENEERBE (&)
EEmE ()

nBEEEERRER  RERNEEN
RITRBIFENASEEFRORT

AEENEERRDBNZEARZEHF K
BP BUEEBAETHOEERR -

MEE %Ak

RERREBE SRR NEESETE
EWASHE MRS EEMEREEIEER
RIERHKE - ABASEEEERHTE
EWRERSRERBNTZE - BEHEE T
SERERAKENZERERE AR
REBHMERPRPESHT L BEHES
ERRITEENSRER  YEFRETE
RBA N _F—=F+_A=+—8"

AIHAEEERNEABRRITRENR
14,182,679,000/8 7T - E I AtER R AL E
MATBRNTEZRENERBAE T
IR EEERT T TIER - AR IR
TERREBREZRY I AR A
EERE B M A RIREE A S ERE R
&% BRI AT BEVEH OB SR F H AR
BRABER -

THRFAVAKEETESHBENRIRE
HHIR - TRIVRBAASEBEES R
BEMNSREAHEENSRAENREESR
Reneme LI TE S A EnE
HY B JOARIE 1 E (B3R H IR E -

36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group’s bank
balances are deposited with banks of high credit ratings.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
also regularly monitors the operating cash flow of the Group
to meet its liquidity requirements in short and long term. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants. As at 31 December
2013, the Group has available unutilised banking facilities of
approximately HK$14,182,679,000 to meet the Group's future
expansion and satisfy its existing liabilities. The management is
also in the process of negotiating with the banks to refinance its
short term banking facilities to long term. In addition, the Company
has an intra-group lending agreement among companies of the
China Resources Group whereby borrowings may be made which
will be guaranteed by its ultimate holding company.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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36. @ T A (&)

CREABEENEERBE (&)
FEmE (&)

REED RFF R FE

HE_Z—=F+_A=+—HIFE
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables

—FN0L WENL BRRER
FiHF= - EFEEME AFEBLF BALE REREBARE REE
% TAL FAL FAL FAL FAT FHT
More than More than Total
1 year but 2 years but contractual
Average Within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
% HK$000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000
R-ZT—= As at 31 December 2013
+=A=t-H
ERE S8R Trade payables - 3,246,173 - - - 3,246,173 3,246,173
Hit e FE Other payables - 2,056,813 - - - 2,056,813 2,056,813
R ERER Amount due to
ARIFUE immediate holding
company - 54,956 - - - 54,956 54,956
RITER Bank loans
—FEFI% - Variable rate 25 5,674,489 3905922 5,718,804 - 15,299,215 14,924 581
—EE = — Fixed rate 45 664,262 - 1,859,932 - 2,524,194 2,416,591
EERES Unsecured bonds 21 67,437 67470 3,220,595 - 3,355,502 3,101,840
Hiv REAFEMFUE Other long term payables - 6,774 - - 6,774 6,774
11,764,130 3,980,166 10,799,331 - 26,543,627 25,807,728
RZE—ZF As at 31 December 2012
+=RA=1+-H
ERE S8R Trade payables - 3,386,392 - - - 3,386,392 3,386,392
Hi R FIE Other payables - 2,405,916 - - - 2,405,916 2,405,916
ENEERR  Amount dueto
INSIE- ¢ immediate holding
company - 54,956 - - - 54,956 54,956
RE MR ER Loans from intermediate
AREH holding companies - 1,330,831 - - - 1,330,331 1,330,831
RITER Bank loans
— 5B — Variable rate 30 6,821,199 4,309,580 6,136,187 31,765 17,298,731 16,790,556
— Bl - Fixed rate 6.6 1,051,339 - - - 1,051,339 986,616
BERES Unsecured bonds 2.1 67,379 67,412 3,286,352 - 3421643 3,100,6%
Hty REBFEMFUE Other long term payables - 6,383 6,383 - 12,766 12,766
15,118,062 4,383,375 9,429,422 31,765 28962624 28,068,779
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37.

38.

TREEREREEND
FEE

AEEEHEENERBENAFHERT
BRERWRBERESNMO AR EBEN
MEE °

EFRA REHNAT AR A M HRK
TREREERTRABRNRRERER
FEERSE-

I B B 1B 2 F
BE-—2-=F+t-A=+-ALFE

RANEE - NEBIOBY F =7 WiE/E
RRIUATEKEERAR (RRES
RERKE(RERUWAERRR) ([RE
11 1) 100%As e 25 - 48 AR B 7369,217,000
Bt AREIUEBRENREERHE
Z B ERARBEETHAAR.

37.

38.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2013

During the year, the Group acquired 100% equity interests of
Hainan Wuzhishan Dajiangnan Cement Limited (subsequently
renamed as “China Resources Cement (Wuzhishan) Limited”)
(“Wuzhishan”) from six independent third parties, for a total
consideration of HK$69,217,000. Wuzhishan is principally
engaged in manufacturing and sale of cement. The acquisition
has been accounted for using the acquisition method of
accounting.
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RHTRENBEFERRARNEEE
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BE—_T—=F+_=-A=H BIEFE

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (Continued)

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction and the
goodwill arising on the acquisition are as follows:

WU g
RUkEE B E K
AFEE
FExT
Acquirees’
fair value at
acquisition date
HK$'000
Fir s 6 1 & 2 J5HE - Net assets acquired:
EBE Fixed assets 39,624
78 Inventories 780
o h fE U FRIE Other receivables 7,079
e RIRITHERR Cash and bank balances 398
JERTE SR Trade payables (10,847)
o Ath FE AT /IR Other payables (12,804)
P E & EFE Net assets acquired 24,230
WIS PTEE RO - Goodwill arising on acquisition:
BHEEAE Consideration transferred 69,217
Ja - FTIREE R & E A Less: Net assets acquired (24,230)
1o B8 PiTEE A Y PR Goodwill arising on acquisition 44,987
AR Satisfied by:
HeRE Cash consideration (69,217)
W B 2 A HY 3R U R Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
RENE Cash consideration (69,217)
JB : FE B MRS SRR AT Less: Amounts included in
k] other payables 8,576
J% - BWERIR € RIRITAE R Less: Cash and bank balances
acquired 398
(60,243)
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T—=F+=-A=A HIEFE

W BE B B A | (&)

BE-_Z—=F1+-A=1t—HLLFE
(&)

YRR S AREN RERERED
15 A ST R TRET ARG L R
eSS NEBMKREB X &

FHRLREERPREE—Z—=F1+_H
=+ HIEMERAAEENEXBAR
34,604,000/8 7T K B A BIRA AR
SEZMEEL 158000/ 7T i iE T 3R
WER=—F—=F—H—B5%K AHEX
SEBE—T-=FT-A=1T—HLF
EERBRBNNOZEEM -

BE-_Z——_F+-A=1t—HLLFE

RANEE - NEEIEE F =T W RN
MR ARAF ([2%F ] ) 100%AHE
R BRERS3M6 0008 T -2 FEE
= ERRY - ZWBEEERUEEHA
N

38.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (Continued)

The acquisition of Wuzhishan enabled the Group to extend its
market presence in Hainan province and the anticipated future
operating synergies from the combination would bring benefits to
our cement operations.

Wuzhishan has contributed HK$34,604,000 to the Group’s
turnover and HK$1,158,000 to the Group’s profit attributable to
owners of the Company for the period from the date of acquisition
to 31 December 2013. If the acquisition of Wuzhishan had been
completed on 1 January 2013, there would be insignificant
effect on the Group’s turnover and profit for the year ended 31
December 2013.

For the year ended 31 December 2012

During the year, the Group acquired 100% equity interests
of Guangzhou Jinyang Service Limited (“Jinyang”) from an
independent third party, for a total consideration of HK$5,346,000.
Jinyang principally engaged in transportation services. The
acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method
of accounting.
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BE—_T—=F+_=-A=H HIEFE

WEE B 2 B (&) 38.

BE_ZF-—_—_F+-A=+t—-HLFE
(&)

RHTRENBEFERRARNEEE
ERREENT

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Continued)

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction and the
goodwill arising on the acquisition are as follows:

WUk B A
RUkEE B E K
ATEE
T
Acquirees’
fair value at
acquisition date
HK$'000
i/ & B R A Net assets acquired:
BEEEE Fixed assets 3,309
EER B & E Deferred tax assets 356
R E 5 BR Trade receivables 1,880
H h fE W sk IE Other receivables 325
e RIRITRERR Cash and bank balances 3,306
FEE S8R Trade payables (67)
H Ath FE 5/ I8 Other payables (4,654)
FrikiE & EFE Net assets acquired 4,955
WHEFTEE AR 2 Goodwill arising on acquisition:
BEERE Consideration transferred 5,346
JR FTEEM B EFE Less: Net assets acquired (4,955)
W BB FTEE E RO 2 Goodwill arising on acquisition 391
SfRAR: Satisfied by:
RERE Cash consideration (5,346)
W B B AR Y BR 2 I SRR - Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
HeRE Cash consideration (5,346)
JB ETAE MR SRIERN S FE Less: Amounts included in
other payables 5,346
% BWRERIR € RIRITAE R Less: Cash and bank balances
acquired 3,306
3,306

WESF RS AREMSERNERENE
WAL S & PR IBRT ARG E
RIAER < AEBENNREBERE

The acquisition of Jinyang enabled the Group to enhance
its transportation capability in Guangdong province and the

anticipated future operating synergies from the combination would

bring benefits to our cement operations.
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39.
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BE_Z2-_—_F+-A=+t—-HLFE
(&)

BE-T—Ft-A=-t—HLFE"
AR AREEN - E——F+-H=1+—H
SERRELUREE - Ut RN B R B2 E K
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38.

39.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, there was no income
or expense recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as the Group completed its acquisition on 31 December
2012. If the acquisition of Jinyang had been completed on 1
January 2012, there would be insignificant effect on the Group'’s
turnover and profit for the year ended 31 December 2012.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2013, an amount of HK$1,270,401,000
(2012: HK$1,379,715,000) for the construction and acquisition of
fixed assets was outstanding and included in other payables.

During the year, 13,682,355 shares were issued as scrip dividend,
and the amount of HK$66,141,000 was capitalised in the share
premium account.
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HE-Z-=F+-A=t+—ALFE

40. AREE 40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
—E—= —_F—
FEx FAT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEE N R ERNIBRITERREE Guarantees given to banks,
IR ERTT 4% H B AR in respect of banking
facilities granted to
associates
—ERER — amount guaranteed 910,241 328,864
—BEEBHLEE — amount utilised 693,900 =
R—RELERAERNRITESRE Guarantees given to banks,
i (Al R 1T 4% HH B AR in respect of banking

facilities granted to a
joint venture

—EReR — amount guaranteed 50,000 50,000
—BEAE%E — amount utilised 29,286 40,000
EERE BROAFEBRLTEKX- In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the guarantees are

not significant.

41. KEHYFEIE 41. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
AEBERAEHBEA The Group as lessor
REWMER  AEEREDAIHEEEAL At the end of each reporting period, the Group has contracted
B ER] NIARRSRAEFTIENE for the following future minimum lease payments under non-
7 cancellable operating leases:
= —E—_F
FEx T
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
—F AR Within one year 768 9,215
F_FEFAF (BEEERSF) In the second to
fifth year inclusive - 768
768 9,983
KWEYEBIRETERLAEESE LA TN The investment property has been rented to outside parties at
RAL RERBEEBADR—F- fixed predetermined amounts with unexpired tenancy of less than
1 year.

AERR 2013 Annual Report 1 9 7
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41. BEHNRE @)
AEEERREA

42.

REREHR  ARERE T ATREEROE
ERARRBEITATEER TIIHIREI

4].

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(Continued)

The Group as lessee

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had outstanding
commitments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall

due as follows:

—E—= —ET——F
FET FET
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
—F LR Within one year 55,564 53,740
F_FEERF (BREEEMTE) In the second to
fifth year inclusive 113,837 151,600
tBiA A F Over five years 165,258 196,472
334,659 401,812
FRUATR 75 A - Represented by:
T R EEY) Land and buildings 334,267 399,637
B Motor vehicles 392 2,175
334,659 401,812

RERHOENFIRE R Fo

Operating leases are negotiated for an average term of six years.

BN R E 42. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
T N EEE T EE MR SRR M Capital commitments for purchase and construction of fixed assets
RBITHEARNEYENT outstanding at the end of each reporting period are as follows:
—E2—= —E——F
FHET FAT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERFEESEY Contracted but not
provided for 2,537,605 2,822,018
EREERTL Authorised but not
contracted for 8,685,919 5,037,668
11,223,524 7,859,686

1 9 8 FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited




LA B A R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. BEAIXRZ

(a)

(b)

(c)

BRI 5 ¥R R ol BE P i R £ s
AERR S REHFBIN AR
RAFEEINE RS A TETIA
TEARS:

43.

BE_T—=F+=-_A=1 HIEFE

HH
<

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Apart from the transactions and the balances with related
parties disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the Group also entered into the following significant
transactions with related parties during the year:

—E—= —ET——F
FET FABT
2013 2012

HK$'000 HK$'000

[ETRAMBARHESR
A—KARXMBARNE S

REIHEE M

AETRRAMBARRBEER

LS

A—HKRARMBARNE

RERBEm

AZE—=F+=A=+—H"'K
SER—RERWBRARFER
1T1771131,081,000/8 7T * Mz Z4R
TEREARITESHRERE -

TEEREAREEEES
T E AR O M SO 4R -

Sale of goods to certain

fellow subsidiaries 12,634 31,280
Sale of goods to a joint

venture of a fellow

subsidiary 19,543 3,948
Purchase of goods

from certain fellow

subsidiaries 15,878 301,173
Purchase of goods from

a joint venture of

a fellow subsidiary 50,419 5,808

(b) At 31 December 2013, the Group placed bank deposits of
HK$131,081,000 with a fellow subsidiary and these bank
deposits were included in bank balances and cash.

(c) The key management personnel includes solely the
Directors and the compensation paid to them is disclosed
in Note 9.

AERR 2013 Annual Report 1 9 9
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(d)

HEMEALRETHNRS
=R

AEERE S ATEREREAT
(FZ 2 B 8 R B A b S 28 ) B
T—AREEERRRAERED < B
AR MR R E A M AT IR R
HEREREMERRETHR
CEARES SE D) VNIEEE ST
SRR B YUY B 9 SRR R
Sz KREHIRAERFEN
MER ([BALE])ETERE
Ke-BEERA RASECSEZ
FERETNEGRZMNE &5
i (RPEEHRARSEIN)
W) RIBIL B =TT o AR B B A
BERRRIR ST B RE
HIEF BT ILES P F A=
BREALE -AKERS BE
FARA B IRERA TSR ATL R
B RXBHER R REEOIE -

AEED I A FEEAMERERE
RINZIARS (BREEE BE -
fEREEMEEER) MESR
e EERTF IS D EZETFT
EASEBALERITIER-

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under CRNC, which is controlled by the government of
the Chinese Mainland. Apart from the transactions with
the parent company and its subsidiaries which have been
disclosed in other notes to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group also conducts businesses with
entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the Chinese
Mainland government (“stated-controlled entities”) in the
ordinary course of business. The directors consider those
entities other than the CRNC group are independent third
parties as far as the Group’s business transactions with
them are concerned. In establishing its pricing strategies
and approval process for transactions with other state-
controlled entities, the Group does not differentiate
whether the counter-party is a state-controlled entity or
not. The Group is of the opinion that it has provided, in the
best of its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure
of related party transactions in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has entered into various transactions, including
sales, purchases, borrowings and other operating
expenses with other state-controlled entities during the
year in which the directors are of the opinion that it is
impracticable to ascertain the identity of the counterparties
and accordingly whether the counterparties are state-
controlled entities.

2 O O HM KV LA PR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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44,

ARUARBTEMESEEN 4.

@)

RZZZNFAA=A ([FHBH]) - &
NARA— IR BERET S - B iR B
FEEHI0F B AR R - ARIFULET BIEVAR
A ARRRIIEFE RrEPREREE
RBETBRATWESZTEA AR
I AR

R-F—FF+—A+LH ARFHEF]
Bedn SEEIE Bl IRFUA S EEMA S B
ERALSF BB TN AR E TS
AMAIEA T A (TRTE1]) < AREET
g ARFEABARELEXFEABEL
FrA R S IRIERRIBA EIED
HYEERD

REBEE_Z—=F+=-A=+—HLHF
& AN EBEHERS.[E T (=ZF
— 5 4548 7T) [T %5 518,726,000
R RS (7 (=2 — —4F : 27,096,0008%) ° H
£ %D K FT1S 38 £ FXI8 599,820,000
BT (—F— 4122978000/ 7T) °

SKIEMEEEI,816 0008 L (ZE— =4 ¢

122,971,000% 7T ) & B 4 % F AN £ B /Y
AETEE HERERGEBRERHEA
2ENERERRAST (ERFANE
B1aF) BN AETISRIBLEZ
] Y 2= 5826,051, 000/ T ( —F — — 4

16,237,000 7)) st AR B Fl - R =T
—=F+=ZA=1+—8 ErEARE:TE
LMEFER 109,472, 00088 A% D (= —=
1 128,198 000A% ) &35 £39,641,0007 7T

B 2263900087 °

BE_ZT—=F+=-A=H HIEFE

SHARES HELD FOR LONG TERM AWARD
SCHEME

On 2 September 2009 (the “Adoption Date”), a share award
scheme was adopted by the Company. The scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the
Adoption Date. Pursuant to the rules of scheme, the Company
has set up a trust through a trustee, BOCI — Prudential Trustee
Limited, for the purpose of administering the scheme and holding
the shares.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of
the share award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees
and such that payments under the scheme will be made in form
of cash rather than Shares (the “Scheme”). According to the
Scheme, the Company can utilise the proceeds generated from
the disposal of the Shares purchased and held by the trustee for
awards to be made under the Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, 18,726,000 shares
(2012: 27,096,000 shares) were disposed of by the trustee to
the market at an average price of approximately HK$5.33 (2012:
HK$4.54) per share. The cash proceeds from disposal of these
shares amounted to HK$99,820,000 (2012: HK$122,978,000).
The total amount of HK$99,816,000 (2012: HK$122,971,000)
was distributed to certain employees of the Group, with an
equivalent expense recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as employee
benefits during the year. The difference of HK$26,051,000 (2012:
HK$16,237,000) between the cost of the shares and the total
amount was credited to retained profits. As at 31 December 2013,
the trustee held 109,472,000 shares (2012: 128,198,000 shares)
and cash of HK$39,641,000 (2012: HK$22,639,000) on trust
under the Scheme.

R 2013 Annual Report 2 O 1
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T—=F+=HA=+

FTERBLA

BHIEFE

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

ARG ZE—=FR=_FT——-F+=H Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
=t+—HWEZBHMEARMNFEBWT 2013 and 2012 are as follows:
BETR ARFBE
KEAREHE LB 2 40 B HRRA/EMER FEEERNLA TEER
—E-ZF —E—CF
B G E# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERKE(BI)BBRARY B A AR #520,750,0007C - 96.4% - %4%  KELEERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB520,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changjiang) Limited” cement
ERKE (RR)BRARF? HER AR #280,000,0007 - 72% - 7%  KREEHRHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changzhi) Ltd.? cement
ERKR (Frus) BB A=Y Ak 15,000,000/ 7T - 100% = 100% KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$15,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” cement
ERKR (FIL)BRAR HE N, AR #280,000,0007T - 72% - 2%  KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangshan) Limited® cement
ERIF GIR) BRARY HER 171,083 400% 7T - 100% - 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$171,088,400 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited” cement
ZHKE(BINERARY Ak 255,560,000 7 - 100% - 100% KEREERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$255,560,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited®” cement
ERKR (BE)BRARY HE N, 55,104,000 70 - 100% - 100% KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,104,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited” cement
EBKE (BE)ERDR B AR #230,000,0007 - 974% - 94%  KEEEEHE
China Resource Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Heqing) Limited?

2 02 FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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HEz—T HIEFE

=FtZA=T

45. T EMNBE QT (&) 45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR YNGIEE2 )
WEARERE TR L 2 HRRA/EMER ik 4 33047 FTEEH
—E-c=f —F--F
B B Ef# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ZEKE (BN ERARY HE Ak 70,000,000 5 - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$70,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited®” cement
ERKE(IM)BBRARY A3 120,000,000 70 - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$120,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited” cement
ZFK0R (BI)BRARY HEIR AR #51,000,0007 - 100% = 100% KEEERBE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB51,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited” cement
ERKE(REEE)EBARY BN 480,000,000 75 - 100% - 100% KREERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$480,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Caoxi) Limited” cement
ERKR EEER)ERARY  REMN 33,040,000% 7T - 100% = 100% KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$33,040,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Yanshi) Limited”” cement
ERKE (BE)BRARY HEIR 33,280,000 7T - 100% = 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$33,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan) Limited” cement
=K (END)ERARY HE A AR #244,190,0007C - 100% - 100% KREERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB244,190,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited” cement
ERKE(BE)BBRARY A3 280,000,000/ 75 - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Luoding) Limited”

cement
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45. T EWWE A T (&)

E—=F+_A=+—HILFE

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR LG
KEARERE ST AR Lt HRRA/EMER FrE stk Al TEEH
—E-=F —E-—CF
B miE Ef# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERKE(BR)BRRR? A AR #230,000,0007C - 97.4% - 974%  KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Midu) Limited® cement
ERKE (AE)BRARY A3 55,200,000 7 - 100% - 100% KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited”” cement
ERKE (YiE)BRARY B A, AR %1,080,780,0007C - 100% = 100% KEREEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB1,080,780,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pingnan) Limited® cement
ERKR (EM) BB AR A 3,280,000% T - 100% - 100% KREERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$3,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Quanzhou) Limited®” cement
ERKR(LR)BRARY HE N, AR H415,450,00070 - 100% - 100%  KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB415,450,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shangsi) Limited” cement
ZH0R OLsE) BRARY B A, AR #210,000,0007C - 100% - 100% KREEHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB210,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shantou) Limited® cement
=K (BR)ERARY Ay 270,095,000/ ¢ - 100% - 100% KREERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$270,095,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited” cement
ERKE(RE)BBRARY A3 257,266,000/ 75 - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$257,266,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Wuxuan) Limited®

2 04 FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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HE-Z-=F+-A=t+—ALFE

45. T EMNMBE QT (&) 45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR YNGIEE2 )
WEARERE Bl AR HRRA/EMER FrE st Al TEEH
=t Bt 2%
B B Ef# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

ERKR (REIL)BRARY HE N AR #25,000,0007 - 100% - - KREERFE

(RIfERBAAEL

ANIEKEERAR)
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Wuzhishan) Limited” (formerly cement

known as Hainan Wuzhishan

Dajiangana Cement Limited)
E£RKE (BR)BRARY HEIR 350,000,000 7 - 100% = 100% KREERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Yangchun) Limited” cement
ERKEOKE)BRARY HE A 35,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$35,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Yongding) Limited” cement
ERKECEL)BRARY A3 22,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Zhanjiang) Limited” cement
ERKECET)BRARY HEIR AR 129,000,000 - 100% = 100% KREERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB129,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Zhangping) Limited™ cement
ERKRER (B%E)ERAR B 10,000/ 7T 100% - 100% - FEEZFMBRARE
China Resources Cement Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000 Holding investments in

(Hong Kong) Limited subsidiaries
ERKRREFRAA HER 780,000,005 7 - 100% - 100% #HESFMERFARE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1US$780,000,000 Holding investments in

Investments Limited”

subsidiaries
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45. T EWWE A T (&)

E—=F+_A=+—HILFE

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR LG
KEARERE ST AR Lt HRRA/EMER FrE stk Al TEEH
—E-=F —E-—CF
B miE Ef# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

ZHREL(AR)BRARY HE N, 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RELAEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Baise) Limited®” concrete
EZEREL(LE)BRARY A3 32,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RELEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$32,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Beihai) Limited” concrete
ZFRERT (BE2L)BRARY HEAM 24,000,0007% 70 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Chengmai Jinjiang) Limited” concrete
EHREL (KE)BBARY HE N, 30,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELAEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Dali) Limited®” concrete
ERRRLT (FR)ERARY HE N, AK#10,000,0007T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Dingan) Limited” concrete
RRERSAERLERARY  FER 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Dongguan Fengcheng) Limited” concrete
ERERLT (8 ERARY  REMNY 25,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RELAEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Fangchenggang) Limited” concrete
ERRRT (HR)ERARY HE N, AK#20,000,0007T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Fengkai) Limited” concrete
ERRRLT (BL)ERARY B A, 20,000,0007% 7 - 100% - 100% RETAEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Foshan) Limited” concrete
EZRRRL (BI)ERARY HE N, AR %10,000,0007T - 100% - - REITEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Fuchuan) Limited®”

2 06 FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR YNGIEE2 )
WEARERE T AR 3L 3 2 HRRA/EMER FrE st Al TEEH
—EZ-=f —Z-Cf
B B Ef# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

EZRERT (BR)ERARY HEN 26,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$26,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Fujian) Limited” concrete
ZHREL (BE)BRARY 3 20,000,000 70 - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Fuging) Limited® concrete
BNEREEERELERATY FENM 20,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RETEEEHEE
China Resources Concrete (Fuzhou  Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Development Zone) Limited”” concrete
EZRERLT (BN BRARY HEN 21,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$21,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Fuzhou) Limited™ concrete
EZRREL(RE)BRARY 3 20,000,000 70 - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Gaoyao) Limited” concrete
ERRRL (ER)ERARY HEIR 34,000,000/ T - 100% = 100% RETAEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Guangxi) Limited” concrete
EHREL (R8)BBRARY HEN 25,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Guigang) Limited” concrete
ZHRRL (BEN)BBARY A3 25,000,000/ 70 - 100% = 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Hezhou) Limited®” concrete
ERRRL (BN BRARY HEIR 7,000,000% 7T - 100% - 100% RETAEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Huizhou) Limited” concrete
ZERRL I ERARY HEN 28,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RELTAESEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$28,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Jiangmen) Limited®”

concrete
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45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR NG
KEARERE TR AR L 4 HRRA/EMER FrE st Al TEEH
=t St 2%
B B Ef# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

EHRELT (BR)BBARY A 24,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RELAEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Jiedong) Limited” concrete
ERREL(B1)BRARY A3 25,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RELEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Jinjiang) Limited”” concrete
ERRRLT (RB)ERARY B A, 20,000,0007% 7 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Laibin) Limited® concrete
EHRELT (£R)BBRARY A 24,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RELAEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Ledong) Limited” concrete
ERRRLT (N ERARY A3 20,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Liuzhou) Limited® concrete
ERRERT (B ERARY B A, 24,000,0007% 70 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Longyan) Limited” concrete
EERELT OB BBARP HE N, AR 30,000,000 - 72% - 2% RRTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Lucheng) Limited? concrete
EZPREL (BE)BRAAY A3 24,000,000 70 - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Luoding) Limited” concrete
HEERRBRERTIERADY  REANM 20,000,000 T - 100% - 100% RETAEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Nanning Xixiangtang) Limited”

2 O 8 FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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45. T EMNMBE QT (&) 45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR YNGIEE2 )
WEARERE T AR 3L 3 2 HRRA/EMER FrE st Al TEEH
=t Bt 2%
B B Ef# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

EZRERT (BE)ARARY HEN 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Nanning) Limited” concrete
ERRRT (BR)BRARY A3 7,200,000% 7T - 100% = 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,200,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Ningbo) Limited”” concrete
ERRRLT (TN BRARY HEIR 20,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RETEEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Qinzhou) Limited™ concrete
AEBREL BB AR HEN AR #25,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RELEEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Shenzhen) Company Limited?” concrete
ERRRT (BE)ERARY HE N, 24,000,000/ 70 - 100% = 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Wanning) Limited”” concrete
ERRRL (BN BRARY HEIR 24,000,000 70 - 100% - 100% RETAEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Wuzhou) Limited” concrete
EZRERT (BF)BRARY HEN AR 20,000,007 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Xiamen) Limited” concrete
ZPREL(BI)BRARY A3 11,500,000/ 70 - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$11,500,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Yangjiang) Limited”

concrete

AERR 2013 Annual Report 2 O 9
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45. T EWWE A T (&)

E—=F+_A=+—HILFE

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR NG
KEARERE TR AR L 4 HRRA/EMER FrE st Al TEEH
=t St 2%
B B Ef# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

EHREL OkE)BBARY A 24,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RELAEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Yongding) Limited” concrete
EZRREL (EN)BBRARY A3 24,000,000 70 - 100% - 100% RELEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Yulin) Limited® concrete
ERRRLOEM)ERARY B A, 24,000,0007% 70 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Zhangzhou) Limited®” concrete
EHREL (BI)BBRARY HE N, 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Zhanjiang) Limited” concrete
EZRREL (ZB)BRARY A3 20,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Zhaoging) Limited” concrete
ERERT (K8 BRARY B iy 24,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Zhuhai) Limited® concrete
ERRKEBEREB AR B 150,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 10% KEBS
China Resources Dongguan Cement  Hong Kong HK$150,000,000 Trading of cement

Manufactory Holdings Limited
RREEERLERARY A3 25,000,000 70 - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Dongguan Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Co., Limited” concrete
R BKEBRERARY B A, 199,000,0007 7 - 100% = 100%  KREEEHE
Dongguan Huarun Cement Chinese Mainland HK$199,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Manufactory Co. Ltd."”

2 1 O FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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45. T EMNMBE QT (&) 45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR YNGIEE2 )
WEARERE Bl AR HRRA/EMER FrE st Al TEEH
=t Bt 2%
B B Ef# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

HEBR A B 28T - 100% - 100% HENE
First Route Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
BLEBEZRRTAERAFY  RENM 3,500,000 T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
Foshan China Resources Chinese Mainland US$3,500,000 Manufacture and sale of

Shunan Concrete Limited” concrete
SBEERAR BA 28T - 100% - 100% &M
General Perfect Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
EREBLOKTIEERAR?  REMN AR #200,000,0007C - 958% = B8  KEEERHEE
Guangyxi China Resources Chinese Mainland RMB200,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Hongshuihe Cement Co., Ltd.? cement
AREBBERRTIARAAY  RENM 24,000,000 75 - 100% - 100% RETAEEHEE
Heyuan China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Huida Concrete Limited”” concrete
ARERERERLERARY HE A AR 22,000,000 - 100% - 100% RELEESHEE
Heyuan China Resources Pengyuan  Chinese Mainland RMB22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Limited” concrete
BMEERMERARY HE N, 8,000,000% 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEREE
Huizhou China Resources Chinese Mainland US$8,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Jiancai Limited”” concrete
IMZERRRLENEBRAFY  hEAS 24,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RETHEEREE
Jiangmen China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Muzhou Limited”

concrete

AR 2013 Annual Report 2 1 1
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=F+-A=+—BIEFE

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRTR ARRRE
WEAREH R AR L 3 2 HERAE/EMER FrE st Al TEER
=t St 2%
E# f B ik
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

IMERRRLIZTERARY  hEAM 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
Jiangmen China Resources Concrete  Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Tangxia Limited” concrete
REZRBRZERLARAAY B 24,000,000 7 - 100% = - REILEERHEE
Laibin China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Xingbin Concrete Limited” concrete
HEEEEARRLARATY  PEAM 34,000,000 7 - 100% = 100% RRTEEREE
Nanning China Resources Concrete  Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Qingxiu Limited”” concrete
ERNBERRELERAY Bl 7,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
Ningbo Xiaogang China Chinese Mainland US$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Resources Concrete Limited” concrete
ERBRERAA Bk 10,0007 T - 100% = 100% HENE
Profit Success Development Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 Property holding
nEEHBERERAR 0 200,000/ T - 100% - 100%  RE AR RERRS
Quality Control Consultants Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 Concrete testing and

consultancy services
HEERERAR B 28T - 100% - 100%  MHERE
Redland Ash Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of fly ash
KRR BR AR ) 2B - 100% = 10% KEBS
Redland Cement Connections Limited  Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of cement
R RRLERAR B 1057 - 100% - 100% RRTAESEE
Redland Concrete Limited Hong Kong HK$10 Manufacture and sale of
concrete

HEHEEER AT 0 28T - 100% = 100% EENHES
Redland Construction Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of construction

Materials Limited materials

2 1 2 FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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45. T EWWE A T (&)

BE—_T—=F+_=-A=H BIEFE

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR FAREE
WEAREH Bl AR HERAE/EMER FrE st Al TEEH
—E-=F —T-—F
E# f BE ik
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2013 2012
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

HEDEERAR B 28T - 100% - 100% PHES
Redland Mortars Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of mortars
RBERERAR BE 28T - 100% - 100% BEES
Redland Shotcrete Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of shotcrete
LAEEREKEERD R HE Ak 90,000,000 7T - 72% - 72%  KREEREE
Shanxi China Resources Fulong Chinese Mainland 1S$90,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Cement Limited? cement
AIEBXRRERLERARY  REAM AR 20,000,000 - 100% - 100% RETEESREE
Shenzhen China Resources Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Wenwei Concrete Limited® concrete
ABHBREERAR 0 2BT - 100% - 100% ®HENE
Standard Wealth Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
HIZERERRERLI AR Ak 24,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RRTEESEE

BRARY
Zhanjiang China Resources Concrete  Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Pengyuan Limited” concrete

Ha# notes:
(@) ZERRTERE A AINTBEE ¥R (1) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of

AL ©

(@) ERAEFREAMARINEERENT
TBZI

ARBEERA ERIIHHARABAH
BRARHAKENFE BERABRE
2FE -HIEMMEARNFBEN
JLfe

%$¢F$ﬁ$¢?2&ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁw
B RIS BT AESE

wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

2) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of
sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the subsidiaries
of the Company listed in the above table principally affected the
results, assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive length.

None of subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

R 2013 Annual Report 2 1 3
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46. EBARARMBKEMRRTTZ 46. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT

Rk SMALRRERRE 2 S
B

OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

—E—=fF — T4
FET FHET
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEEE Fixed assets 4,372 6,377
NN NGI o Interests in subsidiaries 813,517 813,537
R S NGIE S Amount due from
subsidiaries 25,334,910 24,203,369
H A e U R IE Other receivables 115,603 145,381
e RIRTTREER Cash and bank balances 86,210 110,139
BEREE Total assets 26,354,612 25,278,803
H A FE A IR Other payables 303,657 161,330
JE B B A =) R I8 Amounts due to
subsidiaries 1,323,127 1,217,876
JES B HERR A R FIAR Amount due to immediate
holding company 54,956 54,956
KB —KEEERARER Loan from an intermediate
holding company - 1,330,881
RITEXR Bank loans 14,439,217 11,694,880
ERE Unsecured bonds 3,101,840 3,100,696
(R Total liabilities 19,222,797 17,560,619
BEAE Net assets 7,131,815 7,718,184
AR AR K Capital and reserves
& s Share capital 653,294 651,926
s (M1:247) Reserves (Note 47) 6,478,521 7,066,258
RATHB AEGER Equity attributable to
owners of the Company 7,131,815 7,718,184

2 1 4 FM K VBB BR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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BE—_E—=F+-A=+—HBIFE

47. K\ 2 f#E 47. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
REEH
4R ME Ik BRERE ZitER Foh
THIL T THIT THIL 5T
Long
term award
Share scheme Translation  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZE——%—HF—H AtlJanuary 2012 8,860,902 (611,761) 697,453 (1,106,337) 7,840,257
e E% Exchange differences = = (23,887) = (23,887)
FEER Loss for the year = = = (481,928) (481,928)
FERXAERYBH Total comprehensive expense
for the year - - (23,887) (481,928) (505,815)
BB 2102 Recognition under long term
award scheme - 106,734 - 16,237 122,971
BRI Dividend paid (391,155) - - - (391,155)
RZE—ZF At 31 December 2012
+-A=1+—H 8,469,747 (505,027) 673,566 (1,572,028) 7,066,258
EHESR Exchange differences - - 22,641 = 22,641
FEEE Loss for the year = - - (91,813) (91,813)
FERAMY 8BS Total comprehensive expense
for the year = = 22,641 (91,813) (69,172)
“T-—EREKE  2012final dividend (456,348) = = = (456,348)
“Z-=Fh#KkE 2013 interim dividend (228,174) - - - (228,174)
RIEARK 252 Issue of share pursuant to
FE TR scrip dividend scheme 66,141 = = = 66,141
BERLEEFEH  Recogniion under long term
R award scheme = 73,765 = 26,051 99,816
RZFT—=% At 31 December 2013
+-A=1+—H 7,851,366 (431,262) 696,207 (1,637,790) 6,478,521

AERR 2013 Annual Report 2 1 5
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
—ETNFE 2% —FT—4% T ZEB-=F%
FHET FET FET FET TR
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
E4 RESULTS
BT Turnover 6,906,925 14,141,537 23,239,961 25,345,328 29,340,619
RRREB AEG Profit for the year
FEAF attributable to owners of
the Company 1,010,176 2,040,833 4,179,010 2,324,370 3,338,373
BE ASSETS
EEEE Fixed assets 14,264,055 21,862,718 30,014,245 31552919 32,526,564
ENHERA Prepaid lease payments 443284 1,631,597 2,344,276 2510484 2,752,320
REWE Investment property 34,000 52,000 59,000 67,000 77,000
BV EE Intangible assets 347,612 632,639 1,829,845 1,964,627 2,200,216
REE N B RER Interests in associates 8,511 20,142 2119177 2286,023 2,392,943
RE &R BRI ERS Interests in joint ventures = 894,669 1,571,398 1,381,417 1,727,042
WEEETEEERS  Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets 645,755 1,434,851 1,305,430 933,819 1,632,062
BERBEE Deferred tax assets 22,421 106,483 95,844 124,456 152,878
R YA Long term receivables 264,842 336,284 425108 633,048 620,686
NBEE Current assets 8,203,412 8,356,508 10,815,377 10,705,338 10,097,959
BERE Total assets 24,233,892 35,327,891 50,579,700 52,159,131 54,179,670
=R LIABILITIES
PEIN=NE Current liabilities 5,201,111 11,886,789 20,472,952 16,778,322 14,398,104
FREBEE Non-current liabilities 6,402,127 8195813 10205498 13422609 14,419,815
BERE Total liabilities 11,603,238 20,082,602 30,678,450 30,200931 28,817,919

2 1 6 HW KRR PR A F] China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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This annual report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the Company’s official website for corporate
communications at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement/index.htm (the “Company’s Official Website”).

Shareholders who have chosen or have been deemed consented to receive the corporate communications of the
Company (the “Corporate Communications”) via the Company’s Official Website and who for any reason have
difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the annual report posted on the Company’s Official Website will promptly
upon request be sent the annual report in printed form free of charge.

Shareholders may at any time change their choice of the means of receipt (either in printed form or via the
Company’s Official Website) of Corporate Communications.

Shareholders may send their request to receive the annual report in printed form, and/or to change their choice of
the means of receipt of Corporate Communications by notice in writing to the share registrar of the Company, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong (which will be
relocated to Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong with effect from 31 March 2014) or by
sending an email to the share registrar of the Company at crcement1313-ecom@nhk.tricorglobal.com.
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